Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: September 17, 2019 REVISED: October 11, 2019 ACCEPTED: October 20, 2019 PUBLISHED: November 15, 2019

# An exact quantization of Jackiw-Teitelboim gravity

Luca V. Iliesiu, Silviu S. Pufu, Herman Verlinde and Yifan Wang

Joseph Henry Laboratories, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ 08544, U.S.A. E-mail: liliesiu@princeton.edu, spufu@princeton.edu, verlinde@princeton.edu, yifanw@g.harvard.edu

ABSTRACT: We propose an exact quantization of two-dimensional Jackiw-Teitelboim (JT) gravity by formulating the JT gravity theory as a 2D gauge theory placed in the presence of a loop defect. The gauge group is a certain central extension of  $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$  by  $\mathbb{R}$ . We find that the exact partition function of our theory when placed on a Euclidean disk matches precisely the finite temperature partition function of the Schwarzian theory. We show that observables on both sides are also precisely matched: correlation functions of boundary-anchored Wilson lines in the bulk are given by those of bi-local operators in the Schwarzian theory. In the gravitational context, the Wilson lines are shown to be equivalent to the world-lines of massive particles in the metric formulation of JT gravity.

KEYWORDS: 2D Gravity, Field Theories in Lower Dimensions, Gauge-gravity correspondence

ARXIV EPRINT: 1905.02726



# Contents

1	1 Introduction and summary of results 1		
<b>2</b>	Classical analysis of $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ gauge theory	4	
	2.1 A rewriting of J1-gravity in the first-order formulation	4	
	2.2 Variational principle, boundary conditions, and string defects	6	
	2.3 Recovering the Schwarzian action	9	
3	Quantization and choice of gauge group	10	
	3.1 Quantization with non-compact gauge group $\mathcal{G}$	10	
	3.2 The Schwarzian theory and $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ representations	14	
	3.3 $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$ extensions, one-form symmetries, and revisiting the boundary	10	
	condition	16	
	3.4 The partition function in the first-order formulation	19	
4	Wilson lines, bi-local operators and probe particles	<b>20</b>	
	4.1 Gravitational interpretation of the Wilson line operators	22	
	4.2 Two-point function	22	
	4.3 Time-ordered correlators	25	
	4.4 Out-of-time-ordered correlators and intersecting Wilson lines	<b>26</b>	
	4.5 Wilson lines and local observables	29	
	4.6 A network of non-local operators	30	
5	Discussion and future directions 3		
$\mathbf{A}$	A review of the Schwarzian theory	33	
	A.1 An equivalent description	34	
	A.2 An $\widetilde{\mathrm{SL}}(2,\mathbb{R})$ chemical potential	36	
в	Comparison between compact and non-compact groups	37	
$\mathbf{C}$	Harmonic analysis on $\widetilde{\operatorname{SL}}(2,\mathbb{R})$ and $\mathcal{G}_B$	<b>3</b> 8	
	C.1 Evaluation of the matrix elements and characters	38	
	C.2 The Plancherel inversion formula	41	
	C.3 An example: isolating the principal series representation	42	
D	Clebsch-Gordan coefficients, fusion coefficients and 6-j symbols	<b>43</b>	
	D.1 Clebsch-Gordan coefficients: $\mathcal{C}^{\mu_1}_{\lambda_1,-\frac{1}{2}\pm i\epsilon_1}\otimes \mathcal{D}^{\pm}_{\lambda_2} \to \mathcal{C}^{\mu}_{\lambda-\frac{1}{2}\pm i\epsilon_2}$	46	
	D.2 Fusion coefficient as $\mu \to i\infty$	51	
	D.3 6-j symbols	52	
$\mathbf{E}$	Wilson lines as probe particles in JT gravity 53		

#### 1 Introduction and summary of results

While AdS/CFT [1–3] has provided a broad framework to understand quantum gravity, most discussions are limited to perturbation theory around a fixed gravitational background. The difficulty of going beyond perturbation theory stems from our limited understanding of both sides of the duality: on the boundary side, it is difficult to compute correlators in strongly coupled CFTs, while in the bulk there are no efficient ways of performing computations beyond tree level in perturbation theory. 2D/1D holography [4–23] provides one of the best frameworks to understand quantum gravity beyond perturbation theory, partly because gravitons or gauge bosons in two dimensions have no dynamical degrees of freedom. Nevertheless, many of the open questions from higher dimensional holography, such as questions related to bulk reconstruction or the physics of black holes and wormholes, persist in 2D/1D holography.

One of the simplest starting points to discuss 2D/1D holography is the two-dimensional Jackiw-Teitelboim (JT) theory [24, 25], which, in the second-order formalism, involves a dilaton field  $\Phi$  and the metric tensor  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . The Euclidean action is given by

$$S_{JT}[\Phi,g] = -\frac{1}{16\pi G} \int_{\Sigma} d^2x \sqrt{g} \,\Phi(R+\Lambda) - \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\partial\Sigma} du \,\sqrt{\gamma} \,(\Phi|_{\partial\Sigma}) \,K\,, \qquad (1.1)$$

where we have placed the theory on a manifold  $\Sigma$  with metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$  and where the boundary of this manifold,  $\partial \Sigma$ , is endowed with the induced metric  $\gamma$  and the extrinsic curvature K. The bulk equations of motion set

$$R = -\Lambda, \qquad \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \Phi = \frac{\Lambda}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \Phi, \qquad (1.2)$$

and thus, on-shell, the bulk term in (1.1) vanishes. The remaining degrees of freedom are thus all on the boundary of some connected patch of Euclidean AdS<sub>2</sub> (or, equivalently, of the Poincaré disk), where one can fix  $\Phi|_{\partial\Sigma} = C/\epsilon$  and the boundary metric  $g_{uu} = 1/\epsilon^2$  to be constant, such that the total boundary length is given by  $\beta/\epsilon$ . Taking the limit  $\epsilon \to 0$ is then equivalent to taking the patch to extend to the entire Poincaré disk. Consider  $\rho$ and f as Poincaré disk coordinates (with  $ds^2 = d\rho^2 + \sinh^2(\rho) df^2$ ). Thus one can rewrite the action (1.1) in terms of  $\rho(u)$  and f(u) on the boundary  $\partial\Sigma$ , which we can parametrize by the proper length u. In the limit  $\epsilon \to 0$ , one finds that after imposing all the previously specified boundary conditions, the boundary term in (1.1) is given (up to a divergent piece removed by holographic renormalization) by the Schwarzian action [12–15, 17],

$$S_{\rm Schw}[f] = -C \int_0^\beta du \left\{ \tan \frac{\pi f}{\beta}, u \right\}, \qquad \{F, u\} \equiv \frac{F'''}{F'} - \frac{3}{2} \left( \frac{F''}{F'} \right)^2.$$
(1.3)

While the equivalence between the JT-gravity action and the Schwarzian action is clear on-shell [15], there are subtleties in quantizing and uncovering the global structure of the gravitational theory.<sup>1</sup> Due to these subtleties, it is difficult to formally prove the equivalence between JT-gravity and the Schwarzian theory in a path integral approach.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For example, it is unclear what measure and integration contour one should use in the gravitational path integral.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See, however, [20–23, 26] for progress in this direction.

An important tool that we use for quantizing the bulk gravitational theory is the equivalence between its first order formulation and a 2D gauge theory. Specifically, the frame  $e^a$  and spin connection  $\omega$  associated to the manifolds which are summed over in the gravitational path integral can be packaged together as a gauge field with an  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  gauge algebra [27–32]. The bulk term in (1.1) is then captured by a topological BF theory with this gauge algebra. This equivalence is analogous to the formulation of 3D Chern Simons theory as a theory of 3D quantum gravity, where the gauge algebra is given by various real forms of  $\mathfrak{so}(2,2)$  [33, 34]. The quantization of JT gravity in the gauge theory description was also explored recently by dimensionally reducing the Chern Simons theory that describes 3D gravity [26, 35–39]. However, obtaining the possible boundary terms and the exact gauge group that are needed in order to recover the dual of the Schwarzian theory is, to our knowledge, still an open question that we hope to answer in this work.<sup>3</sup>

When placing the gauge theory on a disk, the natural Dirichlet boundary conditions are set by fixing the gauge field or, equivalently, the frame  $e^a$  and spin connection  $\omega$  at the boundary of the disk. In such a case, a boundary term like that in (1.1) does not need to be added to the action in order for the theory to have a well-defined variational principle. The resulting system can be shown to be a trivial topological theory which does not capture the boundary dynamics of (1.1). Consequently, we introduce a boundary condition changing defect whose role in the BF-theory is to switch the natural Dirichlet boundary conditions to those needed in order to reproduce the Schwarzian dynamics. With this boundary changing defect the first and second formulations of JT gravity give rise to the same boundary theory. <sup>4</sup> See figure 1.

In order for the equivalence between the Schwarzian and the gauge theory to continue to hold at the quantum level, we find that the gauge group needed to properly capture the global properties of the gravitational theory is given by an extension of  $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$ by  $\mathbb{R}$ . This extension is related to the universal cover of the group  $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$ , denoted by  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ .<sup>5</sup> With this choice of gauge group, when placing the bulk theory in Euclidean signature on a disk we find a match between its exact partition function and that computed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>A priori it is unclear whether there even exists a gauge group for which the gauge theory would reproduce observables in the Schwarzian, which in turn are expected to capture results in JT gravity. This is due to the fact that there exist gauge field configurations where the frame is non-invertible and, consequently, such configurations do not have a clear geometric meaning in JT gravity. Note that, in the Chern-Simons description of 3D gravity, due to the non-invertibility of the frame, one does not expect to be able to capture all the desired features of 3D pure quantum gravity [40]. For example, given that the Chern-Simons theory is topological, and consequently has few degrees of freedom, one cannot expect to reproduce the great degeneracy of BTZ black hole states from the gravitational theory [40]. In contrast, as we will discuss in this paper, the 2D gauge theory formulation of JT gravity is able to reproduce all known Schwarzian observables exactly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Possible boundary conditions for the gauge theory reformulation of JT-gravity were also discussed in [31]. A concrete proposal for the rewriting of the boundary term in (1.1) was also discussed in [32], however the quantization of the theory was not considered.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>A similar observation was made in [41]. There it was shown that in order for gravitational diffeomorphisms to be mapped to gauge transformations in the BF-theory when placed on a cylinder, one needs to consider a gauge group given by  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ , instead of the typically assumed  $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$ .



Figure 1. Schematic representation showing that the dynamics on the defect in the gauge theory is the same as that in the Schwarzian theory, which in turn describes the boundary degrees of freedom of (1.1).

in the Schwarzian theory [10, 42, 43]. This match is obtained by demanding that the gauge field component along the boundary should vanish.<sup>6</sup>

The first natural observable to consider beyond the partition function is given by introducing probe matter in the gauge theory. On the gauge theory side, introducing probe matter is equivalent to adding a Wilson line anchored at two points on the boundary. In the Schwarzian theory we expect that this coupling is captured by bilocal operators  $\mathcal{O}_{\lambda}(u_1, u_2)$ . We indeed confirm that all the correlation functions of bi-local operators in the Schwarzian theory [45] match the correlation functions of Wilson lines that intersect the defect. More specifically, the time ordered correlators of bi-local operators in the boundary theory are given by correlators of non-intersecting defect-cutting Wilson lines, while out-oftime-ordered correlators are given by intersecting Wilson line configurations. Furthermore, by computing the expectation value of bulk Wilson lines in the gauge theory, we provide a clear representation theoretic meaning to their correlators and provide the combinatorial toolkit needed to compute any such correlator. As we will show these Wilson lines also have a gravitational interpretation: inserting such Wilson lines in the path integral is equivalent to summing over all possible world-line paths for a particle moving between two fixed points on the boundary of the  $AdS_2$  patch. Furthermore, we discuss the existence of further non-local gauge invariant operators which can potentially be used to computed the amplitudes associated to a multitude of scattering problems in the bulk.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we show the on-shell equivalence between the equations of motion of the Schwarzian theory and those in the gauge theory description of JT gravity, when boundary conditions are set appropriately. In section 3 we discuss the quantization of the gauge theory. In this process, in order to match results in the Schwarzian theory, or, alternatively in the second order formulation of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In a gauge-independent language, here we demand a trivial holonomy around the boundary of the disk. For general boundary holonomy, the dual is given by a non-relativistic particle moving on  $H_2^+$  in a magnetic field, in the presence of an  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  background gauge field. As we point out in appendix A this is slightly different than considering the Schwarzian with  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  twisted boundary conditions, which was considered in [10, 44].

JT gravity, we determine a consistent global structure for the gauge group and determine potential boundary conditions such that the partition function of the gauge theory agrees with that of the Schwarzian. In section 4, we show the equivalence between Wilson lines in the gauge theory and bi-local operators in the boundary theory. Furthermore, we discuss the role of a new class of gauge invariant non-local operators and compute their expectation value. Finally we discuss future directions of investigation in section 5. In appendix A, we review various properties of the Schwarzian theory and derive at the level of the path integral, its equivalence to a non-relativistic particle moving in hyperbolic space in the presence of a magnetic field. For the readers interested in details, we suggest reading appendix C and D where we provide a detailed description of harmonic analysis on the  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  group manifold and derive the fusion coefficients for various representations of  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ . Finally, we revisit the gravitational interpretation of the gauge theory observables in appendix E and we show that Wilson lines that intersect the defect are equivalent to probe particles in JT-gravity propagating between different points on the boundary.

#### 2 Classical analysis of $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ gauge theory

#### 2.1 A rewriting of JT-gravity in the first-order formulation

As shown in [27, 28], JT gravity (1.1) can be equivalently written in the first-order formulation, which involves the frame and spin-connection of the manifold, as a 2D BF theory with gauge algebra  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ .<sup>7</sup> Let us review this correspondence starting from the BF theory.<sup>8</sup> To realize this equivalence on shell, we only need to rely on the gauge algebra of the BF theory and not on the global structure of the gauge group. Thus, the gauge group could be  $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$  or any of its central extensions. For this reason, we will for now consider the gauge group to be  $\mathcal{G}$  and will specify the exact nature of  $\mathcal{G}$  in section 3.

To set conventions, let us write the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  algebra in terms of three generators  $P_0$ ,  $P_1$ , and  $P_2$ , obeying the commutation relations

$$[P_0, P_1] = P_2, \qquad [P_0, P_2] = -P_1, \qquad [P_1, P_2] = -P_0.$$
(2.1)

For instance, in the two-dimensional representation the generators  $P_0$ ,  $P_1$ , and  $P_2$  can be represented as the real matrices

$$P_0 = \frac{i\sigma_2}{2}, \qquad P_1 = \frac{\sigma_1}{2}, \qquad P_2 = \frac{\sigma_3}{2}.$$
 (2.2)

An arbitrary  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  algebra element consists of a linear combination of the generators with real coefficients. The field content of the BF theory consists of the gauge field  $A_{\mu}$ and a scalar field  $\phi$ , both transforming in the adjoint representation of the gauge algebra. Under infinitesimal gauge transformations with parameter  $\epsilon(x) \in \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ , we have

$$\delta\phi = [\epsilon, \phi], \qquad \delta A_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}\epsilon + [\epsilon, A_{\mu}].$$
(2.3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Similarly, there is an equivalence between a different 2D gravitational model, the Callan-Giddings-Harvey-Strominger model and a 2D BF-theory with the gauge algebra given by a central extension of  $i\mathfrak{so}(1,1)$  [29, 46]. Similar to our work here, it would be interesting to explore exact quantizations of this gauge theory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Unlike [27, 28], we will work in Euclidean signature.

Consequently, the covariant derivative is  $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - A_{\mu}$  (because then we have, for instance,  $\delta(D_{\mu}\phi) = [\epsilon, D_{\mu}\phi]$ ), and then the gauge field strength is  $F_{\mu\nu} \equiv -[D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}] = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} - [A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]$ . In differential form notation,  $F = dA - A \wedge A$ .

Ignoring any potential boundary terms, the BF theory Euclidean action is

$$S_{\rm BF} = -i \int \operatorname{tr}(\phi F) \,, \tag{2.4}$$

where the trace is taken in the two-dimensional representation (2.2), such that tr  $\phi F = \eta^{ij}\phi_i F_j/2$ , where  $\eta^{ij} = \text{diag}(-1, 1, 1)$ , with i, j = 1, 2, 3. To show that the action (2.4) in fact describes JT gravity, let us denote the components of A and  $\phi$  as

$$A(x) = \sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{2}} e^a(x) P_a + \omega(x) P_0, \qquad \phi(x) = \phi^a(x) P_a + \phi^0(x) P_0, \qquad (2.5)$$

where the index a = 1, 2 is being summed over,  $\Lambda > 0$  is a constant, and  $e^a$  and  $\omega$  are oneforms while  $\phi^a$  and  $\phi^0$  are scalar functions. An explicit computation using  $F = dA - A \wedge A$ and the commutation relations (2.1) gives

$$F = \sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{2}} \left[ de^1 + \omega \wedge e^2 \right] P_1 + \sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{2}} \left[ de^2 - \omega \wedge e^1 \right] P_2 + \left[ d\omega + \frac{\Lambda}{2} e^1 \wedge e^2 \right] P_0.$$
(2.6)

The action (2.4) becomes

$$S_{\rm BF} = -\frac{i}{2} \int \sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{2}} \left[ \phi^1 (de^1 + \omega \wedge e^2) + \phi^2 (de^2 - \omega \wedge e^1) \right] - \phi^0 \left( d\omega + \frac{\Lambda}{2} e^1 \wedge e^2 \right) . \quad (2.7)$$

The equations of motion obtained from varying  $\phi$  yields F = 0. Specifically, the variation of  $\phi^1$  and  $\phi^2$  imply  $\tau^a = de^a + \omega^a{}_b \wedge e^b = 0$ , with  $\omega^1{}_2 = -\omega^2{}_1 = \omega$ , which are precisely the zero torsion conditions for the frame  $e^a$  with spin connection  $\omega^a{}_b$ . Plugging these equations back into (2.7) and using the fact that for a 2d manifold  $d\omega = \frac{R}{2}e^1 \wedge e^2$ , with R being the Ricci scalar, we obtain

$$S_{\rm BF} = \frac{i}{4} \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \,\phi^0 \left(R + \Lambda\right) \,, \qquad (2.8)$$

which is precisely the bulk part of the JT action with dilaton  $\Phi = -i\phi^0/4.^9$  Here, the 2d metric is  $g_{\mu\nu} = e^1_{\mu}e^1_{\nu} + e^2_{\mu}e^2_{\nu}$ , and  $d^2x\sqrt{g} = e^1 \wedge e^2$ . The equation of motion obtained from varying  $\phi_0$  implies  $R = -\Lambda$ , and since  $\Lambda > 0$ , we find that the curvature is negative. Thus, the on-shell gauge configurations of the BF theory parameterize a patch of hyperbolic space (Euclidean AdS).

Note that the equations of motion obtained from varying the gauge field, namely

$$D_{\mu}\phi = \partial_{\mu}\phi - [A_{\mu},\phi] = 0, \qquad (2.9)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>One might be puzzled by the fact that when  $\phi^0$  is real,  $\Phi$  is imaginary. However, when viewing  $\Phi$  or  $\phi_0$  as Lagrange multipliers, this is the natural choice for the reality of both fields. However, note that in the second-order formulation of JT-gravity (1.1) one fixes the value of the dilaton ( $\Phi$ ) along the boundary to be real. As we describe in section 2.2, we do not encounter such an issue in the first-order formulation, since we will not fix the value of  $\phi$  along the boundary.

can be written as

$$d\phi_0 = \sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{2}} \left( -e^1 \phi^2 + e^2 \phi^1 \right) ,$$
  

$$d\phi^1 = -\omega \phi^2 + \sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{2}} e^2 \phi_0 ,$$
  

$$d\phi^2 = \omega \phi^1 - \sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{2}} e^1 \phi_0 .$$
  
(2.10)

It is straightforward to check that taking another derivative of the first equation and using the other two gives the equation for  $\Phi$  in (1.2).

The spin connection  $\omega^a{}_b$  is a connection on the orthonormal frame bundle associated to a principal SO(2) bundle. For a pair of functions  $\epsilon^a$  transforming as an SO(2) doublet, the covariant differential acts by  $D\epsilon^a = d\epsilon^a + \omega^a{}_b\epsilon^b$ . With this notation, we see that the infinitesimal gauge transformations (2.3) in the BF theory with gauge parameter  $\epsilon = \sqrt{\Lambda/2}\epsilon^a P_a + \epsilon^0 P_0$  take the form

$$\delta e^{1} = D\epsilon^{1} - \epsilon^{0}e^{2},$$
  

$$\delta e^{2} = D\epsilon^{2} + \epsilon^{0}e^{1},$$
  

$$\delta \omega = d\epsilon^{0} + \frac{\Lambda}{2}(\epsilon^{2}e^{1} - \epsilon^{1}e^{2}).$$
(2.11)

The interpretation of these formulas is as follows. The parameters  $\epsilon^i$  act as local gauge parameters for the SO(2) symmetry. When the gauge connection is flat with F = 0, infinitesimal gauge transformation are related to infinitesimal diffeomorphisms generated by a vector fields  $\xi^{\mu}$  (via  $\delta g_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu}\xi_{\mu}$ )

$$\epsilon^{a} = e^{a}_{\mu}\xi^{\mu}, \qquad \epsilon^{0}(x) = \omega_{\mu}(x)\xi^{\mu}(x).$$
 (2.12)

The parameter  $\epsilon^0$  generates an infinitesimal frame rotation, and thus it leaves the 2d metric invariant. Note that the gauge transformations in the BF theory preserve the zero-torsion condition and the 2d curvature because these quantities appear in the expression for F in (2.6) and the equation F = 0 is gauge-invariant.

So far, we have solely focused on the on-shell equations of motion in the bulk. We have not yet specified the crucial ingredients that are needed to provide an exact dual for the Schwarzian theory: specifying the boundary condition along  $\partial \Sigma$  in (2.4) or determining the global structure of the gauge group. Thus, in the next subsection we discuss possible boundary conditions and boundary terms such that the resulting theory has a well defined variational principle, while later, in section 3, we discuss the global structure of the gauge group.

#### 2.2 Variational principle, boundary conditions, and string defects

Infinitesimal variations of the action (2.4) yield

$$\delta S_{BF} = (\text{bulk equations of motions}) - i \int_{\partial \Sigma} \operatorname{tr} (\phi \delta A_{\tau}) , \qquad (2.13)$$

where  $\tau$  is used to parametrize the boundary  $\partial \Sigma$ . As is well-known [47] and can be easily seen from the variation (2.13), the BF theory has a well-defined variational principle when fixing the gauge field  $A_{\tau}$  along the boundary  $\partial \Sigma$ . In the first-order formulation of JT gravity, this amounts to fixing the spin connection and the frame and no other boundary term is necessary in order for the variational principle to be well defined.<sup>10</sup> In fact, due to gauge invariance, observables in the theory will depend on  $A_{\tau}$  only through the holonomy around the boundary,

$$\widetilde{g} = \mathcal{P} \exp\left(\int_{\partial \Sigma} A\right) \in \mathcal{G},$$
(2.14)

instead of depending on the local value of  $A_{\tau}$ . However, solely fixing the gauge field around the boundary yields a trivial topological theory (see more in section 3). Of course, such a theory cannot be dual to the Schwarzian. In order to effectively modify the dynamics of the theory we consider a defect along a loop I on  $\Sigma$ . A generic way of inserting such a defect is by adding a term  $S_I$ , to the BF action,

$$S_E = S_{BF} + S_I, \qquad S_I = e \int_0^\beta du \, V(\phi(u)), \qquad (2.15)$$

where u is the proper length parametrization of the loop I, whose coordinates are given by  $x_I(u)$  and whose total length is  $\beta$  measured with the induced background metric from the disk.<sup>11</sup>

Since, the overall action needs to be gauge invariant we should restrict  $V(\phi)$  to be of trace-class; as we will prove shortly in order to recover the Schwarzian on-shell we simply set  $V(\phi) = -\operatorname{tr} \phi^2/4$ , with the trace in the fundamental representation of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ .

Note that as a result of the Schwinger-Dyson equation

$$\left\langle d\operatorname{tr}\phi^{2}(x)\dots\right\rangle_{BF} = -2i\left\langle \operatorname{tr}\left(\phi(x)\frac{\delta}{\delta A(x)}\right)\dots\right\rangle_{BF} = 0$$
 (2.16)

tr  $\phi^2$  is a topological operator in the BF theory independent of its location on the spacetime manifold, as long as the other insertions represented by ... above do not involve A.<sup>12</sup>

As emphasized in figure 2, due to the fact that theory is topological away from Iand due to the appearance of the length form in (2.15) the action is invariant under diffeomorphisms that preserve the local length element on I.<sup>13</sup> Thus, one can modify the metric on  $\Sigma$ , away from I, in order to bring it arbitrarily close to the boundary  $\partial \Sigma$ . This proves convenient for our discussion below since we fix the component  $A_{\tau}$  of the gauge field along the boundary and can thus easily use the equations of motion to solve for the value of  $\phi$  along I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>This is in contrast with the second-order formulation of JT gravity (1.1), when fixing the metric and the dilaton along the boundary. In such a case the boundary term in (1.1) needs to be added to the action in order to have a well defined variational principle.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Consequently, the defect is not topological.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>In the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  gravitational theory,  $-\operatorname{tr} \phi^2$  is usually interpreted as a black hole mass and its conservation law can be interpreted as an energy conservation law [32].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>This is similar to 2d Yang-Mills theory which is invariant under area preserving diffeomorphisms [48–50].



Figure 2. Cartoon emphasizing the properties of the string defect. The resulting theory is invariant under perimeter preserving defect diffeomorphisms and thus the defect can be brought arbitrarily close to the boundary of the manifold. Furthermore, the degrees of freedom of the gauge theory defect can be captured by those in the Schwarzian theory.

Specifically, we choose

$$A_{\tau}\Big|_{\text{bdy}} \equiv \omega \,\ell_0 + \sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{2}} e_+ \,\ell_+ + \sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{2}} e_- \,\ell_- \,, \qquad (2.17)$$

where

$$\ell_{0} \equiv iP_{0}, \qquad \ell_{+} \equiv -P_{2} - iP_{1}, \qquad \ell_{-} \equiv P_{2} - iP_{1}, \\ \omega \equiv -i\omega_{\tau}\Big|_{\text{bdy.}}, \qquad e_{+} \equiv \frac{ie_{\tau}^{1} - e_{\tau}^{2}}{2}\Big|_{\text{bdy.}}, \qquad e_{-} \equiv \frac{ie_{\tau}^{1} + e_{\tau}^{2}}{2}\Big|_{\text{bdy.}}.$$
(2.18)

The generators  $\ell_0$  and  $\ell_{\pm}$  satisfy the commutation relations

$$[\ell_{\pm}, \ell_0] = \pm \ell_{\pm}, \qquad [\ell_+, \ell_-] = 2\ell_0.$$
(2.19)

As previously discussed, all observables can only depend on the value of the holonomy, thus without loss of generality we can set  $\omega$  and  $e_{\pm}$  to be constants whose value we discuss in the next subsection. Fixing the value of the gauge field, in turn, sets the metric in the JT-gravity interpretation along the boundary to be  $g_{\tau\tau} = -4e_+e_-$ .

The equation of motion obtained by varying  $A_{\tau}$  close to the boundary,  $D_{\tau}\phi = \partial_{\tau}\phi - [A_{\tau}|_{\text{bdy}}, \phi] = 0$ , can be used to solve for the value of  $\phi$  along I. It is convenient to relate the two parametrizations of the defect I through the function  $u(\tau)$ , choosing  $\tau$  in such a way that  $e\phi_{-}(\tau) \equiv \sqrt{\Lambda}e_{-}/\partial_{\tau}u(\tau)$ , where  $\phi = \phi_{0}\ell_{0} + \phi_{+}\ell_{+} + \phi_{-}\ell_{-}$ . Instead of solving the equation of motion for  $A_{\tau}$  in terms of  $u(\tau)$  it is more convenient to perform a reparametrization and rewrite the equation in terms of  $\tau(u)$  using  $A_{u} = A_{\tau}\tau'(u)$ , where  $\tau'(u) \equiv \partial_{u}\tau(u)$ . The solution to the equation of motion for the  $\ell_{-}$  and  $\ell_{0}$  components of  $D_{u}\phi = 0$  yields

$$e\phi(u) = \sqrt{2\Lambda}e_{-}\ell_{-}\tau' + 2\ell_{0}\left(\omega\tau' - \frac{\tau''}{\tau'}\right) + \sqrt{2\Lambda}\ell_{+}\left(e_{+}\tau' + \frac{\tau'''}{\Lambda e_{-}(\tau')^{2}} - \frac{\omega\tau''}{\Lambda e_{-}\tau'} - \frac{(\tau'')^{2}}{\Lambda e_{-}(\tau')^{3}}\right),$$
(2.20)

where  $\tau(u)$  is further constrained from the component of the  $D_u\phi = 0$  along  $\ell_+$ ,

$$0 = 4 \det A_{\tau}(\tau')^{4} \tau'' + 3(\tau'')^{3} - 4\tau' \tau'' \tau''' + (\tau')^{2} \tau'''', \qquad (2.21)$$

with det  $A_{\tau} = (-\omega^2 + 2\Lambda e_- e_+)/4 = (2\omega_{\tau}^2 - \Lambda g_{\tau\tau})/8|_{\text{bdy}}$ . When considering configurations with  $\tau'(u) = 0$  (and  $\tau'' \neq 0$  or  $\tau''' \neq 0$ ),  $\phi(u)$  becomes divergent and consequently the action also diverges. Thus, we restrict to the space of configurations where  $\tau(u)$  is monotonic, and we can set  $\tau(\beta) - \tau(0) = L$ , where L is an arbitrary length whose meaning we discuss shortly. Using this solution for  $\phi(u)$  we can now proceed to show that the dynamics on the defect is described by the Schwarzian.

#### 2.3 Recovering the Schwarzian action

We can now proceed to show that the Schwarzian action is a consistent truncation of the theory (2.15). We start by integrating out  $\phi$  inside the defect which sets F = 0 and thus the nonvanishing part of the action (2.15) comes purely from the region between (and including) the defect and the boundary. Next we *partially* integrate out  $A_{\tau}$  in this region using the equations of motion of  $D_u \phi = 0$  along the  $\ell_-$  and  $\ell_0$  directions, whose solution is given by (2.20). Plugging (2.20) back into the action (2.15), we find that the total action can be rewritten as<sup>14</sup>

$$S_E[\tau] = -\frac{1}{e} \int_0^\beta du \left( \{\tau(u), u\} + 2\tau'(u)^2 \det A_\tau \right) , \qquad \tau(\beta) - \tau(0) = L , \qquad (2.22)$$

where the determinant is computed in the fundamental representation of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ . The equation of motion obtained by infinitesimal variations  $\delta \tau(u)$  in (2.22) yields [15]

$$\partial_u \left[ \{ \tau(u), u \} + 2\tau'(u)^2 \det A_\tau \right] = 0$$
(2.23)

which is equivalent to (2.21) that was obtained directly from varying all components of  $A_{\tau}$  in the original action (2.15). This provides a check that the dynamics on the boundary condition changing defect in the gauge theory is consistent with that of the action (2.22).

Finally, performing a change of variables,

$$F(u) = \tan\left(\sqrt{\det A_{\tau}}\,\tau(u)\right)\,,\tag{2.24}$$

we recover the Schwarzian action as written in (1.3),

$$S_E[F] = -\frac{1}{e} \int_0^\beta du \{F(u), \, u\} \,. \tag{2.25}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>This reproduces the result in [31, 32] where the Schwarzian action was obtained by adding a boundary term similar to that in (2.15), by imposing a relation between the boundary value of the gauge field  $A_{\tau}$ and the zero-form field  $\phi$  and by fixing the overall holonomy around the boundary. In our discussion, by using the insertion of the defect, we greatly simplify the quantization of the theory. Our method is similar in spirit to the derivation of the 2D Wess-Zumino-Witten action from 3D Chern-Simons action with the appropriate choice of gauge group [51].

While we have found that the dynamics on the defect precisely matches that of the Schwarzian we have not yet matched the boundary conditions for (2.25) with those typically obtained from the second-order formulation of JT gravity:  $\beta = L$  and  $F(0) = F(\beta)$ .<sup>15</sup> The relation between L and  $\beta$  is obtained by requiring that the field configuration is regular inside of the defect I: this can be achieved by requiring that the holonomy around a loop inside of I be trivial. In order to discuss regularity we thus need to address the exact structure of the gauge group instead of only specifying the gauge algebra. To gain intuition about the correct choice of gauge group it will prove useful to first discuss the quantization of the gauge theory and that of the Schwarzian theory.

## 3 Quantization and choice of gauge group

So far we have focused on the classical equivalence between the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  gauge theory formulation of JT gravity and the Schwarzian theory. This discussion relied only on the gauge algebra being  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ , with the global structure of the gauge group not being important. We will now extend this discussion to the quantum level, where, with a precise choice of gauge group in the 2d gauge theory, we will reproduce exactly the partition function and the expectation values of various operators in the Schwarzian theory.

#### 3.1 Quantization with non-compact gauge group $\mathcal{G}$

We would like to consider the theory with action (2.15) and (non-compact) gauge group  $\mathcal{G}$  (to be specified below), defined on a disk D with the defect inserted along the loop I of total length  $\beta$ . The quantization of gauge theories with non-compact gauge groups has not been discussed much in the literature,<sup>16</sup> although there is extensive literature on the quantum 2d Yang-Mills theory with compact gauge group [48–50, 54–58].<sup>17</sup> Let us start with a brief review of relevant results on the compact gauge group case, and then explain how these results can be extended to the situation of interest to us.

What is commonly studied is the 2d Yang-Mills theory defined on a manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  with a compact gauge group G, with Euclidean action

$$S^{2d \text{ YM}}[\phi, A] = -i \int_{\mathcal{M}} \operatorname{tr}(\phi F) - g_{\text{YM}}^2 \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x \sqrt{g} V(\phi) , \qquad V(\phi) = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{tr} \phi^2 .$$
(3.1)

After integrating out  $\phi$ , this action reduces to the standard form  $-\frac{1}{2g_{YM}^2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2x \sqrt{g} \operatorname{tr} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu}$ . When quantizing this theory on a spatial circle, it can be argued that due to the Gauss law constraint, the wave functions are simply functions  $\Psi[g]$  of the holonomy  $g = P \exp[\oint A^a T_a]$ 

$$F(\beta) = \frac{\cos(\sqrt{\det A_{\tau}}L)F(0) + \sin(\sqrt{\det A_{\tau}}L)}{-\sin(\sqrt{\det A_{\tau}}L)F(0) + \cos(\sqrt{\det A_{\tau}}L)}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Instead the relation between F(0) and  $F(\beta)$  in (2.25), with the boundary conditions set by those in (2.22), is given by,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>See however, [52] and comments about non-unitarity in Yang-Mills with non-compact gauge group in [53].

 $<sup>^{17}</sup>$ See also the more recent discussion about the quantization of Yang-Mills theory when coupled to JT gravity [59].

around the circle that depend only on the conjugacy class of g. Here  $T^a$  are anti-Hermitian generators of the group G. The generator  $T^a$  are normalized such that  $\operatorname{tr}(T^iT^j) = N\eta^{ij}$ , where for compact groups we set  $\eta^{ij} = \operatorname{diag}(-1, \ldots, -1)$ . Thus, the wavefunctions  $\Psi[g]$ are class functions on G, and a natural basis for them is the "representation basis" given by the characters  $\chi_R(g) = \operatorname{tr}_R g$  of all unitary irreducible representations R of G.

The partition function of the theory (3.1) when placed on a Euclidean manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  with a single boundary is given by the path integral,

$$Z_{\mathcal{M}}^{2d \operatorname{YM}}(g, g_{\operatorname{YM}}^{2} \mathcal{A}) = \int D\phi \, DA \, e^{-S^{2d \operatorname{YM}}[\phi, A]}$$
(3.2)

where we impose that overall G holonomy around the boundary of  $\mathcal{M}$  be given by g. Note that this partition function depends on the choice of metric for  $\mathcal{M}$  only through the total area  $\mathcal{A}$  (as the notation in (3.2) indicates, it depends only on the dimensionless combination  $g_{YM}^2 \mathcal{A}$ ). The partition function can be computed using the cutting and gluing axioms of quantum field theory from two building blocks: the partition function on a small disk and the partition function on a cylinder. For the disk partition function  $Z_{disk}^{2d YM}(g, g_{YM}^2 \mathcal{A})$ , which in general depends on the boundary holonomy g and  $g_{YM}^2 \mathcal{A}$ , the small  $\mathcal{A}$  limit is identical to the small  $g_{YM}^2$  limit in which (3.1) becomes topological. In this limit, the integral over  $\phi$  imposes the condition that A is a flat connection, which gives g = 1, so [49]

$$\lim_{\mathcal{A}\to 0} Z_{\text{disk}}^{2d \text{ YM}}(g, g_{\text{YM}}^2 \mathcal{A}) = \delta(g) = \sum_R \dim R \,\chi_R(g) \,.$$
(3.3)

Here,  $\delta(g)$  is the delta-function on the group G defined with respect to the Haar measure on G, which enforces that  $\int dg \,\delta(g) x(g) = x(\mathbf{1})$ .

To determine this partition functions at finite area, note that the action (3.1) implies that the canonical momentum conjugate to the space component of the gauge field  $A_1^i(x)$ is  $\phi_i(x)$ , and thus the Hamiltonian density that follows from (3.1) is just  $\frac{g_{YM}^2}{4} \operatorname{tr}(\phi_i T^i)^2$ . In canonical quantization, one find that  $\pi_j = -iN\phi_j$  and the Hamiltonian density becomes  $H = -\frac{g_{YM}^2}{4N}\eta^{ij}\pi_i\pi_j$ . Using  $\pi_j = \frac{\delta}{\delta A_1^j}$ , each momentum acts on the wavefunctions  $\chi_R(g)$  as  $\pi_i\chi_R(g) = \chi_R(T_ig)$ . It follows that the Hamiltonian density derived from the action (3.1) acts on each basis element of the Hilbert space  $\chi_R(g)$  diagonally with eigenvalue  $g_{YM}^2C_2(R)/(4N)$  [50], where  $C_2(R)$  is the quadratic Casimir, with  $C_2(R) \ge 0$  for compact groups. One then immediately finds

$$Z_{\rm disk}^{\rm 2d YM}(g, g_{\rm YM}^2 \mathcal{A}) = \sum_R \dim R \,\chi_R(g) e^{-\frac{g_{\rm YM}^2}{4N} \mathcal{A}C_2(R)} \,.$$
(3.4)

From these expressions, sticking with compact gauge groups for now, one can determine the disk partition function of a modified theory

$$S = -i \int_{\mathcal{M}} \operatorname{tr}(\phi F) - e \int_{I} du \, V(\phi) \,, \qquad V(\phi) = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{tr} \phi^{2} \,, \tag{3.5}$$

where I is a loop of length  $\beta$  as in figure 2. Such an action can be obtained by modifying the Hamiltonian of the theory to a time-dependent one and by choosing time-slices to be concentric to the loop I.<sup>18</sup> Applying such a quantization to the theory with a loop defect we obtain

$$Z(g,e\beta) = \sum_{R} \dim R \,\chi_R(g) e^{-\frac{e\beta C_2(R)}{4N}} \,. \tag{3.6}$$

One modification that one can perform in the above discussion is to consider, either in (3.1) or in (3.5) a more general  $V(\phi)$  than  $\frac{1}{4} \operatorname{tr} \phi^2$ . For example, if  $V(\phi) = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{tr} \phi^2 + \frac{1}{4} \alpha (\operatorname{tr} \phi^2)^2$ , then one should replace  $C_2(R)$  by  $C_2(R) + \frac{\alpha}{N} C_2(R)^2$  in all the formulas above.

The discussion above assumed that G is compact, and thus the spectrum of unitary irreps is discrete. The only modification required in the case of a non-compact gauge group  $\mathcal{G}$  is that the irreducible irreps are in general part of a continuous spectrum.<sup>19</sup> To generalize the proof above, we have to use the Plancherel formula associated with non-compact groups in (3.3)

$$\delta(g) = \sum_{R} \dim R \,\chi_R(g) \quad \to \quad \delta(g) = \int dR \,\rho(R) \,\chi_R(g) \,, \tag{3.7}$$

where  $\rho(R)$  is the Plancherel measure.<sup>20</sup> Then, following the same logic that led to the disk partition function in (3.4), by determining the Hamiltonian density and applying it to the characters in (3.7), we find that the disk partition function of the theory (3.5) reduces to

$$Z(g,e\beta) = \int dR \,\rho(R)\chi_R(g)e^{-\frac{e\beta C_2(R)}{4N}}.$$
(3.8)

where we normalize the generators  $P^i$  of the non-compact group by  $\operatorname{tr}(P^i P^j) = N\eta^{ij}$ , where  $\eta^{ij}$  is diagonal with  $\pm 1$  entries. In these conventions we set the Casimir of the group to be given by  $\widehat{C}_2 = -\eta^{ij} P_i P_j$ . One may worry that if the gauge group is non-compact, then it is possible for the quadratic Casimir  $C_2(R)$  to be unbounded from below, and then the integral (3.8) would not converge. If this is the case, we should think of  $V(\phi)$  in (3.5) as a limit of a more complicated potential such that the integral (3.8) still converges. For instance, we can add  $\frac{1}{4}\alpha(\operatorname{tr} \phi^2)^2$  to (3.5) and consequently  $\alpha C_2(R)^2$  to the exponent of (3.8) as described above.

In order to consider more complicated observables, we can glue together different segments of the boundary of the disk. In general, the gluing of n disks, each containing a defect  $I_j$  of length  $\beta_j$ , onto a different manifold  $\Sigma$  with a single boundary with holonomy g, will formally be given by integrating over all group elements  $h_1, h_2, \ldots, h_m$  associated to the  $C_1, \ldots, C_m$  segments which need to be glued. Here,  $h_i = \mathcal{P} \exp \int_{C_i} A$ . The resulting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Alternatively, one can consider the gluing of a topological theory with  $g_{YM}^2 = 0$  in the regions inside and outside *I*, and a theory of type (3.1) in a fattened region around *I* of a small width (so that the region does not intersect with other operator insertions such as Wilson lines).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>For the case with non-compact gauge group we will continue to maintain the same sign convention in Euclidean signature as that shown in (3.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>In the case in which the spectrum of irreps has both continuous and discrete components,  $\rho(R)$  will be a distribution with delta-function support on the discrete components.



Figure 3. Cartoon showing an example of gluing of three disk patches whose overall partition function is given by the gluing rules in (3.9). Each segment has an associated group element  $h_a$  and each patch has an associated holonomy  $g_i$ . In the case pictured above:  $g_1 = h_1 h_2 h_3^{-1}$ ,  $g_2 = h_3 h_4 h_5^{-1}$  and  $g_3 = h_5 h_6 h_1^{-1}$ . We take all edges to be oriented in the counter-clockwise direction.

partition function is given by<sup>21</sup>

$$Z(g, e\beta, \Sigma) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{Vol}(\mathcal{G})^m} \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^m dh_i\right) \left(\prod_{j=1}^n Z(g_j(h_a), e\beta_j)\right) \delta\left(g^{-1} \prod_{j=1}^n g_j(h_a)\right), \quad (3.9)$$

where the product *i* runs over all *m* edges which need to be glued, while the product *j* runs over the labels of the *n* disks. Each disk *j* comes with a total holonomy  $g_j(h_a)$  depending on the group elements  $h_a$  associated to each segment  $C_a$  along the boundary of disk *j*. Thus, for instance if the edge of the disk *j* consists of the segments  $C_1, \ldots, C_{m_j}$  (in counter-clockwise order), then  $g_j(h_a) = h_1 \cdots h_{m_j}$ . Furthermore,  $dh_i$  denotes the Haar measure on the group  $\mathcal{G}$ , which is normalized by the group volume. The group  $\delta$ -function imposes that the total holonomy around the boundary of  $\Sigma$  is fixed to be *g*. An example of the gluing of three patches is given in figure 3.

While for compact gauge groups (3.9) yields a convergent answer when considering manifolds  $\Sigma$  with higher genus or no boundary, when studying non-compact gauge theories on such manifolds divergences can appear. This is due to the fact that the unitary representations of a non-compact group  $\mathcal{G}$  are infinitely dimensional.<sup>22</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Various formulae useful for gluing in gauge theory are shown in appendix B, where results for compact gauge groups and non-compact gauge groups are compared.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>When setting  $\mathcal{G}$  to be PSL(2,  $\mathbb{R}$ ) or one of its extensions, these divergences are in tension with the expected answers in the gravitational theory (1.1). This is a reflection of the fact that while the moduli space of Riemann surfaces has finite volume, the moduli space of flat PSL(2,  $\mathbb{R}$ ) (or other group extensions of PSL(2,  $\mathbb{R}$ )) connections does not. Thus, the techniques applied in this paper are only valid for manifolds with the topology of a disk. See [23, 59–61] for a detailed discussion about a sum over all topologies.

# 3.2 The Schwarzian theory and $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ representations

In order to identify the gauge group  $\mathcal{G}$  for which the theory (2.15) becomes equivalent to the Schwarzian theory at the quantum level, let us first understand what group representations are relevant in the quantization of the Schwarzian theory. Specifically, the partition function of the Schwarzian theory at temperature  $\beta$  is given, up to a regularization dependent proportionality constant, by

$$Z_{\rm Schwarzian}(\beta) \propto \int_0^\infty dss \sinh(2\pi s) e^{-\frac{\beta}{2C}s^2}, \qquad (3.10)$$

(computed using fermionic localization in [10]), can be written as an integral of the form

$$Z_{\text{Schwarzian}}(\beta) \propto \int dR \,\rho(R) e^{-\frac{\beta}{2C} \left[C_2(R) - \frac{1}{4}\right]},\tag{3.11}$$

over certain irreps of the universal cover  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ .<sup>23</sup>

To identify the representations R needed to equate (3.10) to (3.11), let us first review some basic aspects of  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  representation theory, following [62]. The irreducible representations of  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  are labeled by two quantum numbers  $\lambda$  and  $\mu$ . These can be determined from the eigenvalue  $\lambda(1-\lambda)$  of the quadratic Casimir  $\widehat{C}_2 = -\eta^{ij}P_iP_j = P_0^2 - P_1^2 - P_2^2 = -\ell_0^2 + (\ell_-\ell_+ + \ell_+\ell_-)/2$ , as well as the eigenvalue  $e^{2\pi i\mu}$  under the generator  $e^{-2\pi i\ell_0}$  of the  $\mathbb{Z}$  center of the  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ . Furthermore, states within each irreducible representation are labeled by an additional quantum number m which represents the eigenvalue under  $\ell_0$ . Thus,

$$\widehat{C}_{2}|\lambda,\mu,m\rangle = \lambda(1-\lambda)|\lambda,\mu,m\rangle, 
\ell_{0}|\lambda,\mu,m\rangle = -m|\lambda,\mu,m\rangle \quad \text{with} \quad m \in \mu + \mathbb{Z}.$$
(3.12)

One can go between states with different values of m using the raising and lowering operators:

$$\ell_{-}|\lambda,\mu,m\rangle = -\sqrt{(m-\lambda)(m-1+\lambda)}|\lambda,\mu,m-1\rangle, \qquad (3.13)$$
  
$$\ell_{+}|\lambda,\mu,m\rangle = -\sqrt{(m+\lambda)(m+1-\lambda)}|\lambda,\mu,m+1\rangle.$$

where the generators satisfy the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  algebra (2.19). Using these labels and requiring the positivity of the matrix elements of the operators  $L_+L_-$  and  $L_-L_+$  one finds that there are four types of irreducible unitary representations:<sup>24</sup>

• Trivial representation I:  $\mu = 0$  and m = 0;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>As already discussed in [21, 22, 45] and as we explain in appendix A, we can interpret  $H = (\hat{C}_2 - 1/4)/C$  as the Hamiltonian of a quantum system and  $\rho(R)$  as the density of states. Such an interpretation can be made precise after noticing that the Schwarzian theory is equivalent to the theory of a non-relativistic particle in 2D hyperbolic space placed in a pure imaginary magnetic field.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>The two-dimensional representation (corresponding to  $\lambda = -1/2$  and  $\mu = \pm 1/2$ ) used in section 2 in order to write down the Lagrangian is not a unitary representation and therefore does not appear in the list below.

- Principal unitary series  $\mathcal{C}^{\mu}_{\lambda=\frac{1}{2}+is}$ :  $\lambda=\frac{1}{2}+is, m=\mu+n, n\in\mathbb{Z}, -1/2\leq\mu\leq1/2;$
- Positive/negative discrete series  $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda}^{\pm}$ :  $\lambda > 0, \ \lambda = \pm \mu, \ m = \pm \lambda \pm n, \ n \in \mathbb{Z}^+, \ \mu \in \mathbb{R};$
- Complementary series  $C_{\lambda}^{\mu}$ :  $|\mu| < \lambda < 1/2, m = \mu + n, n \in \mathbb{Z}^{25}$

Only the principal unitary series and the positive/negative discrete series admit a well defined Hermitian inner-product, so for them one can define a density of states given by the Plancherel measure (up to a proportionality constant given by the regularization of the group's volume).

As reviewed in appendix C, the principal unitary series has the Plancherel measure given by

$$\rho(\mu, s) \, d\mu \, ds = \frac{(2\pi)^{-2} s \sinh(2\pi s)}{\cosh(2\pi s) + \cos(2\pi \mu)} \, ds \, d\mu \,, \qquad \text{with} \ -\frac{1}{2} \le \mu \le \frac{1}{2} \,, \tag{3.14}$$

and for the positive and negative discrete series

$$\rho(\lambda)d\lambda = (2\pi)^{-2}\left(\lambda - \frac{1}{2}\right)d\lambda, \quad \text{with } \lambda = \pm\mu, \quad \lambda \ge \frac{1}{2}, \quad (3.15)$$

where  $\lambda = \mu$  for the positive discrete series and  $\lambda = -\mu$  for the negative discrete series. Matching (3.11) to (3.10) can be done in two steps:

1. We first restrict the set of R that appear in (3.11) to representations with fixed  $e^{2\pi i\mu}$ . As mentioned above, this quantity represents the eigenvalue under the generator of the  $\mathbb{Z}$  center of  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ . After this step, (3.11) becomes

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} ds \, \frac{(2\pi)^{-2} s \sinh(2\pi s)}{\cosh(2\pi s) + \cos(2\pi\mu)} e^{-\frac{\beta}{2C}s^{2}} + \sum_{n=1}^{n_{\max}} \frac{1}{2\pi^{2}} \left(\mu + n - \frac{1}{2}\right) e^{-\frac{\beta}{2C} \left[(\mu + n)(1 - \mu - n) - \frac{1}{4}\right]},$$
(3.16)

provided that we took  $\mu \in [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ . In writing (3.16) we imposed a cutoff  $n_{\text{max}}$  on the discrete series representations. A different regularization could be achieved by adding the square of the quadratic Casimir in the exponent, with a small coefficient. As a function of  $\mu$ , eq. (3.16) can be extended to a periodic function of  $\mu$  with unit period.

2. We analytically continue the answer we obtained in the previous step to  $\mu \to i\infty$ . When doing so, the sum in (3.16) coming from the discrete series goes as  $e^{-\frac{\beta}{C}(\operatorname{Im}\mu)^2}$ , and the integral coming from the continuous series goes as  $e^{-2\pi|\operatorname{Im}\mu|}$ . Thus, when  $\operatorname{Im}\mu \to \infty$  the continuous series dominates, and (3.16) becomes proportional to the partition function of the Schwarzian.

As was already discussed in [12–14, 21, 22, 45] and we review in appendix A, fixing  $\mu \to i\infty$  can also be understood in deriving the equivalence between the Schwarzian and a non-relativistic particle in 2D hyperbolic space, as fixing the magnetic field  $\tilde{B}$  to be pure imaginary,  $\tilde{B} = -\frac{iB}{2\pi} = \mu$ , with  $B \to \infty$ . As we shall see below, on the gauge theory side, fixing the parameter  $\mu \to i\infty$  can be done with an appropriate choice of the gauge group  $\mathcal{G}$  and boundary conditions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>Since in the Plancherel inversion formula the complementary series does not appear, we will not include it in any further discussion.

# 3.3 $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$ extensions, one-form symmetries, and revisiting the boundary condition

In section 3.2 we have gained some insight about the  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  representations that are needed in order to write the Schwarzian partition function as in (3.11). We thus seek to choose a gauge group and boundary conditions that automatically isolate precisely the same representations as in Step 1 above. We then choose the defect potential for the 2D gauge theory to achieve the desired analytically continued gauge theory partition function presented in Step 2.

**Choice of gauge group.** In a pure gauge theory the center of the gauge group gives rise to a one-form symmetry under which Wilson loops are charged [63]. Thus, since an  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  gauge group gives rise to a  $\mathbb{Z}$  one-form symmetry, fixing the charge under the center of the gauge group is equivalent to projecting down to states of a given one-form symmetry charge. A well known way to restrict the one-form symmetry charges in the case of a compact gauge group G is by introducing an extra generator in the gauge algebra and embedding the group G into its central extension [63, 64].

In the case of non-compact groups we proceed in a similar fashion, and consider a new gauge group which is given by the central extension of  $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$  by  $\mathbb{R}$ ,<sup>26</sup>

$$\mathcal{G}_B \equiv \frac{\widetilde{\mathrm{SL}}(2,\mathbb{R}) \times \mathbb{R}}{\mathbb{Z}}, \qquad (3.17)$$

where the quotient, and, consequently, the definition of the group extension, is given by the identification

$$(\tilde{g},\theta) \sim (h_n \tilde{g}, \theta + Bn).$$
 (3.18)

Above,  $\tilde{g} \in \widetilde{\mathrm{SL}}(2,\mathbb{R})$  and  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $h_n$  is the *n*-th element of  $\mathbb{Z}$  and  $B \in \mathbb{R}$  is the parameter which defines the extension. The resulting irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{G}_B$  can be obtained from irreducible representation of  $\widetilde{\mathrm{SL}}(2,\mathbb{R}) \times \mathbb{R}$  which are restricted by the quotient (3.17). The unitary representations of  $\mathbb{R}$  are one-dimensional and are labeled by their eigenvalue under the  $\mathbb{R}$  generator,  $I|k\rangle = k|k\rangle$ . In other words, the action of a general  $\mathbb{R}$  group element  $U^{\mathbb{R}}(\theta) = e^{iI\theta}$  on the state  $|k\rangle$  is given by multiplication by  $U_k^{\mathbb{R}}(\theta) = e^{ik\theta}$ .

Considering the representation  $U_k$  of  $\mathbb{R}$  and a representation  $U_{\lambda,\mu}$  of the  $\widetilde{\mathrm{SL}}(2,\mathbb{R})$ , evaluated on the group element  $(h_n, \theta)$  we have  $U_{\lambda,\mu,k}^{\widetilde{\mathrm{SL}}(2,\mathbb{R})\times\mathbb{R}}(h_n, \theta) = U_{\lambda,\mu}(h_n)U_k^{\mathbb{R}}(\theta) = e^{2\pi i\mu n + ik\theta}$ . We now impose the quotient identification (3.18) on the representations,  $e^{ik\theta} = e^{2\pi i\mu n + ik(\theta + Bn)}$ , which implies  $k = -2\pi (\mu - p)/B$ , with  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Thus,  $\mathbb{R}$  irreps labeled by k restrict the label  $\mu$  of representations in (3.12) to be<sup>27</sup>

$$\mu = -\frac{Bk}{2\pi} + p, \qquad \text{with } p \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(3.19)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>Such extensions are classified by the Čech cohomology group  $\check{H}^1(SL(2,\mathbb{R}),\mathbb{R}) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(\pi_1(SL(2,\mathbb{R})\to\mathbb{R}) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Z}\to\mathbb{R}) \simeq \mathbb{R}$  where  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Z}\to\mathbb{R})$  classifies the set of homomorphisms from  $\mathbb{Z}$  to  $\mathbb{R}$ . In other words, all extensions by  $\mathbb{R}$  will be given by a push-forward from the elements of  $\mathbb{Z}$  center of  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  to elements of  $\mathbb{R}$ . A basis of homomorphisms from  $\mathbb{Z}$  to  $(\mathbb{R}, +)$  are given by  $f_B(n) = Bn$  for  $B \in \mathbb{R}$ . Such a homomorphism imposes the identification (3.17) for different elements of the group [65].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>For B = 0 one simply finds the trivial extension of  $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$  by  $\mathbb{R}$  which does not contain  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  as a subgroup.

Thus, by projecting down to a representation k of  $\mathbb{R}$  in the 2D gauge theory partition function, we can restrict to representations with a fixed eigenvalue  $e^{2\pi i\mu}$  for the center of the gauge group  $\mathbb{Z}$ .

In order to understand how to perform the projection to a fixed k (or  $e^{2\pi i\mu}$ ) in the BF theory, it is useful to explicitly write down the  $\mathcal{G}_B$  gauge theory action.

To start, we write the gauge algebra  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})\oplus\mathbb{R}$ ,

$$[\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}, \tilde{\ell}_0] = \pm \tilde{\ell}_{\pm}, \qquad [\tilde{\ell}_+, \tilde{\ell}_-] = 2\tilde{\ell}_0 - \frac{BI}{\pi}, \qquad e^{2\pi i \tilde{\ell}_0} = 1, \qquad [\tilde{\ell}_{0,\pm}, I] = 0, \quad (3.20)$$

where the condition  $e^{2\pi i \tilde{\ell}_0} = 1$ , imposed on the group, enforces the representation restriction (3.19). Of course at the level of the algebra, we can perform the redefinition  $\ell_0 = \tilde{\ell}_0 - BI/(2\pi)$  and  $\ell_{\pm} = \tilde{\ell}_{\pm}$  to still find that  $\ell_{0,\pm}$  satisfy an  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  algebra (2.19) from which we can once again define the set of generators  $P_i$  using (2.18). Considering a theory with gauge group  $\mathcal{G}_B$  in (3.17), we can write the gauge field and zero-form field  $\phi$  as<sup>28</sup>

$$A = e^{a}P_{a} + \omega P_{0} + \frac{B^{2}}{\pi^{2}}A^{\mathbb{R}}I, \qquad \phi = \phi^{a}P_{a} + \phi^{0}P_{0} + \phi^{\mathbb{R}}I, \qquad (3.21)$$

where a = 1, 2 and where  $\alpha$  is the  $\mathbb{R}$  gauge field. Thus, the gauge invariant action (2.15) can be written as

$$S_E = -i \int_{\Sigma} \left( \frac{\phi^a F_a + \phi^0 F_0}{2} + \phi^{\mathbb{R}} F^{\mathbb{R}} \right) - e \int_{\partial \Sigma} du \ V(\phi^0, \phi^{\pm}) \,. \tag{3.22}$$

Since the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  generators form a closed algebra, it is clear that under a general gauge transformation the  $e^a$  and  $\omega$  transform under the actions of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ , while  $\alpha$  transforms independently under the action of  $\mathbb{R}$ . Thus one can fix the holonomy of the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  gauge components independently from that of  $\mathbb{R}$ .<sup>29</sup>

**Revisiting the boundary condition.** Since the two sectors are decoupled, we can independently fix the holonomy  $\tilde{g}$  of the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  components of the gauge field, as specified in section 2, and fix the value of  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}} = k_0$  on the boundary. In order to implement such boundary conditions and in order for the overall action to have a well-defined variational principle, one can add a boundary term

$$S_{\text{bdy.}} = i \oint_{\partial \Sigma} \phi^{\mathbb{R}} A^{\mathbb{R}} , \qquad (3.23)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Note that the normalization for the  $\mathbb{R}$  component of A is such that the BF-action in (3.22) is in a standard form.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>We now briefly revisit the equivalence between the gauge theory and JT-gravity, as discussed in section 2.1. One important motivation for this is that section 2.1 solely focused on an  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  gauge algebra while  $\mathcal{G}_B$  has an  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}) \oplus \mathbb{R}$  algebra. The equations of motion for the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  components are independent from those for the  $\mathbb{R}$  components, namely  $F^{\mathbb{R}} = 0$  and  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}} = \text{constant}$ . Thus, the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  and  $\mathbb{R}$  sectors are fully decoupled and, since  $F_{\mathbb{R}} = 0$ , the  $\mathbb{R}$  sector does not contribute to the bulk term in the action. Finally, note that  $\mathcal{G}_B$  indeed has a two-dimensional representation with  $(\lambda, \mu, k) = (-1/2, \pm 1/2, \mp \pi/B)$ , as discussed in section 2.3 when recovering the Schwarzian action. Since we will be considering the limit  $B \to \infty$  throughout this paper, the contribution from the  $\mathbb{R}$  component to tr  $\phi^2$  in this two dimensional representation is suppressed. Thus, the classical analysis in section 2 is unaffected by the extension of the group.

to the action (3.22). The partition function when fixing this boundary condition can be related to that in which the  $\mathcal{G}_B$  holonomy  $g = (\tilde{g}, \theta)$ , is fixed, with  $\tilde{g} = \oint_{\partial \Sigma} A^i P_i \in \widetilde{\mathrm{SL}}(2, \mathbb{R})$ and  $\theta = \oint_{\partial \Sigma} A^{\mathbb{R}} \in \mathbb{R}$ , as

$$Z_{k_0}(\tilde{g}, e\beta) = \int d\theta Z((\tilde{g}, \theta), e\beta) e^{-ik_0\theta} \,. \tag{3.24}$$

More generally, without relying on (3.24), following the decomposition of the partition function into a sum of irreducible representation of  $\mathcal{G}_B$ , fixing  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}} = k_0$ , isolates the contribution of the  $\mathbb{R}$  representation labeled by  $k_0$ , in the partition function, or equivalently fixes  $e^{2\pi i\mu}$  with  $\mu = -\frac{Bk_0}{2\pi}$  + integer. This achieves the goal of Step 1 in the previous subsection 3.2.

To achieve Step 2, namely sending  $\mu \to i\infty$ , or equivalently  $kB \to i\infty$ , we can choose

$$\mathcal{G} \equiv \mathcal{G}_B \quad \text{with} \quad B \to \infty, \quad \phi^{\mathbb{R}} = k_0 = -i.$$
 (3.25)

Note that all the groups  $\mathcal{G}_B$  with  $B \neq 0$  are isomorphic. Therefore, one can make different choices when considering the limits in (3.25) as long as the invariant quantity  $kB \rightarrow i\infty$ .

Alternatively, instead of fixing the value of  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}}$  on the boundary, the change in boundary condition (3.24) can be viewed as the introduction of a 1D complexified Chern-Simons term for the  $\mathbb{R}$  gauge field component  $\alpha$ ,  $S_{CS} = ik_0 \oint_{\partial \Sigma} A^{\mathbb{R}}$ , which is equivalent to the boundary term in (3.23). By adding such a term to the action and by integrating over the  $\mathbb{R}$  holonomy we once again recover the partition function given by (3.24).

Thus, the choice of gauge group  $\mathcal{G}$  (with  $B \to \infty$ ) together with the boundary condition for the field  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}}$  or through the addition of the boundary Chern-Simons discussed above, will isolate the contribution of representations with  $k = k_0$  in the partition function.<sup>30</sup> Finally, note that in order to perform the gluing procedure described in section 3.1, one first computes all observables in the presence of an overall  $\mathcal{G}$  holonomy. By using (3.24) one can then fix  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}} = k_0$  along the boundary and obtain the result with  $k_0 = -i$  by analytic continuation.<sup>31</sup>

Higher order corrections to the potential  $V(\phi)$ . Finally, as shown in section 2 in order to reproduce the Schwarzian on-shell the potential  $V(\phi^0, \phi^{\pm}, \phi^{\mathbb{R}})$  needed to be quadratic to leading order. However, as we shall explain below, one option is to introduce higher order terms, suppressed in  $\mathcal{O}(1/B)$ , in order to regularize the contribution of discrete series representations whose energies (given by the quadratic Casimir) are arbitrarily negative. Thus, we choose

$$V(\phi^{0}, \phi^{\pm}, \phi^{\mathbb{R}}) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{tr}_{(2, -\frac{\pi}{B})} \phi^{2} + \text{higher order terms in } \phi \text{ suppressed in } 1/B, \qquad (3.26)$$

where  $\operatorname{tr}_{(2,-\frac{\pi}{B})}$  is the trace taken in the two-dimensional representation with  $k = -\frac{\pi}{B}$ , and the shift in the potential is needed in order to reproduce the shift for the Casimir seen

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>Note that in such a case the representations of  $\mathbb{R}$  with  $k \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  are not  $\delta$ -function normalizable.

 $<sup>^{31}</sup>$ This analytic continuation is analogous to the one needed in Chern-Simons gravity when describing Euclidean quantum gravity [66].

in (3.11). Note that in the limit  $B \to \infty$ , the trace only involves the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  components of  $\phi$ . While observables are unaffected by the exact form of these higher order terms, their presence regularizes the contribution of such representations to the partition function.<sup>32</sup>

#### 3.4 The partition function in the first-order formulation

Since we have proven that the degrees of freedom in the second-order formulation of JTgravity can be mapped to those in the first-order gauge theory formulation, we expect that with the appropriate choice of measure and boundary conditions, the two path integrals agree:

$$\int D\phi \, DA \, e^{-S_E[\phi, A]} \cong \int Dg_{\mu\nu} \, D\Phi \, e^{-S_{JT}[\Phi, g]} \,. \tag{3.27}$$

Using all the ingredients in section 3.3, we can now show that the partition function of the gravitational theory (3.27) matches that of the Schwarzian. We first compute the partition function in the presence of a fixed  $\mathcal{G}$  holonomy is given by

$$Z(g, e\beta) \propto \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dk \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \frac{s \sinh(2\pi s)}{\cosh(2\pi s) + \cos(Bk)} \chi_{\left(s,\mu = -\frac{Bk}{2\pi},k\right)}(g) e^{-\frac{e\beta s^{2}}{2}} + \text{discrete series contribution}, \qquad (3.28)$$

where, we remind the reader that the generators  $P_i$  satisfying the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  algebra are normalized by  $\operatorname{tr}_2(P^iP^j) = -\eta^{ij}/2$  with  $\eta^{ij} = \operatorname{diag}(-1, 1, 1)$ . When using the symbol " $\propto$ " in the computation of various observables in the gauge theory we mean that the result is given up to a regularization dependent, but  $\beta$ -independent, proportionality constant.

Using this result, we can now understand the partition function in the presence of the mixed boundary conditions discussed in the previous subsection. To leading order in B the partition function with a fixed holonomy  $\tilde{g}$  and a fixed value of  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}} = k_0 = -i$  is dominated by terms coming from the principal series representations,

$$Z_{k_0}(\tilde{g}, e\beta) \propto e^{-B} \int_0^\infty ds \, s \, \sinh(2\pi s) \chi_{s,\mu=-\frac{Bk_0}{2\pi}}(\tilde{g}) e^{-\frac{e\beta s^2}{2}} + O(e^{-2B}) \,, \tag{3.29}$$

where  $\chi_{s,\mu}(\tilde{g})$  is the character of the  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  principal series representation labeled by  $(\lambda = 1/2 + is, \mu)$  evaluated on the group element  $\tilde{g}$ , which can be parametrized by exponentiating the generators in (2.19) as  $\tilde{g} = e^{\phi P_0} e^{\xi P_1} e^{-\eta P_0}$ . For  $\phi - \eta \in [2\pi(n-1), 2\pi n)$ , the character for the continuous series representation s is given by

$$\chi_{s,\mu}(\tilde{g}) = \begin{cases} e^{2\pi i\mu n} \left(\frac{|x|^{1-2\lambda}+|x|^{-1+2\lambda}}{|x-x^{-1}|}\right), & \text{for } \tilde{g} \text{ hyperbolic,} \\ 0, & \text{for } \tilde{g} \text{ elliptic.} \end{cases}$$
(3.30)

Here, x (and  $x^{-1}$ ) are the eigenvalues of the group element  $\tilde{g}$ , when expressed in the twodimensional representation (see appendix C). Note that for hyperbolic elements,  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>An example for such a higher-order term is given by  $e^{(2)}\left(\left(\phi^0\right)^2 + 2\phi^+\phi^- + \frac{1}{4}\right)/B$  where  $e^{(2)} \sim O(1)$  is a new coupling constant in the potential.

with |x| > 1, and the character is non-vanishing, while for elliptic elements, we have |x| = 1 (with  $x \notin \mathbb{R}$ ) and the character is always vanishing.<sup>33</sup>

Note that since in the partition function only representations with a fixed value of  $\mu$  contribute, when the holonomy is set to different center elements  $h_n$  of  $\mathcal{G}$ , the partition function will only differ by an overall constant  $e^{2\pi i\mu n}$  as obtained from (3.30). For simplicity we will consider  $\tilde{g} = \mathbf{1}$ . The character in such a case can be found by setting n = 0 and taking the limit  $x \to 1^+$  from the hyperbolic side in (3.30). In this limit, the character is divergent, yet the divergence is independent of the representation, s. Thus, as suggested in section 3.3, we find that after setting  $k_0 = -i$  via analytic continuation in the limit  $B \to \infty$ ,

$$Z_{k_0} \propto \Xi \int_0^\infty ds \,\rho(s) e^{-\frac{e\beta s^2}{2}}, \qquad \rho(s) \equiv s \,\sinh(2\pi s), \qquad (3.31)$$

where  $\Xi = \lim_{x \to 1^+, n=0} \chi_{s,\mu}(g)$  is the divergent factor mentioned above, which comes from summing over all states in each continuous series irrep  $\lambda = 1/2 + is$ . Note that we have absorbed the factor of  $e^{-B}$  in (3.29) by redefining our regularization scheme, thus changing the partition function by an overall proportionality constant. In the remainder of this paper we will use this regularization scheme in order to compute all observables.

Performing the integral in (3.31) we find

$$Z_{k_0} = \Xi \left(\frac{2\pi}{e\beta}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} e^{\frac{2\pi^2}{e\beta}}.$$
(3.32)

Thus, up to an overall regularization dependent factor, we have constructed a bulk gauge theory whose energies and density of states (3.31) match that of the Schwarzian theory (3.10) for  $\frac{1}{C} = e$ , reproducing the relationship suggested in the classical analysis.

#### 4 Wilson lines, bi-local operators and probe particles

An important class of observables in any gauge theory are Wilson lines and Wilson loops,

$$\widehat{\mathcal{W}}_R(\mathcal{C}) = \chi_R\left(\mathcal{P}\exp\int_{\mathcal{C}} A\right),\qquad(4.1)$$

where R is an irreducible representation of the gauge group, C denotes the underlying path or loop, and  $\chi_R(g)$  is the character of  $\mathcal{G}$ . When placing the theory on a topologically trivial manifold all Wilson loops that do not intersect the defect are contractible and therefore have trivial expectation values. A more interesting class of non-trivial non-local operators in the gauge theory are the Wilson lines that intersect the defect loop and are anchored on the boundary.

To determine the duals of such operators, we start by focusing on Wilson lines in the positive or negative discrete series irreducible representation of  $\mathcal{G}$ , with  $R = (\lambda^{\pm}, \pm \frac{2\pi\lambda}{R})$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>In appendix A we confirm the expectation that (3.29) reproduces the partition function in the Schwarzian theory when twisting the boundary condition for the field F(u) by an  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  transformation  $\tilde{g}$ . We expect such configurations with non-trivial holonomy to correspond to singular gravitational configurations.

where the  $\pm$  superscripts distinguish between the positive and negative discrete series. In the  $B \to \infty$  limit, this representation becomes  $R = (\lambda^{\pm}, 0)$ .<sup>34</sup> As we will discuss in detail below, in order to regularize the expectation value of these boundary-anchored Wilson lines, we will replace the character  $\chi_R(g)$  in (4.1) by a truncated sum  $\overline{\chi}_R(g)$  over the diagonal elements of the matrix associated to the infinite-dimensional representation R.

We propose the duality between such Wilson lines, "renormalized" by an overall constant  $N_R$ ,

$$\mathcal{W}_{\lambda} \equiv \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{R}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1},\tau_{2}})/N_{R} = \overline{\chi}_{R} \left( \mathcal{P} \exp \int_{\mathcal{C}} A \right)/N_{R}, \qquad (4.2)$$

and bi-local operators  $\mathcal{O}_{\lambda}(\tau_1, \tau_2)$  in the Schwarzian theory, defined in terms of the field F(u) appearing in (1.3)

$$\mathcal{O}_{\lambda}(\tau_1, \tau_2) \equiv \left(\frac{\sqrt{F'(\tau_1)F'(\tau_2)}}{F(\tau_1) - F(\tau_2)}\right)^{2\lambda}.$$
(4.3)

Our goal in this section will thus be to provide evidence that<sup>35</sup>

$$\mathcal{O}_{\lambda}(\tau_1, \tau_2) \iff \mathcal{W}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1, \tau_2}),$$
(4.4)

for any boundary-anchored path  $C_{\tau_1,\tau_2}$  on the disk D that intersects I at points  $\tau_1$  and  $\tau_2$  (see the bottom-left diagram in figure 4).<sup>36</sup>

If imposing that gauge transformations are fixed to the identity along the boundary, the group element  $g = \mathcal{P} \exp \int_{\mathcal{C}} A$  is itself gauge invariant. While so far it was solely necessary to fix the holonomy around the boundary, to make the boundary-anchored Wilson lines (4.2) well-defined, we have to now specify the value of the gauge field on the boundary.<sup>37</sup> For this reason throughout this section we will set  $A_{\tau} = 0$ . With this choice of boundary conditions, we will perform the path integral with various Wilson line insertions and match with the corresponding correlation functions of the bilocal operators computed using the equivalence between the Schwarzian theory and a suitable large c limit of 2D Virasoro CFT [45].

 $<sup>^{34}</sup>$ If choosing the Wilson lines to be in the principal series representations, they would have imaginary correlation functions whose meaning is not clear in the context of a physical theory where we expect the expectation value of observables to be real. From the perspective of a particle moving on a worldline discussed in section 4.1 and in appendix E, Wilson lines in the principal series representation are equivalent to probe particles whose mass is imaginary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>As we will elaborate on shortly, when using the proper normalization, both Wilson lines in the positive or negative discrete series representation  $\mathcal{D}^{\pm}_{\lambda}$  will be dual to insertions of  $\mathcal{O}_{\lambda}(\tau_1, \tau_2)$ . For intersecting Wilson-line insertions we will consider the associated representations to be either all positive discrete series or all negative discrete series. Note that the gauge theory has a charge-conjugation symmetry due to the  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  outer-automorphism of the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  algebra that acts as  $(P_0, P_1, P_2) \rightarrow (-P_0, P_1, -P_2)$ . In particular, the principal series representations are self-conjugate, but the positive and negative series representations  $\mathcal{D}^{\pm}_{\lambda}$  are exchanged under this  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ . Since the boundary condition  $A_{\tau} = 0$  preserves the charge-conjugation symmetry, the Wilson lines associated to the representations  $\mathcal{D}^{\pm}_{\lambda}$  have equal expectation values.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>Similar Wilson lines have been previously considered for compact gauge group [67]. They have also been considered in the context of a dimensional reduction from 3D Chern-Simons gravity [26, 37].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>More precisely we have to specify the holonomy between any two points at which the Wilson lines intersect the boundary.

We then generalize our result to any configuration of Wilson lines and reproduce the general diagrammatic 'Feynman rules' conjectured in [45] for correlation functions of bilocal operators in the Schwarzian theory.

#### 4.1 Gravitational interpretation of the Wilson line operators

The matching between correlation functions of the bilocal operator and of boundaryanchored Wilson lines should not come as a surprise. On the boundary side, the bilocal operator should be thought of as coupling the Schwarzian theory to matter. After rewriting JT-gravity as the bulk gauge theory, the Wilson lines are described by coupling a pointprobe particle to gravity. A similar situation has been studied when describing 3D Einstein gravity in terms of a 3D Chern-Simons theory with non-compact gauge group [35, 68–74], and the relation is analogous in 2D, in the rewriting presented in section 2.1. Specifically, as we present in detail in appendix E, the following two operator insertions are equivalent in the gauge theory/gravitational theory:<sup>38</sup>

$$\mathcal{W}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1}\tau_{2}}) \cong \int_{\text{paths}} \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1}\tau_{2}}} ds \sqrt{g_{\alpha\beta} \dot{x}^{\alpha} \dot{x}^{\beta}}.$$
(4.5)

The right-hand side represents the functional integral over all paths x(s) diffeomorphic to the curve  $C_{\tau_1\tau_2}$  weighted with the standard point particle action (with  $\dot{x}^{\alpha} = \frac{dx^{\alpha}}{ds}$ ). In turn, this action is equal to the mass m times the proper length of the path, where the mass m is determined by the representation  $\lambda$  of the Wilson line,  $m^2 = -C_2(\lambda) = \lambda(\lambda - 1)$ . In computing their expectation values, the mapping between the gauge theory and the gravitational theory should schematically yield

$$\int D\phi DAe^{-S_E[A]} \frac{\chi_R(g)}{\mathcal{C}_R} = \int Dg_{\mu\nu} D\Phi \int_{\text{paths}} \left[ dx \right] e^{-S_{JT}[g,\Phi] - m \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1 \tau_2}} ds \sqrt{g_{\alpha\beta} \dot{x}^{\alpha} \dot{x}^{\beta}}} \,. \tag{4.6}$$

Thus, the expectation value of Wilson lines does not only match the expectation value of bi-local operators on the boundary, but it also offers the possibility to compute the exact coupling to probe matter in JT-gravity (see [22] for an alternative perspective).

#### 4.2 Two-point function

The correlation function for a single Wilson line that ends on two points on the boundary, in a 2D gauge theory placed on a disk D, is given by the gluing procedure described in section 3.1. Specifically, for the group  $\mathcal{G}$ , the un-normalized expectation value is given by

$$\langle \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda^{\pm},k}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1,\tau_2}) \rangle(g) = \int dh Z\left(h, e\tau_{21}\right) \chi_{\lambda,k}^{\pm}(h) Z\left(gh^{-1}, e\tau_{12}\right) , \qquad (4.7)$$

where  $\tau_{21} = \tau_2 - \tau_1$  is the length of *I* enclosed by the boundary-anchored Wilson line  $C_{\tau_1,\tau_2}$ and  $\tau_{12} = \beta - \tau_2 + \tau_1$  is the complementary length of *I*. Here and below,  $Z(h, e\tau)$  is the

 $<sup>^{38}</sup>$ Note that the discussion in appendix E shows the equivalence of the two insertions beyond the classical level. Typically, in 3D Chern-Simons theory the equivalence has been shown to be on-shell. See for instance [73].



Figure 4. Several Euclidean Wilson line configurations, equivalent to different finite temperature correlation functions of the bi-local operator  $\mathcal{O}_{\lambda}(x_1, x_2)$ : the top-left figure shows  $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\lambda}(\tau_1, \tau_2) \rangle_{\beta} = \langle \mathcal{W}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1, \tau_2}) \rangle$ , the top-right figure yields the equality of the time-ordered correlators  $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\lambda_1}(\tau_1, \tau_2) \mathcal{O}_{\lambda_2}(\tau_3, \tau_4) \rangle_{\beta} = \langle \mathcal{W}_{\lambda_1}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1, \tau_2}) \mathcal{W}_{\lambda_2}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_3, \tau_4}) \rangle$ , the bottom-left figure shows a pair of intersecting Wilson lines that can be disentangled to the top-right configuration, while the bottom-right figure gives the out-of-time-ordered configurations. Note that the results are independent of the trajectory of the Wilson line inside of the bulk and only depend on the location where the Wilson lines intersect the defect.

partition function computed in (3.28) on a patch of the disk, in the presence of a defect of length  $\tau$  inside the patch, when setting the holonomy to be h around the boundary of the patch. The total  $\mathcal{G}$  holonomy around the boundary holonomy of the disk is set to g. Since we are interested in the case in which the gauge field along the boundary is trivial, we will want to consider the limit  $\tilde{g} \to \mathbf{1}$  at the end of this computation. As was previously mentioned, the Wilson line is in the positive or negative discrete series representation ( $\lambda^{\pm}, k = 0$ ) of  $\mathcal{G}$ , where  $k = \mp \frac{2\pi\lambda}{B}$  is the  $\mathbb{R}$  representation mentioned in section 3 that becomes 0 due to the  $B \to \infty$  limit. Expanding (4.7) in terms of characters by using (3.28), we find

$$\langle \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda^{\pm},k}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1},\tau_{2}}) \rangle(g) = \int dh \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dk_{1} dk_{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} ds_{1} ds_{2} \rho\left(\frac{Bk_{1}}{2\pi}, s_{1}\right) \rho\left(\frac{Bk_{2}}{2\pi}, s_{2}\right) \\ \times \chi_{(s_{1},\mu_{1}=-\frac{Bk_{1}}{2\pi},k_{1})}(h) \,\overline{\chi}_{\lambda,k}^{\pm}(h) \,\chi_{(s_{2},\mu_{2}=-\frac{Bk_{2}}{2\pi},k_{2})}(gh^{-1})e^{-\frac{e}{2}\left[s_{1}^{2}\tau_{21}+s_{2}^{2}\tau_{12}\right]} \\ + \text{ discrete series contributions }.$$

$$(4.8)$$

As in the previous sections, we are interested in obtaining observables in the presence of mixed boundary conditions in which we set  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}} = k_0 = -i$ . This isolates the representations with  $k_1 = k_2 = -i$  and, the limit  $B \to \infty$  sets the  $\mathbb{R}$  representation of the Wilson line  $k = \pm 2\pi\lambda/B \to 0.^{39}$  However, an order of limits issue appears: since the  $\mathcal{G}$  representation of the Wilson line is infinite dimensional we have to consider the  $B \to \infty$  limit carefully. Thus, instead of inserting the full character in (4.7) we truncate the number of states in the positive or negative discrete series using the cut-off  $\Xi$ , with  $\Xi \ll B$ ,

$$\overline{\chi}_{\lambda^{\pm},0}(g) = \sum_{k=0}^{\Xi} U^{\pm(\lambda+k)}_{\lambda,\pm(\lambda+k)}(\tilde{g}), \qquad (4.9)$$

where  $g = (\tilde{g}, \theta)$  with  $\tilde{g}$  an element of  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  and  $\theta$  an element of  $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $U_{\lambda, \pm(\lambda+k)}^{\pm(\lambda+k)}(\tilde{g})$  is the  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  matrix element computed explicitly in appendix C.

Since the values of  $k_i$  are fixed and the integral over the  $\mathbb{R}$  component of h is trivial, we are thus left with performing the integral over the  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  components  $\tilde{h}$  of h. In order to perform this integral, we use the  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  fusion coefficients between two continuous series representations and a discrete series representation that we computed in appendix D in the limit  $\mu_1, \mu_2 \to i\infty$ . When expanding the product of an  $\mathcal{C}_{s_1}^{\mu \to i\infty}$  continuous series and a  $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda^{\pm}}$  discrete series character into characters of the continuous series  $\mathcal{C}_{s_2}^{\mu\pm\lambda} = \mathcal{C}_{s_2}^{\mu\to i\infty}$ , we find the fusion coefficients between the three representations,  $N^{\lambda}{}_{s_1,s_2} = N^{s_2}{}_{s_1,\lambda}$ . Specifically, as we describe in great detail in appendix D,

$$\int d\tilde{h}\chi_{(s_1,\mu_1\to i\infty)}(\tilde{h})\overline{\chi}_{\lambda^{\pm}}(\tilde{h})\chi_{(s_2,\mu_2\to i\infty)}(\tilde{g}\tilde{h}^{-1}) = N_{\lambda^{\pm}} N^{s_2}{}_{s_1,\lambda} \chi_{(s_2,\mu_2\to i\infty)}(\tilde{g}) + \text{discrete series contributions}, \quad (4.10)$$

where  $N^{s_2}_{s_1,\lambda}$  is given by

$$N^{s_2}{}_{s_1,\lambda} = \frac{|\Gamma(\lambda + is_1 - is_2)\Gamma(\lambda + is_1 + is_2)|^2}{\Gamma(2\lambda)} = \frac{\Gamma(\lambda \pm is_1 \pm is_2)}{\Gamma(2\lambda)}, \quad (4.11)$$

where  $\Gamma(x \pm y \pm z) \equiv \Gamma(x + y + z)\Gamma(x - y - z)\Gamma(x + y - z)\Gamma(x - y + z)$ . The fusion coefficient has an overall normalization coefficient,  $N_{\lambda^{\pm}}$ , that appears in (4.10) and is computed in appendix D and is independent of  $s_1$  and  $s_2$ . We can thus properly define the "renormalized" Wilson line, as previously mentioned in (4.2),

$$\mathcal{W}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1,\tau_2}) \equiv \frac{\widetilde{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda^{\pm},k\to 0}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1,\tau_2})}{N_{\lambda^{\pm}}}, \qquad (4.12)$$

 $<sup>^{39}</sup>$ In this limit, all contributions appearing as sums over the discrete series representations in (4.8) once again vanish.

JHEP11(2019)091

for which the associated fusion coefficient  $N^{s_2}{}_{s_1,\lambda}$  is independent of whether the discrete series representation is given  $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda^+}$  or  $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda^-}$ . Furthermore, since all unitary discrete series representations appearing in the partition function are suppressed in the  $B \to \infty$  limit, they do not contribute in the thermal correlation function of any number of Wilson lines. Consequently, plugging (4.10) and (3.29) into (4.8) we find

$$\langle \mathcal{W}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1},\tau_{2}}) \rangle_{k_{0}}(\tilde{g}) \propto \int ds_{1}\rho(s_{1})ds_{2}\rho(s_{2})N^{s_{2}}{}_{s_{1},\lambda}\,\chi_{s_{2}}(\tilde{g})e^{-\frac{e}{2}\left[(\tau_{2}-\tau_{1})s_{1}^{2}+(\beta-\tau_{2}+\tau_{1})s_{2}^{2}\right]},\quad(4.13)$$

where we have set the value of  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}} = -i$  along the boundary. When taking the limit  $\tilde{g} \to \mathbf{1}$ , one can evaluate the limit of the  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  characters to find the normalized expectation value

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{W}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1},\tau_{2}})\rangle_{k_{0}}}{Z_{k_{0}}} \propto \left(\frac{e\beta}{2\pi}\right)^{3/2} e^{-\frac{2\pi^{2}}{e\beta}} \int ds_{1}\rho(s_{1})ds_{2}\rho(s_{2}) N^{s_{2}}{}_{s_{1},\lambda} e^{-\frac{e}{2}\left[(\tau_{2}-\tau_{1})s_{1}^{2}+(\beta-\tau_{2}+\tau_{1})s_{2}^{2}\right]} \\ \propto \left(\frac{e\beta}{2\pi}\right)^{3/2} e^{-\frac{2\pi^{2}}{e\beta}} \int ds_{1}^{2}ds_{2}^{2}\sinh(2\pi s_{1})\sinh(2\pi s_{2})\frac{\Gamma(\lambda\pm is_{1}\pm is_{2})}{\Gamma(2\lambda)} \\ \times e^{-\frac{e}{2}\left[(\tau_{2}-\tau_{1})s_{1}^{2}+(\beta-\tau_{2}+\tau_{1})s_{2}^{2}\right]}, \qquad (4.14)$$

where  $\Gamma(\lambda \pm is_1 \pm is_2)$  was defined after (4.11). Using the correspondence e = 1/C, the result agrees precisely with the computation [45] of the expectation value of a single bilocal operator  $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\lambda}(\tau_1, \tau_2) \rangle$  in the Schwarzian theory. The result there was obtained using the equivalence between the Schwarzian theory and a suitable large c limit of 2D Virasoro CFT and had no direct interpretation in terms of  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  representation theory.<sup>40</sup> Here we can generalize their result and study more complicated Wilson line configurations to reproduce the conjectured Feynman rules [45] in the Schwarzian theory.

#### 4.3 Time-ordered correlators

For instance, we can consider n non-intersecting Wilson lines inserted along the contours  $C_{\tau_1,\tau_2}, \ldots, C_{\tau_{2n-1},\tau_{2n}}$  with  $\tau_1 < \tau_2 < \cdots < \tau_{2n}$ . As an example, the Wilson line configuration for the time-ordered correlator of two bi-local operators is represented in the top right column of figure 4. The *n*-point function is given by,

$$\left\langle \prod_{i=1}^{n} \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda_{i}^{\pm},k_{i}}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{2i-1},\tau_{2i}}) \right\rangle (g) = \int \left( \prod_{i=1}^{n} dh_{i} \right) \left( \prod_{i=1}^{n} Z\left(h_{i}, e\tau_{2i,2i-}\right) \overline{\chi}_{\lambda_{i},k}^{\pm}(h_{i}) \right) \times Z\left(g(h_{1}\dots h_{n})^{-1}, e\tau_{1,2n}\right), \qquad (4.15)$$

where  $\tau_{2i,2i-1} = \tau_{2i} - \tau_{2i-1}$  is the length of an individual segment along I enclosed by the contour  $C_{\tau_{2i-1},\tau_{2i}}$ , while  $\tau_{2n,1} = \beta - \tau_{12} - \ldots - \tau_{2n-1,2n}$  is the length of the segment along I complementary to the union of  $C_{\tau_1,\tau_2}, \ldots, C_{\tau_{2n-1},\tau_{2n}}$ . Once again, all Wilson lines are in the positive or negative discrete series representation  $(\lambda_i^{\pm}, k_i) = \lim_{B \to \infty} (\lambda_i^{\pm}, \pm 2\pi\lambda_i/B) = (\lambda_i^{\pm}, 0)$ . Following the procedure presented in the previous subsection, we set the overall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>However, the recent paper of [26, 37] offer an interpretation in terms of representations of the semigroup  $SL^+(2, \mathbb{R})$ .

holonomy for the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  components of the gauge field to  $\tilde{g} \to \mathbf{1}$  and isolate the representations with  $k_0 = \phi^{\mathbb{R}} = -i$ . We find

$$\frac{\langle \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{W}_{\lambda_{i}}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{2i-1},\tau_{2i}}) \rangle_{k_{0}}}{Z_{k_{0}}} = \left(\frac{e\beta}{2\pi}\right)^{3/2} e^{-\frac{2\pi^{2}}{e\beta}} \int ds_{0}\rho(s_{0}) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} ds_{1}\rho(s_{1})\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} N^{s_{0}}{}_{s_{i},\lambda_{i}}\right) \\ \times \exp\left\{-\frac{e}{2}\left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} s_{i}^{2}(\tau_{2i}-\tau_{2i-1})\right) + s_{0}^{2}\left(\beta - \sum_{i=1}^{n}(\tau_{2i}-\tau_{2i-1})\right)\right]\right\}.$$

$$(4.16)$$

This result does not only agree with the time-ordered correlator of two bilocal operators in the Schwarzian theory, but it also reproduces the conjectured Feynman rule for any time-ordered bi-local correlator [45] and gives them an interpretation in terms of  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ representation theory. Specifically, to each segment between two anchoring points on the boundary we can associate an  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  principal series representation labeled by  $s_i$ . Furthermore, at each anchoring point of the Wilson line, or at each insertion point of the bi-local operator, we associate the square-root of the fusion coefficient. Diagrammatically [45],

$$\tau_2 \wedge \tau_1 = e^{-s^2(\tau_2 - \tau_1)}, \qquad \lambda \rangle_{s_2}^{s_1} = \sqrt{N^{s_1}}_{s_2,\lambda}. \quad (4.17)$$

Finally, we integrate over all principal series representation labels  $s_i$  associated to boundary segments using the Plancherel measure  $\rho(s_0) \cdots \rho(s_n)$ . Since for time-ordered correlators, both anchoring points of any Wilson line contributes the same fusion coefficient, we square the contribution of the right vertex in (4.17), in agreement with our expression in (4.16).

## 4.4 Out-of-time-ordered correlators and intersecting Wilson lines

While for time-ordered correlators we have considered disjoint Wilson lines,<sup>41</sup> in order to reproduce correlators of out-of-time-ordered correlators we have to discuss intersecting Wilson line configurations. As an example, we show the Wilson line configuration associated to the correlator of two out-of-time-ordered bi-locals in figure 4 in the bottom-right. The correlator of intersecting Wilson loops in Yang-Mills theory with a compact gauge group has been determined in [49]. Using the gluing procedure, the expectation value of the intersecting Wilson lines in the bottom-right of figure 4, when fixing the overall boundary  $\mathcal{G}$  holonomy, is given by<sup>42</sup>

$$\langle \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda_{1}^{\pm},0}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1},\tau_{2}}) \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda_{2}^{\pm},0}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{3},\tau_{4}}) \rangle(g) = \int dh_{1} dh_{2} dh_{3} dh_{4} Z\left(h_{1}h_{2}^{-1}, e\tau_{31}\right) Z\left(h_{2}h_{3}^{-1}, e\tau_{32}\right) \\ \times Z\left(h_{3}h_{4}^{-1}, e\tau_{42}\right) Z\left(g h_{4}h_{1}^{-1}, e\tau_{41}\right) \\ \times \overline{\chi}_{\lambda_{1}^{\pm},0}(h_{1}h_{3}^{-1}) \overline{\chi}_{\lambda_{2}^{\pm},0}(h_{2}h_{4}^{-1}),$$

$$(4.18)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup>We will revisit this assumption shortly.

 $<sup>^{42}</sup>$ Once again the  $\pm$  signs for the two discrete series representation of the two lines are uncorrelated.

where we consider the ordering  $0 < \tau_1 < \tau_3 < \tau_2 < \tau_4 < \beta$ , with  $\tau_{41} = \beta - \tau_4 + \tau_1$ , and we are once again interested in the limit  $\tilde{g} \to \mathbf{1}$ . Using the formula (3.29) for the partition function, one finds that performing the group integrals over  $h_1, \ldots, h_4$  gives eight Clebsch-Gordan coefficients associated to the representations of the four areas separated by Wilson lines and to the two representations of the Wilson lines themselves (see appendix D.3 for a detailed account). Collecting the Clebsch-Gordan coefficients associated to the bulk vertex one finds the 6-j symbol of  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ , which we call  $R_{s_a s_b} \begin{bmatrix} s_2 & \lambda_2 \\ s_1 & \lambda_1 \end{bmatrix}$ , which can schematically be represented as

$$s_{3} \qquad \lambda_{2} \qquad \lambda_{1} \qquad s_{4} \qquad = \qquad R_{s_{3}s_{4}} \begin{bmatrix} s_{2} \ \lambda_{2} \\ s_{1} \ \lambda_{1} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \tag{4.19}$$

As we discuss in detail in appendix D.3, the 6-j symbol is given by [75, 76]

$$R_{s_a s_b} \begin{bmatrix} s_2 & \lambda_2 \\ s_1 & \lambda_1 \end{bmatrix} = \mathbb{W}(s_a, s_b; \lambda_1 + is_2, \lambda_1 - is_2, \lambda_2 - is_1, \lambda_2 + is_1)$$

$$\times \sqrt{\Gamma(\lambda_2 \pm is_1 \pm is_a)\Gamma(\lambda_1 \pm is_2 \pm is_a)\Gamma(\lambda_1 \pm is_1 \pm is_b)\Gamma(\lambda_2 \pm is_2 \pm is_b)},$$

$$(4.20)$$

where  $\mathbb{W}(s_a, s_b; \lambda_1 + is_2, \lambda_1 - is_2, \lambda_2 - is_1, \lambda_2 + is_1)$  denotes the Wilson function which is defined by a linear combination of  $_4F_3$  functions. Thus, the expectation value of two intersecting Wilson lines when setting the holonomy for the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R})$  components to  $\tilde{g} \to \mathbf{1}$ and setting  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}} = -i$  is given by

$$\langle \mathcal{W}_{\lambda_{1}}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1},\tau_{2}})\mathcal{W}_{\lambda_{2}}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{3},\tau_{4}})\rangle_{k_{0}}(\tilde{g}) \propto \int R_{s_{3}s_{4}} \left[ s_{2} \lambda_{2} \atop s_{1} \lambda_{1} \right] \sqrt{N^{s_{4}}\lambda_{1,s_{1}}N^{s_{3}}\lambda_{1,s_{2}}N^{s_{3}}\lambda_{2,s_{1}}N^{s_{4}}\lambda_{2,s_{2}}} \\ \times \chi_{s_{b}}(\tilde{g}) e^{-\frac{e}{2} \left[ s_{1}^{2}(\tau_{3}-\tau_{1})+s_{3}^{2}(\tau_{3}-\tau_{2})+s_{2}^{2}(\tau_{4}-\tau_{2})+s_{4}^{2}(\beta-\tau_{4}+\tau_{1}) \right]} \prod_{i=1}^{4} ds_{i}\rho(s_{i})$$

$$(4.21)$$

where the exponential factors are those associated to each disk partition function  $Z(h, e\tau_{ij})$ appearing in (4.18), while the factors  $N^{s_i}{}_{\lambda_k,s_k}$  are the remainder from the fusion coefficients after collecting all factors necessary for the 6-j symbol. Evaluating the correlator with a  $A_{\tau} = 0$  on the boundary and dividing by the partition function, we find

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{W}_{\lambda_1}(\mathcal{S}_{\tau_1,\tau_2})\mathcal{W}_{\lambda_2}(\mathcal{S}_{\tau_3,\tau_4})\rangle}{Z_{k_0}} = \left(\frac{e\beta}{2\pi}\right)^{3/2} e^{-\frac{2\pi^2}{e\beta}} \int R_{s_3s_4} \left[\frac{s_2}{s_1}\frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_1}\right] \sqrt{N^{s_4}\lambda_{1,s_1}N^{s_3}\lambda_{1,s_2}N^{s_3}\lambda_{2,s_1}N^{s_4}\lambda_{2,s_2}} \\ \times e^{-\frac{e}{2}\left[s_1^2(\tau_3-\tau_1)+s_3^2(\tau_3-\tau_2)+s_2^2(\tau_4-\tau_2)+s_4^2(\beta-\tau_4+\tau_1)\right]} \prod_{i=1}^4 ds_i \rho(s_i),$$

$$(4.22)$$

which is in agreement with the result for the out-of-time order correlator for two bi-local operators obtained in the Schwarzian theory in [45].

The result (4.22) is easily generalizable to any intersecting Wilson line configuration as one simply needs to associated the symbol  $R_{s_3s_4}\begin{bmatrix} s_2 & \lambda_2 \\ s_1 & \lambda_1 \end{bmatrix}$  to any intersection.<sup>43</sup> This reproduces the conjectured Feynman rule for the Schwarzian bi-local operators,

$$s_{3} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{2} \\ \lambda_{1} \\ \lambda_{2} \end{pmatrix} s_{4} = R_{s_{3}s_{4}} \begin{bmatrix} s_{2} \\ \lambda_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ \lambda_{1} \end{bmatrix} s_{3} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{1} \\ \lambda_{2} \\ \lambda_{2} \\ s_{2} \end{pmatrix} s_{4} , \qquad (4.23)$$

where one multiplies the diagram on the right by the 6-j symbol before performing the integrals associated to the  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  representation labels along the edges.<sup>44</sup>

Finally, as a consistency check we verify that correlation functions are insensitive to Wilson lines intersections that can be uncrossed in the bulk, without touching the defect loop I (as that in the bottom-left figure 4). Diagrammatically, we want to prove for instance the Feynman rule



We will denote the contours of two such Wilson lines as  $\tilde{C}_{\tau_1,\tau_2}$  and  $\tilde{C}_{\tau_3,\tau_4}$ , where we assume that  $0 < \tau_1 < \tau_2 < \tau_3 < \tau_4 < \beta$ . The expectation value in such a configuration is given by

$$\langle \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda_{1}^{\pm},0}(\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\tau_{1},\tau_{2}})\widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda_{2}^{\pm},0}(\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\tau_{3},\tau_{4}})\rangle(g) = \int dh_{1}dh_{2}dh_{3}dh_{4}dh_{5}dh_{6} Z\left(h_{1}h_{2}^{-1}, e\tau_{41}\right) Z\left(h_{5}^{-1}h_{3}^{-1}h_{1}^{-1}, e\tau_{12}\right) \times Z\left(h_{6}^{-1}h_{5}, e\tau_{23}\right) Z\left(g\,h_{2}h_{4}h_{6}, e\tau_{43}\right) Z\left(h_{3}h_{4}^{-1}, 0\right) \times \overline{\chi}_{\lambda_{1}^{\pm},0}(h_{1}h_{4}h_{5})\overline{\chi}_{\lambda_{2}^{\pm},0}(h_{2}h_{3}h_{6}).$$

$$(4.25)$$

Using (3.29), we will associate the representation labeled by  $s_4$ ,  $s_2$ ,  $s_3$ ,  $s_1$ , and s, in this order, to the five disk partition functions in (4.25). Performing all the group integrals we once again obtain a contracted sum of Clebsch-Gordan coefficients each of which is associated to a Wilson line representation and the representations labelling two neighboring regions. Performing the contractions for all of the Clebsch-Gordan coefficients we find two 6-j symbol symbols,  $R_{s_3s} \begin{bmatrix} s_2 & \lambda_2 \\ s_1 & \lambda_1 \end{bmatrix}$  and  $R_{s_4s} \begin{bmatrix} s_2 & \lambda_2 \\ s_1 & \lambda_1 \end{bmatrix}$ , each associated to the 6 representations that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup>Note that in the compact case discussed in [49] the gauge group 6-j symbol appears squared. This is due to the fact that when considering two Wilson loops which are not boundary-anchored they typically intersect at two points in the bulk.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup>Note that the right diagram in (4.23) is just a useful mnemonic for performing computations that involve intersecting Wilson lines. It does not correspond to a configuration in the gauge theory since the representations  $s_3$  and  $s_4$  are kept distinct even though they would correspond to the same bulk patch in the gauge theory.

go around each of the two vertices. The remaining sums over Clebsch-Gordan coefficients yield the product of four fusion coefficients,  $\sqrt{N^{s_4}\lambda_{1,s_2}N^{s_2}\lambda_{1,s_3}N^{s_3}\lambda_{2,s_1}N^{s_1}\lambda_{2,s_4}}$ .

Using the orthogonality relation for the 6-j symbol that follows from properties of the Wilson function (see [75, 76])

$$\int ds \rho(s,\mu) R_{s_3s} \begin{bmatrix} s_2 & \lambda_2 \\ s_1 & \lambda_1 \end{bmatrix} R_{s_4s} \begin{bmatrix} s_2 & \lambda_2 \\ s_1 & \lambda_1 \end{bmatrix} + \text{ discrete series contribution} = \frac{\delta(s_3 - s_4)}{\rho(s_3,\mu_3)}, \quad (4.26)$$

where  $\rho(s,\mu)$  is the Plancherel measure defined in (3.14), we find that if there's a bulk region enclosed by intersecting Wilson that does not overlap with the defect loop, one can always perform the integral over the corresponding representation label s to eliminate this region. The integral over  $s_3$  or  $s_4$  then becomes trivial due to the delta-function in (4.26) and thus the remaining fusion coefficients reproduce those in (4.16) for two non-intersecting Wilson lines.

Thus, putting together (4.24), (4.23), and (4.17), we have re-derived the diagrammatic rules needed to compute the expectation value of any bi-local operator configuration. These rules are simply reproduced combinatorially in the gauge theory starting from the basic axioms presented in section 3.1.

#### 4.5 Wilson lines and local observables

While one can recover the correlation functions of some local observables by considering the zero length limit for various loop or line operators, it is informative to also independently compute correlation functions of local operators. In this section, we consider the operator tr  $\phi^2(x)$  which is topological (see (2.16)). Consequently correlators of tr  $\phi^2(x)$  are independent of the location of insertion. Indeed they can be easily obtained by insertions of the Hamiltonian operator at various points in the path integral, the un-normalized correlation function is given by

$$\langle \operatorname{tr} \phi^2(x_1) \dots \operatorname{tr} \phi^2(x_n) \rangle_{k_0} = (e/4)^{-n} \langle H(x_1) \dots H(x_n) \rangle_{k_0}$$
$$\propto \Xi \int ds \,\rho(s) s^{2n} e^{-e\beta s^2/2} \,, \tag{4.27}$$

where we first evaluated the correlator for a generic value of the boundary  $\mathcal{G}$  holonomy and then fixed the value of the field  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}}$  on the boundary and send  $B \to \infty$  as described in section 3. At separated points, the correlator (4.27) agrees with that of n insertions of the Schwarzian operator [9, 45], thus showing that the Schwarzian operator and tr  $\phi^2$ are equivalent, as shown classically in section 2.3.<sup>45</sup> This computation explains why the correlators of the Schwarzian operator at separated points are given by moments of the energy E computed with the probability distribution  $\rho(\sqrt{E}/e)$ , as first observed in [9].

In the presence of Wilson line insertions, the operator tr  $\phi^2$  remains topological as long as we do not move it across a Wilson line. Consequently the correlation functions of tr  $\phi^2$ depend only on the number of tr  $\phi^2$  insertions within each patch separated by the Wilson

 $<sup>^{45}</sup>$ However, the contact terms associated with these correlators are different. We hope to determine the exact bulk operator dual to the Schwarzian in future work.

lines. For instance, we can consider the insertion of  $p = p_0 + p_1 + p_2 + \cdots + p_n$  tr  $\phi^2$  operators in the non-intersecting Wilson lines correlator considered in section 4.3, as follows. Let us put  $p_0$  operators in the bulk and outside of the contour of any of the Wilson lines, together with  $p_1$  tr  $\phi^2$ , operators enclosed by  $C_{\tau_1, \tau_2}$ ,  $p_2$  such operators enclosed by  $C_{\tau_3, \tau_4}$ , and so on. The separated point correlator is then

$$\frac{\left\langle \left(\prod_{j=1}^{p} \operatorname{tr} \phi^{2}(x_{j})\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{W}_{\lambda_{i}}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{2i-1},\tau_{2i}})\right)\right\rangle_{k_{0}}}{Z_{k_{0}}} = \left(\frac{e\beta}{2\pi}\right)^{3/2} e^{-\frac{2\pi^{2}}{e\beta}} \int ds_{0}\rho(s_{0}) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} ds_{i}\rho(s_{i})\right)$$
$$\times s_{1}^{p_{1}} \dots s_{n}^{p_{n}} s_{0}^{p_{n+1}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} N^{s_{0}}_{s_{i},\lambda_{i}}\right) e^{-\frac{e}{2}\left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} s_{i}^{2}(\tau_{2i}-\tau_{2i-1})\right) + s_{0}^{2}\left(\beta-\sum_{i=1}^{n}(\tau_{2i}-\tau_{2i-1})\right)\right]}.$$
(4.28)

In the Schwarzian theory, such a correlator is expected to reproduce the expectation value

$$\left\langle \left[ \prod_{j=1}^{p} \{F, u\} |_{u=\tilde{\tau}_{j}} \right] \left[ \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{O}_{\lambda_{i}}(\tau_{2i-1}, \tau_{2i}) \right] \right\rangle,$$
(4.29)

where  $\tau_1 < \tilde{\tau}_1 < \ldots < \tilde{\tau}_{p_1} < \tau_2 < \ldots$  Such a computation can also be performed using the Virasoro CFT following the techniques outlined [45]. Following similar reasoning, one can consider the correlators of the operator tr  $\phi^2$  in the presence of any other Wilson line configurations.

#### 4.6 A network of non-local operators

While so far we have focused on Wilson lines that end on the boundary, we now compute the expectation values of more complex non-local operators that are invariant under bulk gauge transformations that approach the identity on the boundary. Such objects, together with the previously discussed Wilson lines, serve as the basic building blocks for constructing "networks" of Wilson lines that capture various scattering problems in the bulk. The simplest such operator that includes a vertex in the bulk is given by the junction of three Wilson lines

$$C_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2},\lambda_{3}}(g_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1},v}},g_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{2},v}},g_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{3},v}}) = \sum_{\substack{m_{1}=\lambda_{1}+\mathbb{Z}_{\leq\Xi}^{+},\\m_{2}=\lambda_{2}+\mathbb{Z}_{\leq\Xi}^{+}}} \sum_{\substack{n_{1}=\lambda_{1}+\mathbb{Z}^{+},\\n_{2}=\lambda_{2}+\mathbb{Z}^{+}}} \frac{C_{m_{1},m_{2},m_{1}+m_{2}}^{\lambda_{1}^{+},\lambda_{2}^{+},\lambda_{3}^{+}}}{\mathcal{N}_{\lambda_{1}^{+},\lambda_{2}^{+},\lambda_{3}^{+}}} \times U_{(\lambda_{1}^{+},0),n_{1}}^{m_{1}}(g_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1},v}})U_{(\lambda_{2}^{+},0),n_{2}}^{m_{2}}(g_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{2},v}})U_{(\lambda_{3}^{+},0),n_{1}+n_{2}}^{m_{1}+m_{2}}(g_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{3},v}}),$$

$$(4.30)$$

with

$$g_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_i,v}} = \mathcal{P} \exp\left(\int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_i,v}} A\right) \,, \tag{4.31}$$

where  $C_{\tau_i,v}$  is a contour which starts on the boundary, intersects the defect at a point  $\tau_i$ , and ends at a bulk vertex point v. As indicated in (4.30), the sums over  $m_1$  and  $m_2$  are



Figure 5. An example of a three-particle bulk interaction vertex corresponding to the junction of three Wilson lines defined by a Clebsch-Gordan coefficient at the vertex.

truncated by the cut-off  $\Xi$ . Such a non-local object is schematically represented in figure 5. For simplicity, we assume  $0 < \tau_1 < \tau_2 < \tau_3 < \beta$  and we consider  $\lambda_1$ ,  $\lambda_2$ ,  $\lambda_3$  labelling the Wilson lines to be positive discrete series representations. Once again,  $U^m_{(\lambda^+,0),n}(g)$ is the  $\mathcal{G}$  matrix element for the discrete representation  $(\lambda^+, 0)$ ,  $C^{\lambda_1^+, \lambda_2^+, \lambda_3^+}_{m_1, m_2, m_3}$  is the  $\widetilde{\mathrm{SL}}(2, \mathbb{R})$ (or, equivalently,  $\mathcal{G}$ ) Clebsch-Gordan coefficient for the representations  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2$ , and  $\lambda_3$ , and  $\mathcal{N}_{\lambda_1^+, \lambda_2^+, \lambda_3^+}$  is a normalization coefficient for the Clebsch-Gordan coefficients discussed in appendix D. Note that the operator (4.30) is invariant under bulk gauge transformations. This follows from combining the fact that a gauge transformation changes  $g_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_i,v}} \to g_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_i,v}} h_v$ , where  $h_v$  is an arbitrary  $\mathcal{G}$  element, with the identity

$$\sum_{m_1,m_2} U^{m_1}_{(\lambda_1^+,0),n_1}(h_v) U^{m_2}_{(\lambda_2^+,0),n_2}(h_v) U^{m_1+m_2}_{(\lambda_3^+,0),n_1+n_2}(h_v) C^{\lambda_1^+,\lambda_2^+,\lambda_3^+}_{m_1,m_2,m_1+m_2} = C^{\lambda_1^+,\lambda_2^+,\lambda_3^+}_{n_1,n_2,n_1+n_2}.$$
 (4.32)

Using the gluing rules specified in section 3.1, the expectation value of the operator (4.30) with holonomy g between the defect intersection points 3 and 1, and trivial holonomy between all other intersection points, is given by

$$\langle C_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2,\lambda_3} \rangle(g) = \int dh_1 dh_2 dh_3 Z(h_1 h_2^{-1}, e\tau_{12}) Z(h_2 h_3^{-1}, e\tau_{12}) Z(gh_3 h_1^{-1}, e\tau_{12})$$
  
 
$$\times C_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2,\lambda_3}(h_1,h_2,h_3).$$
 (4.33)

As before, we are interested in the case where we fix the  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  component of  $\mathcal{G}$  to  $\tilde{g} \to \mathbf{1}$ . Expanding (4.33) into  $\mathcal{G}$  matrix elements we find the product of eight Clebsch-Gordan coefficients. Summing up the Clebsch-Gordan coefficients that have unbounded state indices (those that involve that  $n_i$  indices instead of the  $m_i$  indices in (4.30)) we obtain the 6-j symbol with all representations associated to the bulk vertex,  $R_{\lambda_1 s_1} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_2 & \lambda_3 \\ s_2 & s_3 \end{bmatrix}$ , which is also related to the Wilson function as shown in [76]. Setting the boundary condition  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}} = -i$  and take  $\tilde{g} \to \mathbf{1}$  we find that the 6-j symbol together with the sum over the

remaining four Clebsch-Gordan coefficients yield

$$\frac{\langle C_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2,\lambda_3} \rangle}{Z_{k_0}} = \left(\frac{e\beta}{2\pi}\right)^{3/2} e^{-\frac{2\pi^2}{e\beta}} N_{\lambda_1^+,\lambda_2^+,\lambda_3^+} \\
\times \int ds_1 \rho(s_1) ds_2 \rho(s_2) ds_3 \rho(s_3) \sqrt{N^{s_1}_{\lambda_1,s_2} N^{s_2}_{\lambda_2,s_3} N^{s_3}_{\lambda_3,s_1}} \\
\times R_{\lambda_1 s_1} \left[ \lambda_2 \lambda_3 \atop s_2 \lambda_3 \right] e^{-\frac{e}{2} \left[ s_1^2 (\tau_2 - \tau_1) + s_2^2 (\tau_3 - \tau_2) + s_3^2 (\beta - \tau_3 + \tau_1) \right]},$$
(4.34)

where in the limit in which all continuous representations have  $\mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3 \to i\infty, N_{\lambda_1^+ \lambda_2^+ \lambda_3^+}$ is a normalization constant independent of the representations  $s_1, s_2$  or  $s_3$  that can be absorbed in the definition of the operator  $C_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2,\lambda_3}$ .

We expect that the same reasoning as that applied for boundary-anchored Wilson lines should show that such a non-local operator corresponds to inserting the world-line action of three particles which intersect at a point in  $AdS_2$  in the gravitational path integral (summing over all possible trajectories diffeomorphic to the initial paths shown in figure 5).<sup>46</sup> Thus, such insertions of non-local operators should capture the amplitude corresponding to a three-particle interaction in the bulk, at tree-level in the coupling constant between the three particles, but exact in the gravitational coupling. Similarly, by inserting a potentially more complex network of non-local gauge invariant operators in the path integral of the BF theory one might hope to capture the amplitude associated to any other type of interaction in the bulk.

#### 5 Discussion and future directions

We have thus managed to formulate a comprehensive holographic dictionary between the Schwarzian theory and the  $\mathcal{G}$  gauge theory: we have shown that the dynamics of the Schwarzian theory is equivalent to that of a defect loop in the  $\mathcal{G}$  gauge theory. Specifically, we have matched the partition function of the two theories, and have shown that bi-local operators in the boundary theory are mapped to boundary-anchored defect-cutting Wilson lines. The gluing methods used to compute the correlators of Wilson lines provide a toolkit to compute the expectation value of any set of bi-local operators and reveal their connections to  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  representation theory.

There are numerous directions that we wish to pursue in the future. As emphasized in section 2, while the choice of gauge algebra was sufficient to understand the on-shell equivalence between the gauge theory and JT-gravity, a careful analysis about the global structure of the gauge group was necessary in order to formulate the exact duality between the bulk and the boundary theories. While we have resorted to the gauge group  $\mathcal{G}$  with a simple boundary potential for the scalar field  $\phi$ , it is possible that there are other gauge group choices which reproduce observables in the Schwarzian theory or in related theories. For instance, it would be instructive to further study the reason for the apparent equivalence between representations of the group  $\mathcal{G}$  in the  $B \to \infty$  limit and representations of the noncompact subsemigroup SL<sup>+</sup>(2,  $\mathbb{R}$ ) which was discussed in [26, 36, 37]. Both gauge theory

 $<sup>^{46}</sup>$ It would be interesting to understand if this can be proven rigorously following an analogous approach to that presented in appendix E.

choices seemingly reproduce correlation functions in the Schwarzian theory. However, in the latter case the exact formulation of a two-dimensional action seems, as of yet, unclear. Another interesting direction is to study the role of q-deformations for the 2d gauge theory associated to a non-compact group, which have played an important role in the case of compact groups [77]. Such a deformation is also relevant from the boundary perspective, where [78] have shown that correlation functions in the large-N double-scaled limit of the SYK model can be described in terms of representations of q-deformed SU(1, 1).

It is likely that one can generalize the 2D gauge theory/1D quantum mechanics duality for different choice of gauge groups and scalar potentials [32]. A semi-classical example was given in [6], where various 1D topological theories were shown to be semi-classically equivalent to 2D Yang-Mills theories with more complicated potentials for the field strength. It would be interesting to further understand the exact duality between such systems [79].

Finally, one would hope to generalize our analysis to the two other cases where the BF-theory with an  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  gauge algebra is relevant: in understanding the quantization of JT-gravity in Lorentzian AdS<sub>2</sub> and in dS<sub>2</sub>.<sup>47</sup> By making appropriate choices of gauge groups and boundary conditions in the two cases, one could once again hope to exactly compute observables in the gravitational theory by first understanding their descriptions and properties in the corresponding gauge theory. We hope to address some of these above problems in the near future.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Po-Shen Hsin, Ho Tat Lam, Juan Maldacena, Thomas Mertens, Douglas Stanford, Gustavo J. Turiaci, and Zhenbin Yang for several valuable discussions. LVI and SSP were supported in part by the US NSF under Grant No. PHY-1820651 and by the Simons Foundation Grant No. 488653. The work of YW was supported in part by the US NSF under Grant No. PHY-1620059 and by the Simons Foundation Grant No. 488653. The research of HV is supported by NSF grant PHY-1620059.

#### A A review of the Schwarzian theory

In this section, we review the Schwarzian theory, its equivalence to the particle on the hyperbolic plane  $H_2^+$  placed in a magnetic field and the computation of observables in both theories. The partition function for the Schwarzian theory on a Euclidean time circle of circumference  $\beta$  is given by

$$Z_{\text{Schw.}}(\beta) = \int_{f \in \frac{\text{Diff}(S^1)}{\text{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})}} \frac{D\mu[f]}{\text{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})} \exp\left[C \int_0^\beta du \left(\{f,u\} + \frac{2\pi^2}{\beta^2} (f')^2\right)\right], \quad (A.1)$$

where C is a coupling constant with units of length,  $\{f, u\}$  denotes the Schwarzian derivative,  $f' = \partial_u f(u)$  and the path integral measure  $D\mu[f]$  will be defined shortly. The field

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>See [20, 80] for a recent analysis of the quantization of the two gravitational systems. Furthermore, recently a set of gauge invariant operators was identified in the Schwarzian theory whose role is to move the bulk matter in the two-sided wormhole geometry relative to the dynamical boundaries [81]. It would be interesting to identify the existence of such operators in the gauge theory context.

f(u) obeying  $f(u + \beta) = f(u) + \beta$  parameterizes the space  $\text{Diff}(S^1)$  of diffeomorphisms of the circle. By performing the field redefinition  $F(u) = \tan(\pi f(u)/\beta)$  with the consequent boundary condition  $F(0) = F(\beta)$ , as suggested in (1.3), one can rewrite (A.1) as

$$S[F] = -C \int_0^\beta du \{F, u\} \,. \tag{A.2}$$

Classically, the action in (A.1) can be seen to be invariant under  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  transformations<sup>48</sup>

$$F \to \frac{aF+b}{cF+d}$$
. (A.3)

In the path integral (1.3) one simply modes out by  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  transformations (1.3) which are constant in time (the  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  zero-mode). As we will further discuss in section A.2, such a quotient in the path integral is different from dynamically gauging the  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  symmetry. An appropriate choice for the measure on  $diff(S^1)/SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  which can be derived from the symplectic form of the Schwarzian theory is given by,

$$D\mu[f] = \prod_{u} \frac{df(u)}{f'(u)} = \prod_{u} \frac{dF(u)}{F'(u)},$$
 (A.4)

where the product is taken over a lattice that discretizes the Euclidean time circle.

Finally, the Hamiltonian associated to the action (A.2) is equal to the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  quadratic Casimir,  $H = 1/C \left[-\ell_0^2 + (\ell_-\ell_+ + \ell_+\ell_-)/2\right]$ , where  $\ell_0$  and  $\ell_{\pm}$  are the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  charges associated to the transformation (A.3), which can be written in terms of F(u) as

$$\ell_{0} = \frac{iC}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ \frac{F'''F}{F'^{2}} - \frac{FF''^{2}}{F'^{2}} - \frac{F''}{F'} \right],$$
  

$$\ell_{+} = \frac{iC}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ \frac{F'''F^{2}}{F'^{2}} - \frac{F''^{2}F^{2}}{F'^{3}} - \frac{2FF''}{F'} + 2F' \right],$$
  

$$\ell_{-} = \frac{iC}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ \frac{F'''}{(F')^{2}} - \frac{(F'')^{2}}{(F')^{3}} \right].$$
(A.5)

The equality between the Hamiltonian and the Casimir suggests a useful connection between the Schwarzian theory and a non-relativistic particle on the hyperbolic upper-half plane,  $H_2^+$ , placed in a constant magnetic field *B*. In the latter the system, the Hamiltonian is also given by an  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  quadratic Casimir. Below we discuss the equivalence of the two models at the path integral level.

#### A.1 An equivalent description

The quantization of the non-relativistic particle on the hyperbolic plane,  $H_2^+$ , placed in a constant magnetic field  $\tilde{B}$  was performed in [82, 83]. Writing the  $H_2^+$  metric as  $ds^2 = d\phi^2 + e^{-2\phi}dF^2$  where both  $\phi$  and F take values in  $\mathbb{R}$ , the non-relativistic action in Lorentzian time<sup>49</sup>

$$S_{\tilde{B}} = \int dt \left( \frac{1}{4} (\dot{\phi})^2 + \frac{1}{4} e^{-2\phi} (\dot{F})^2 + \tilde{B} \dot{F} e^{-\phi} + \tilde{B}^2 + \frac{1}{4} \right) \,. \tag{A.6}$$

 $<sup>^{48}</sup>$ SL(2,  $\mathbb{R}$ ) is the naive symmetry when performing the transformation (A.3) at the level of the action. We will discuss the exact symmetry at the level of the Hilbert space shortly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup>For convenience, we distinguish Lorentzian time derivative  $\dot{f}$  from Euclidean time derivatives f'.

The Hamiltonian written in terms of the canonical variables  $(\phi, \pi_{\phi})$  and  $(F, \pi_F)$ , is given by<sup>50</sup>

$$H_{\tilde{B}} = \pi_{\phi}^2 + \pi_F^2 e^{2\phi} - 2\tilde{B}\pi_F e^{\phi} - \frac{1}{4}.$$
 (A.7)

The thermal partition function at temperature  $T = 1/\beta$  can be computed by analytically continuing (A.6) to Euclidean signature by sending  $t \to -iu$  and computing the path integral on a circle of circumference  $\beta$  with periodic boundary conditions  $\phi(0) = \phi(\beta)$  and  $F(0) = F(\beta)$ . At the level of the path integral, the partition function with such boundary conditions is given by

$$Z_{\tilde{B}}(\beta) = \int_{\phi(0)=\phi(\beta), F(0)=F(\beta)} D\phi DF \, e^{-\int_0^\beta du \left(\frac{1}{4}\phi'^2 + \frac{1}{4}(e^{-\phi}F' - 2i\tilde{B})^2\right)}, \tag{A.8}$$

with the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  invariant measure,

$$D\phi Df \equiv \prod_{u \in [0,\beta]} d\phi(u) dF(u) e^{-\phi(u)}$$
(A.9)

For the purpose of understanding the equivalence between this system and the Schwarzian we will be interested in the analytic continuation to an imaginary background magnetic field  $\tilde{B} = -\frac{iB}{2\pi}$  with  $B \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$Z_B(\beta) = \int_{\phi(0)=\phi(\beta), F(0)=F(\beta)} D\phi DF \, e^{-\int_0^\beta du \left(\frac{1}{4}\phi'^2 + \frac{1}{4}(e^{-\phi}F' - B/\pi)^2\right)} \,.$$

$$\sim \int_{\phi(0)=\phi(\beta), F(0)=F(\beta)} D\phi DF \, e^{-\int_0^\beta du \left(\frac{1}{4}\phi'^2 + \frac{B^2}{4\pi^2}e^{-2\phi}(F' - e^{\phi})^2\right)} \,,$$
(A.10)

where we have shifted  $\phi \to \phi - \log \frac{B}{\pi}$  in the second line above and dropped an overall factor that only depends on B.

The Schwarzian theory emerges as an effective description of this quantum mechanical system in the limit  $B \to \infty$ . Indeed, we can apply a saddle point approximation in this limit to integrate out  $\phi$ . This sets  $F' = e^{\phi}$  and gives, after taking into account the one-loop determinant for  $\phi$  around the saddle,

$$Z_B(\beta) \sim \int_{F(0)=F(\beta)} \prod_u \frac{dF(u)}{F'(u)} e^{-\int_0^\beta du \left(\frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{F''}{F'}\right)^2\right)} = \int_{F(0)=F(\beta)} D\mu[F] e^{\frac{1}{2}\int_0^\beta du\{F,u\}}, \quad (A.11)$$

where to obtain the second equality we have shifted the action by a total derivative.

Thus, as promised, we recover the Schwarzian partition function with the same measure for the field F(u) in the  $B \to \infty$  limit (and  $\tilde{B} \to i\infty$ ), when setting the coupling  $C = \frac{1}{2}$ .<sup>51</sup> However, the space of integration for F(u) in (A.11) is different from that in the Schwarzian path integral (1.3). This is most obvious after we transform to the other field variable  $f(u) = \frac{\beta}{\pi} \tan^{-1} F(u)$  and

$$Z_B(\beta) \sim \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{f(0) = f(\beta) + n\beta} D\mu[f] \, e^{\frac{1}{2} \int_0^\beta du \left(\{f, u\} + \frac{2\pi^2}{\beta^2} (f')^2\right)} \,. \tag{A.12}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup>We have shifted both the Lagrangian and the Hamiltonian by a factor of  $\pm B^2$  in order to set the zero level for the energies of the particle on  $H_2^+$  to be at the bottom of the continuum.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup>Note that the meaningful dimensionless parameter  $\frac{\beta}{C}$  is unconstrained.

While for the Schwarzian action  $f(u) \in \text{Diff}(S^1)$ , obeying the boundary condition  $f(u + \beta) = f(u) + \beta$ , the path integral (A.12) consists of multiple topological sectors labeled by a winding number  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $f(u + \beta) = f(u) + \beta n$ . In other words, the (Euclidean) Schwarzian theory is an effective description of the quantum mechanical particle in the n = 1 sector.

Reproducing the partition function of the Schwarzian theory from the particle of magnetic field thus depends on the choice of integration cycle for F(u) (or f(u)). As we explain below, the integration cycle needed in order for the partition function of the particle of magnetic field to be convergent is given by  $\tilde{B} = iB \rightarrow i\infty$ . In order to do this it is useful to consider how the wave-functions in this theory transform as representations  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$ .

When quantizing the particle on  $H_2^+$  in the absence of a magnetic field, the eigenstates of the Hamiltonian transform as irreducible representations of  $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$  [83]. When turning on a magnetic field, the Hamiltonian eigenstates transform as projective representations of  $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$ , which are the proper representations of  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  mentioned in section 3.3 [83].<sup>52</sup> Specifically, the wavefunctions for the particle in magnetic field  $\tilde{B} \in \mathbb{R}$ transform in a subset of irreducible representations of  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  with fixed eigenvalues under the center of the group  $e^{2\pi i \mu} = e^{2\pi i \tilde{B}}$ .<sup>53</sup> Such unitary representations admit a well-defined associated Hermitian inner-product and the Hamiltonian is a Hermitian operator. Up to a constant shift, their energies are real and are given by the  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  Casimir in (3.12),  $E_{\lambda} = -(\lambda - 1/2)^2$ .

When making  $\tilde{B} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  the Hamiltonian is no longer Hermitian and the representations of  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  do not admit a well defined Hermitian inner-product. However, the partition function defined by the path-integral (A.6) is convergent. As we explain in section 3.3, if we analytically continue the Plancherel measure and Casimir to imaginary  $\tilde{B} \to i\infty$ , the thermal partition function in this limit reproduces that of the Schwarzian theory (3.10). Thus, the theory makes sense in Euclidean signature where the correlation function of different observables is convergent, but a more careful treatment is needed in Lorentzian signature.<sup>54</sup>

## A.2 An $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ chemical potential

While the classical computation performed in section 2.3 suggests the equivalence between imposing a non-trivial  $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$  twist for the Schwarzian field and the gauge theory (2.15) with a non-trivial holonomy around its boundary this equivalence does not persist quantum

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup>Note that not all unitary irreducible representations of  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  need to appear in the decomposition of the Hilbert space under  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$ . While there exist states transforming in any continuous series representation of  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$ , there are also states transforming in the discrete series representations as long as  $\lambda = -\tilde{B} + n$  with,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $0 \le n \le |\tilde{B}| - 1$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup>The fact that states transform in projective representations of the classical global symmetry can be understood as an anomaly of the global symmetry. An straightforward example of this phenomenon happens when studying a charged particle on a circle with a  $\theta$ -angle with  $\theta = \pi$  [64]. Note that when  $B = \frac{p}{q} \in \mathbb{Q}$ states transform in absolute irreps of the *q*-cover of PSL(2,  $\mathbb{R}$ ), which are also abolute irreps of  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$ . It is only when  $B \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$  that these irreps are absolute for the univesal cover  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup>A more detailed discussion about the properties of the Schwarzian and of JT gravity in Lorentzian signature is forthcoming in [84].

mechanically. Instead, in the presence of a non-trivial holonomy, the gauge theory is equivalent to the non-relativistic particle in the magnetic field (A.6) with  $\tilde{B} \to i\infty$  and in the presence of an  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  chemical potential. Note that in the derivation performed above, in order to prove the equivalence between the Schwarzian and the action (A.6) with  $\tilde{B} \to i\infty$ , we have assumed that the field F(u) is periodic: specifically, if one assumes a  $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$  twist around the thermal circle for the field F(u), one can no longer use the equality in (A.11). Specifically, (A.11) assumes that when adding a total derivative to the action, the integral of that derivative around the thermal circle vanishes — this is no longer true in the presence of a non-trivial twist for the Schwarzian field.

In order to study (A.6) with  $\tilde{B} \to i\infty$  in the presence of an  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  chemical potential, we start by considering the case of  $\tilde{B} \in \mathbb{R}$  and then we analytically continue to an imaginary magnetic field  $\tilde{B} \in i\mathbb{R}$ . The partition function is given by

$$Z_{iB}(\tilde{g},\beta) \sim \int ds \rho_B(s) e^{-\frac{\beta}{2C}s^2} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \langle \frac{1}{2} + is, m | \tilde{g} | \frac{1}{2} + is, m \rangle + \text{discrete series contributions}$$
$$= \int_0^\infty ds \rho_B(s) \chi_s(\tilde{g}) e^{-\frac{\beta}{2C}s^2} + \text{disrete series contributions}, \qquad (A.13)$$

where  $\chi_s(\tilde{g}) = \text{Tr}_s(\tilde{g})$  is the  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  character of the principal series representation labelled by  $\lambda = 1/2 + is$  (see appendix C for the explicit character  $\chi_s(\tilde{g})$ ). To recover the partition function when  $\tilde{B} = -\frac{iB}{2\pi} \to i\infty$  we again perform the analytic continuation used to obtain (3.10). Once again the discrete series states have a contribution of  $\mathcal{O}(Be^{-\beta B^2/C})$ and can be neglected. Thus, up to a proportionality factor

$$Z_{iB}(\tilde{g},\beta) \propto \int_0^\infty ds \rho(s) \chi_s(\tilde{g}) e^{-\frac{\beta}{2C}s^2} \,. \tag{A.14}$$

This formula generalizes (3.10) for any  $\tilde{g}$  and matches up to an overall proportionality factor, with the result obtained in the gauge theory in section 3.3 (see (3.29)).

#### **B** Comparison between compact and non-compact groups

For convenience, we review the schematic comparison between various formulae commonly used for compact gauge groups (which we will denote by G) with finite dimensional unitary irreducible representations and the analogous formulae that need to be used in the non-compact case (which we denote by G) with infinite-dimensional unitary irreducible representations:

$\delta(g) = \sum_R \dim R  \chi_R(g)$	$\delta(g) = \int dR \rho(R) \chi_R(g)$
$\int \frac{dg}{\operatorname{vol} G} U_{R,m}^n(g) U_{R',n'}^{m'}(g^{-1}) = \frac{\delta_{RR'} \delta_{mm'} \delta_{nn'}}{\dim R}$	$\int \frac{dg}{\mathrm{vol}\mathcal{G}} U_{R,m}^n(g) U_{R',n'}^{m'}(g^{-1}) = \frac{\delta(R,R')\delta_{mm'}\delta_{nn'}}{\rho(R)}$
$\int \frac{dg}{\mathrm{vol}G} \chi_R(g) \chi_{R'}(g^{-1}) = \delta_{RR'}$	$\int \frac{dg}{\operatorname{vol}\mathcal{G}} \chi_R(g) \chi_{R'}(g^{-1}) = \frac{\Xi \delta(R,R')}{\rho(R)}$
$\int \frac{dg}{\operatorname{vol}G} \chi_R(gh_1g^{-1}h_2) = \frac{\chi_R(h_1)\chi_R(h_2)}{\dim R}$	$\int \frac{dg}{\mathrm{vol}\mathcal{G}} \chi_R(gh_1g^{-1}h_2) = \frac{\chi_R(h_1)\chi_R(h_2)}{\Xi}$
$\int \frac{dg}{\mathrm{vol}G} \chi_{R_1}(gh_1) \chi_{R_2}(g^{-1}h_1) = \frac{\delta_{R_1,R_2} \chi_{R_1}(h_1h_2)}{\dim R_1}$	$\int \frac{dg}{\operatorname{vol}\mathcal{G}} \chi_{R_1}(gh_1) \chi_{R_2}(g^{-1}h_2) = \frac{\delta(R_1, R_2) \chi_{R_1}(h_1h_2)}{\rho(R)}$

where  $\chi_R(g)$  are the characters of the group G or  $\mathcal{G}$ ,  $U_{R,m}^n(g)$  are the associated matrix elements and  $\Xi$  is a divergent factor, which can be evaluated by considering the limit  $\lim_{g\to 1} \chi_R(g) = \Xi$ . In the case of  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  the limit needs to be taken from the direction of hyperbolic elements and for the group  $\mathcal{G}_B$  we have shown that  $\Xi$  is independent of the representation R. We consider an in-depth discussion of the above formulae and their consequences in 2D gauge theories with the non-compact gauge group  $\mathcal{G}_B$  below.

# C Harmonic analysis on $\widetilde{\operatorname{SL}}(2,\mathbb{R})$ and $\mathcal{G}_B$

We next describe how to work with the characters of  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  and its  $\mathbb{R}$  extension,  $\mathcal{G}_B$  (and consequently the group  $\mathcal{G} \equiv \mathcal{G}_B$  when taking the limit  $B \to \infty$ ). In order to get there we first need to discuss the meaning of the Fourier transform on the group manifold of  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$ or  $\mathcal{G}_B$ . Given a finite function  $x(\tilde{g})$  with  $\tilde{g} \in \widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$ ,<sup>55</sup> for every unitary representation  $U_R$  of the continuous and discrete series we can associate an operator

$$U_R(x) = \int x(\tilde{g}) U_R(\tilde{g}) d\tilde{g} \,. \tag{C.1}$$

The operator  $U_R(x)$  is called the Fourier transform of  $x(\tilde{g})$ . Just like in Fourier analysis on  $\mathbb{R}$ , our goal will be to find the inversion formula for (C.1) and express  $x(\tilde{g})$  in terms of its Fourier transform. To start, we can express the Delta-function  $\delta(\tilde{g})$  on the group manifold, in terms of its Fourier components

$$\delta(\tilde{g}) = \int \rho(R) \operatorname{tr}(U_R(\tilde{g})) dR, \qquad (C.2)$$

where as we will see later in the subsection that  $\rho(R)$  is the Plancherel measure on the group and  $\chi_R(\tilde{g}) \equiv \operatorname{tr}(U_R(\tilde{g}))$  will define the character of the representation R. The integral over R is schematic here (see later section for explicit definitions) and represents the integral over the principal and discrete series of the group. The Delta-function is defined such that,

$$\int x(\tilde{g}\tilde{g}_0)\delta(\tilde{g})d\tilde{g} = x(\tilde{g}_0).$$
(C.3)

Multiplying (C.2) by  $x(\tilde{g}\tilde{g}_0)$  and integrating over the group manifold we find that

$$x(\tilde{g}_0) = \int \rho(R) \operatorname{tr}(U_R(x) U_R(\tilde{g}_0^{-1})) dR.$$
 (C.4)

We will review the calculation of the matrix elements  $U_{R,n}^m(\tilde{g})$ , characters  $\chi_R(\tilde{g})$  and of the Plancherel measure  $\rho(R)$  in the next subsections.

#### C.1 Evaluation of the matrix elements and characters

As explained in [62], one can parameterize  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  using the coordinates  $(\xi, \phi, \eta)$ , where we can restrict  $\phi + \eta \in [0, 4\pi)$ . The  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  element  $\tilde{g}$  takes the form  $\tilde{g} = e^{\phi P_0} e^{\xi P_1} e^{-\eta P_0}$ , where the generators  $P_i$  are given by (2.19). In this parameterization, the metric is

 $ds^{2} = d\xi^{2} - d\phi^{2} - d\eta^{2} + 2\cosh\xi d\phi d\eta \qquad (C.5)$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup>Here finite means that it is infinitely differentiable if the group manifold is connected and is constant in a sufficiently small domain if the group manifold is disconnected.

and the Haar measure is

$$d\mu = \sinh \xi \, d\xi \, d\phi \, d\eta \,. \tag{C.6}$$

For the full group  $\mathcal{G}_B$ , we normalize the measure by,

$$d\tilde{g} \equiv d\mu d\theta \tag{C.7}$$

As shown in [62], the matrix elements in the representation with quantum numbers  $\lambda$  and  $\mu$  are given by

$$U_{\lambda,n}^{m}(\tilde{g}) = e^{i(n\phi - m\eta)}(1-u)^{\lambda} u^{\frac{n-m}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(n-\lambda+1)\Gamma(n+\lambda)}{\Gamma(m-\lambda+1)\Gamma(m+\lambda)}} \mathbf{F}(\lambda-m,n+\lambda,-m+n+1;u),$$
(C.8)

where,  $\mathbf{F}(a, b, c, z) = \Gamma(c)^{-1} {}_2F_1(a, b, c; z)$ ,  $u = \tanh^2(\xi/2)$  and  $m, n \in \mu + \mathbb{Z}$ . We can similarly parametrize elements  $\mathcal{G}_B$  by  $g = (\theta, \tilde{g})$  where x is an element of  $\mathbb{R}$ . The matrix element for the representation  $(\lambda, \mu = -\frac{Bk}{2\pi} + q, k)$  in  $\mathcal{G}_B$  is thus given by,

$$U^m_{(\lambda,\,\mu=-\frac{Bk}{2\pi}+q,\,k),\,n}(g) = e^{ik\theta} U^m_{\lambda,n}(\tilde{g})\,. \tag{C.9}$$

Once again, this expression depends on  $\mu$  only in that  $m, n, k \in \mu + \mathbb{Z}$ . The diagonal elements are thus given by

$$U^{m}_{(\lambda,\mu,k),m}(g) = (1-u)^{\lambda} e^{im(\phi-\eta)} e^{ik\theta} {}_{2}F_{1}(\lambda-m,\lambda+m;1;u).$$
(C.10)

The characters of the various representations are obtained by summing (C.10) over m. Because the characters are class functions, they must be functions of the eigenvalues x,  $x^{-1}$  of the  $\widetilde{\mathrm{SL}}(2,\mathbb{R})$  matrix  $\tilde{g}$ , when  $\tilde{g}$  is expressed in the two-dimensional representation. x can be obtained from the angles  $\phi$ ,  $\eta$  and  $\xi$  for any representation to be<sup>56</sup>

$$x = \begin{cases} \frac{\cos\frac{\phi - \eta}{2} \pm \sqrt{u - \sin^2\frac{\phi - \eta}{2}}}{\sqrt{1 - u}}, & \text{if } u \ge \sin^2\frac{\phi - \eta}{2}, \\ \frac{\cos\frac{\phi - \eta}{2} \pm i \sin\frac{\phi - \eta}{2}\sqrt{1 - \frac{u}{\sin^2\frac{\phi - \eta}{2}}}}{\sqrt{1 - u}}, & \text{if } u < \sin^2\frac{\phi - \eta}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(C.11)

where one of the solutions represents x and the other  $x^{-1}$ . Note that for hyperbolic elements,  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , which happens whenever  $u > \sin^2 \frac{\phi - \eta}{2}$ . Simple examples of hyperbolic elements have  $\phi = \eta = 0$ , and in this case  $x = e^{\pm \xi/2}$ . For elliptic elements, we have |x| = 1(with  $x \notin \mathbb{R}$ ), which happens whenever  $u < \sin^2 \frac{\phi - \eta}{2}$ . Simple examples of elliptic elements have  $u = \eta = 0$ , and in this case  $x = e^{\pm i\phi/2}$ . Lastly, for parabolic elements, we have  $x = \pm 1$ , and in this case  $u = \sin^2 \frac{\phi - \eta}{2}$ . For convenience, from now on we choose x such that |x| > 1 and  $|x^{-1}| < 1$  for hyperbolic elements. For elliptic elements, we choose x to be associated with the negative sign in the 2nd equation of (C.11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup>(We wrote two distinct formulas depending on whether u is greater or smaller than  $\sin^2 \frac{\phi - \eta}{2}$  in order to make explicit the choice of branch cut we use for the square root.)

**Continuous series.** To obtain the characters for the continuous series, we should set  $\lambda = \frac{1}{2} + is$  and sum over all values of  $m = \mu + p$  with  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The sum is given by

$$\chi_{s,\mu,k}(g) = (1-u)^{\frac{1}{2}+is} e^{ik\theta} \sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{i(\mu+p)(\phi-\eta)} {}_2F_1\left(\frac{1}{2}+is-\mu-p,\frac{1}{2}+is+\mu+p;1;u\right),$$
(C.12)

where we consider  $\phi - \eta \in [2\pi(n-1), 2\pi n)$ , with  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . This sum can be evaluated using the generating formula for the  $_2F_1$  hypergeometric function. Evaluating the sum defined in (C.11) yields, in terms of the eigenvalue x associated to  $\tilde{g}$  group element, the  $\mathbb{R}$  element  $\theta$  and the branch number, n, for the angle  $\phi - \eta$ ,

$$\chi_{s,\mu,k}(g) = \begin{cases} e^{ik\theta} e^{2\pi i\mu n} \left(\frac{|x|^{1-2\lambda}+|x|^{-1+2\lambda}}{|x-x^{-1}|}\right), & \text{for } \tilde{g} \text{ hyperbolic,} \\ 0, & \text{for } \tilde{g} \text{ elliptic,} \end{cases}$$
(C.13)

where  $\lambda = \frac{1}{2} + is$  and, we remind the reader about the restriction that  $\mu = \frac{-Bk}{2\pi} + \mathbb{Z}$ .

**Discrete series.** For the positive discrete series, we have  $\mu = \lambda$  and the sum over m goes over values equal to  $\lambda + p$  with  $p \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ :

$$\chi_{\lambda,k}^{+}(g) = e^{ik\theta} \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} U_{\lambda,\lambda+p}^{\lambda+p}(g) = (1-u)^{\lambda} e^{ik\theta} e^{i\lambda(\phi-\eta)} \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} e^{ip(\phi-\eta)} P_p^{(0,2\lambda-1)}(1-2u) \,, \quad (C.14)$$

where  $P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$  are the Jacobi polynomials. We can once again evaluate the sum using the generating formula for the Jacobi polynomial to find that in terms of the eigenvalue x, the character is given by

$$\chi_{k,\lambda}^{+}(g) = \frac{e^{ik\theta}x^{1-2\lambda}}{x-x^{-1}}$$
(C.15)

for both hyperbolic and elliptic elements. This expression is identical to the first term in (C.13). For the negative discrete series, we have  $\mu = -\lambda$  and so we should take  $m = -\lambda - p$ , with  $p \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ , and sum over p:

$$\chi_{k,\lambda}^{-}(g) = (1-u)^{\lambda} e^{ik\theta} e^{-i\lambda(\phi-\eta)} \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} e^{-ip(\phi-\eta)} P_p^{(0,2\lambda-1)}(1-2u) \,. \tag{C.16}$$

Comparing (C.16) with (C.14), we conclude that

$$\chi_{\lambda,k}^{-}(g) = e^{ik\theta} \left(\chi_{\lambda}^{+}(\tilde{g})\right)^{*} = e^{ik\theta} \left(\frac{x^{1-2\lambda}}{x-x^{-1}}\right)^{*}.$$
 (C.17)

This expression is identical to the second term in (C.13).

Before we end this subsection, we summarize a few identities satisfied by the characters above. We have

$$\overline{\chi_R(g)} = \chi_R(g^{-1}) \tag{C.18}$$

which follows from the unitarity of the representations. We also have

$$\chi_{s,\mu,k}(g^{-1}) = \chi_{s,-\mu,-k}(g), \quad \chi^+_{k,\lambda}(g^{-1}) = \chi^-_{-k,\lambda}(g).$$
 (C.19)

#### C.2 The Plancherel inversion formula

The normalization of the matrix elements  $U_R$  given by (C.8)–(C.10) can be computed following [62]. For the continuous series one finds that,

$$\langle U_{(\frac{1}{2}+is,\mu,k),n}^{m'} | U_{(\frac{1}{2}+is',\mu',k'),n'}^{m'} \rangle = \int dg \, U_{(\frac{1}{2}+is,\mu,k),n}^{m}(g) U_{(\frac{1}{2}+is',\mu',k'),m'}^{n'}(g^{-1})$$

$$= 4\pi^2 B \frac{\cosh(2\pi s) + \cos(Bk)}{s\sinh(2\pi s)} \delta(s-s') \delta(\mu-\mu') \delta_{kk'} \delta_{nn'} \delta_{mm'} ,$$

$$\text{with } s, s' > 0, \qquad \frac{-1}{2} \le \mu \le \frac{1}{2} ,$$

$$k, \, k' \in -\frac{2\pi(\mu+\mathbb{Z})}{B} , \qquad m, n, m', n' \in \mu' + \mathbb{Z} .$$

$$(C.20)$$

Similarly, for the positive/negative discrete series one finds that,

$$\langle U^{m}_{(\lambda,k),n} | U^{m'}_{(\lambda',k'),n'} \rangle = \frac{8\pi^{2}B}{2\lambda - 1} \delta(\lambda - \lambda') \delta_{kk'} \delta_{mm'} \delta_{nn'}$$

$$\text{with } \lambda, \, \lambda' > \frac{1}{2}, \qquad k, \, k' \in -\frac{2\pi(\pm \lambda + \mathbb{Z})}{B}, \qquad m, \, n, \, m', \, n' \in \pm(\lambda + \mathbb{Z}^{+}) \,.$$

Given the orthogonality of the matrix elements one can then write the  $\delta$ -function in (C.2) as,

$$\delta(g) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dk \, ds}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{s \sinh(2\pi s)}{\cosh(2\pi s) + \cos(Bk)} \chi_{(s,\mu = -\frac{Bk}{2\pi},k)}(g) + \int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{\infty} \frac{d\lambda}{(2\pi)^2 B} \left(\lambda - \frac{1}{2}\right) \sum_{q = -\infty}^{\infty} \left(\chi_{\left(\lambda,k = -\frac{2\pi(\lambda+q)}{B}\right)}^{+}(g) + \chi_{\left(\lambda,k = -\frac{2\pi(-\lambda+q)}{B}\right)}^{-}(g)\right) \cdot (C.22)$$

For the purpose of evaluating the partition function of the gauge theory in section 2 it is more convenient to write all the terms in (C.22) under a single k-integral. To do this one can perform a contour deformation [85] to find that  $\delta(g)$  can also be expressed as

$$\delta(g) = -i\sum_{p\in\mathbb{Z}}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dk \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} ds \left(\frac{Bk}{2\pi} + p + is\right) \tanh(\pi s) U_{\left(\frac{Bk}{2\pi} + p + is + \frac{1}{2}, \frac{Bk}{2\pi} + q, k\right)\frac{Bk}{2\pi} + p}(\tilde{g}),$$
(C.23)

with  $q \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Using  $\delta(g)$  from (C.22), the Plancherel inversion formula for  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  can be generalized to functions acting on the group  $\mathcal{G}_B$ ,

$$x(\mathbf{1}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dk \, ds}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{s \sinh(2\pi s)}{\cosh(2\pi s) + \cos(2\pi k)} \chi_{(s,\mu=-\frac{Bk}{2\pi},k)}(x) + \int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{\infty} \frac{d\lambda}{(2\pi)^2 B} \left(\lambda - \frac{1}{2}\right) \sum_{q=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\chi_{\left(\lambda,k=-\frac{2\pi(\lambda+q)}{B}\right)}^{+}(x) + \chi_{\left(\lambda,k=-\frac{2\pi(\lambda+q)}{B}\right)}^{-}(x)\right), \quad (C.24)$$

with

$$\chi_R(x) \equiv \int d\tilde{g} \int_0^B d\theta x(g) \chi_R(g^{-1}) \,. \tag{C.25}$$

In practice, in order to keep track of divergences evaluating the characters on a trivial we introduce the divergent factor  $\Xi$ , for which  $\chi_{(s,\mu=-\frac{Bk}{2\pi},k)}(x) = \Xi$ . One can check this *s*-independent divergence by taking the limit

$$\lim_{\tilde{g}\to e} \chi_{(s,\mu)}(\tilde{g}) = \lim_{x\to 1,\,\theta\to 0} e^{ik\theta} \frac{x^{2is} + x^{-2is}}{x - x^{-1}} = \lim_{x\to 1} \frac{1}{|x - x^{-1}|} = \Xi.$$
 (C.26)

Similarly, for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$\lim_{\tilde{g} \to e^{2\pi i n \ell_0}} \chi_{(s,\mu)}(\tilde{g}) = e^{2\pi i \mu n} \lim_{x \to \pm 1} \frac{1}{|x - x^{-1}|} = e^{2\pi i \mu n} \Xi.$$
 (C.27)

Another operation that proves necessary for the computations performed in section 2 is performing the group integral

$$\frac{1}{\text{vol}\mathcal{G}_B} \int dg \chi_{s,k=i}(gh_1 g^{-1} h_2) = \frac{1}{\Xi} \chi_{s,k=i}(h_1) \chi_{s,k=i}(h_2) , \qquad (C.28)$$

for principal series representation s and for group elements  $h_1$  and  $h_2$ . The normalization of this formula is set by taking the limit  $h_1 \rightarrow e$  and  $h_2 \rightarrow e$  and using the normalization for the matrix elements  $U_R$ , (C.20) and (C.21).

#### C.3 An example: isolating the principal series representation

The goal of this appendix is to use the techniques presented in the previous subsections to show that we can isolate the contribution of principal series representations in the partition function. Specifically, we want to show that the regularization procedure suggested in section 3.3 by adding higher powers of the quadratic Casimir leads to suppression of the discrete series. Using the rewriting of  $\delta(g)$  as in (C.23) we find that the partition function with an overall  $\mathcal{G}_B$  holonomy g is given by,

$$Z(g, e\beta) \sim -i\sum_{p\in\mathbb{Z}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dk \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} ds \left(-\frac{Bk}{2\pi} + p + is\right) \tanh(\pi s) U_{-\frac{Bk}{2\pi} + p + is + \frac{1}{2}, -\frac{Bk}{2\pi} + p}^{-\frac{Bk}{2\pi} + p}(\tilde{g})$$
$$\times e^{ik\theta} e^{\frac{e\beta}{2} \left[(p+is)^2 - \cdots\right]}, \tag{C.29}$$

where  $g = (\tilde{g}, \theta)$  and  $\cdots$  captures the contribution of higher powers of the quadratic Casimir. Setting the boundary condition  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}} = k_0 = -i$ , we find that the partition function becomes

$$Z_{k_0}(\tilde{g}, e\beta) \sim -i \sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} ds \ (p+is) \tanh\left(\pi s - \frac{B}{2}\right) U_{p+is+\frac{1}{2}, \frac{Bi}{2\pi}+p}^{\frac{Bi}{2\pi}+p}(\tilde{g})$$
$$\times e^{\frac{e\beta}{2}\left[(p+is)^2 - \cdots\right]}, \tag{C.30}$$

where, in order to obtain (C.30), we have also performed the contour re-parametrization  $s \to s - \frac{B}{2\pi}$ . The form of higher order terms captured by  $\cdots$  is given by higher powers of the quadratic Casimir: thus, for instance the first correction given by the square of the quadratic Casimir is given by  $\sim (p + is)^4/B$ . For each term in the sum, we can now deform the contour as  $s \to s - ip$ . Such a deformation only picks up poles located at

 $s_* = \frac{1}{2\pi}B - \frac{(2n+1)i}{2}$  with  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $2n + 1 < p.^{57}$  The residue of each such pole gives rise to the contribution of the discrete series representations to the partition function. However, by choosing the negative sign for the fourth order and higher order terms in the potential the resulting contribution is suppressed as  $\mathcal{O}(Be^{-\frac{e\beta B^2}{2}})$ . This is the reason why the partition function is finite and is solely given by the contribution of principal unitary series representations.

$$Z_{k_0}(\tilde{g}, e\beta) \sim \sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} ds \, s \tanh\left(\pi s - \frac{B}{2}\right) U_{is+\frac{1}{2}, \frac{Bi}{2\pi}+p}^{\frac{Bi}{2\pi}+p}(\tilde{g}) e^{-\frac{e\beta s^2}{2}} + \mathcal{O}\left(Be^{-\frac{e\beta B^2}{2}}\right) \,. \quad (C.31)$$

Note that the integral is even in s and that  $\tanh(\pi s - \frac{B}{2}) = (\sinh(2\pi s) - \sinh(B))/(\cosh(2\pi s) + \cosh(B))$ . Thus, when considering the  $B \to \infty$  limit the Plancherel measure becomes  $dss \sinh(2\pi s)/e^{-B}$ . Thus, summing up all matrix coefficients in (C.31) we recover the fact that the partition function only depends on characters, and we recover the result in section 3.4.

#### D Clebsch-Gordan coefficients, fusion coefficients and 6-j symbols

The purpose of this section is to derive the fusion coefficients and the 6-j symbols needed in the main text. To do so, we find it convenient to represent the states in the unitary representation  $(\mu, \lambda)$  of  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  as functions  $f(\phi)$  on the unit circle obeying the twisted periodicity condition

$$f(\phi + 2\pi) = e^{2\pi i\mu} f(\phi)$$
, (D.1)

with the rule that under a diffeomorphisms  $V \in \widetilde{\text{Diff}}_+(S^1)$  of the unit circle, these functions transform as

$$(Vf)(\phi) = (\partial_{\phi} V^{-1}(\phi))^{\lambda} f(V^{-1}(\phi)).$$
 (D.2)

Such a transformation property can be thought of arising from a " $\mu$ -twisted  $\lambda$ -form," namely an object formally written as  $f(\phi)(d\phi)^{\lambda}$ . We denote the space of such forms as  $\mathcal{F}^{\mu}_{\lambda}$ . In infinitesimal form, a diffeomorphism is described by a vector field  $v(\phi) = v^{\phi}(\phi)\partial_{\phi}$ , which acts on f via the infinitesimal from of (D.2):

$$vf = -v^{\phi}\partial_{\phi}f - \lambda(\partial_{\phi}v^{\phi})f.$$
 (D.3)

To see why the space  $\mathcal{F}^{\mu}_{\lambda}$  is isomorphic with the representation  $(\mu, \lambda)$  of  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$ , note that (D.3) implies that the vector fields  $L_n^{\phi} = -ie^{in\phi}$  with n = -1, 0, 1 obey the commutation relations

$$[L_{\pm 1}, L_0] = \pm L_{\pm 1}, \qquad [L_1, L_{-1}] = 2L_0 \tag{D.4}$$

so the transformations (D.3) corresponding to them generate an  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  subalgebra of  $\widetilde{Diff}_+(S^1)$ . By comparison with (2.19), we can identify  $\ell_0 = L_0$ ,  $\ell_+ = L_1$ ,  $\ell_- = L_{-1}$  when acting on  $\mathcal{F}^{\mu}_{\lambda}$ . From (D.3), we can also determine the action of the quadratic Casimir

$$\widehat{C}_2 f = \left( -L_0^2 + \frac{L_1 L_{-1} + L_{-1} L_1}{2} \right) f = \lambda (1 - \lambda) f.$$
(D.5)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup>The only poles in (C.30) come from the measure factor  $tanh(\pi s - B/2)$ .

This fact, together with  $e^{-2\pi i L_0} f(\phi) = e^{2\pi \partial_{\phi}} f(\phi) = f(\phi + 2\pi) = e^{2\pi i \mu} f(\phi)$  implies that  $\mathcal{F}^{\mu}_{\lambda}$  should be identified with the representation  $(\lambda, \mu)$  (or with the isomorphic representation  $(1 - \lambda, \mu)$ ) of  $\widetilde{\mathrm{SL}}(2, \mathbb{R})$ .

Let us now identify the function corresponding to the basis element  $|m\rangle$  in the  $(\mu, \lambda)$ representation. This basis element has the property that  $L_0|m\rangle = -m|m\rangle$ , which becomes  $i\partial_{\phi}f = -mf$ , so it should be proportional to  $f_{\lambda,m} = e^{im\phi}$ . (Recall that  $m \in \mu + \mathbb{Z}$  for the irrep  $(\mu, \lambda)$ , so  $f_{\lambda,m}$  obeys the twisted periodicity (D.1).) In other words

$$|m\rangle$$
 corresponds to  $c_{\lambda,m}f_{\lambda,m}(\phi) \equiv \langle \phi | m \rangle$  (D.6)

for some constant  $c_{\lambda,m}$ . To determine  $c_{\lambda,m}$ , note that from (D.3), we obtain

$$L_n f_{\lambda,m} = -(m+n\lambda) f_{\lambda,m+n}$$
 (D.7)

By comparison with the action (3.13) of the raising and lowering operators on the states  $|m\rangle$ , we conclude that  $c_{m,\lambda}$  obeys the recursion relation

$$c_{\lambda,m+1} = c_{\lambda,m} \frac{(\lambda+m)}{\sqrt{(\lambda+m)(1-\lambda+m)}}$$
(D.8)

with the solution 58

$$c_{\lambda,m} = \frac{\Gamma(\lambda+m)}{\sqrt{\Gamma(\lambda+m)\Gamma(1-\lambda+m)}}.$$
 (D.9)

Note that this expression holds both for the continuous series which we will denote as  $c_{\lambda,m}$ and for the positive discrete series  $c_{\lambda,m}^+$ . For negative discrete series we have instead

$$c_{\lambda,m-1}^{-} = c_{\lambda,m}^{-} \frac{(m-\lambda)}{\sqrt{(m-\lambda)(m-1+\lambda)}}, \qquad (D.10)$$

which leads to

$$c_{\lambda,m}^{-} = (-1)^{m-\mu} \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma(1-m-\lambda)\Gamma(\lambda-m)}}{\Gamma(1-\lambda-m)}$$
(D.11)

for  $m = -\lambda, -\lambda - 1, -\lambda - 2, \dots$ 

From these expressions and  $\langle m|n\rangle = \delta_{mn}$ , we can infer the inner product on the space  $\mathcal{F}^{\mu}_{\lambda}$ . Indeed, any two functions f and g obeying (D.1) can be expanded in Fourier series as

$$f(\phi) = \sum_{m} a_{m} e^{im\phi} \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad a_{m} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int d\phi \, e^{-im\phi} f(\phi) \,,$$
  

$$g(\phi) = \sum_{m} b_{m} e^{im\phi} \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad b_{m} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int d\phi \, e^{-im\phi} g(\phi) \,.$$
(D.12)

Then we can write

$$\langle f|g\rangle = \sum_{m,n} \frac{a_m^* b_n}{c_{\lambda,m}^* c_{\lambda,n}} \langle m|n\rangle = \sum_m \frac{a_m^* b_m}{|c_{\lambda,m}|^2} \,. \tag{D.13}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup>The recursion formula only fixes  $c_{\lambda,m}$  (similarly for  $c_{\lambda,m}$  in (D.11)) up to an *m* independent constant that could depend on  $\lambda$ . Here we have chosen a particular normalization for convenience. The physical observables we compute are however independent of such normalizations.

Writing  $a_m$  and  $b_m$  in terms of  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  using the Fourier series inversion formula, we obtain

$$\langle f|g\rangle = \int d\phi_1 \, d\phi_2 \, f(\phi_1)^* g(\phi_2) G(\phi_1 - \phi_2)$$
 (D.14)

where  $G(\phi)$  given by

$$G(\phi) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \sum_{m} \frac{e^{im\phi}}{|c_{\lambda,m}|^2} \,. \tag{D.15}$$

For the continuous series,  $|c_{\lambda,m}|^2 = 1$ , and the sum is over  $m \in \mu + \mathbb{Z}$ . We obtain

continuous series: 
$$G(\phi) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} e^{i\mu(\phi_1 - \phi_2)} D\left(\frac{\phi_1 - \phi_2}{2\pi}\right), \qquad (D.16)$$

where  $D(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta(x-k)$  is a Dirac comb with unit period. For the positive discrete series,  $m \in \lambda + \mathbb{Z}_+$  and  $\mu = \lambda > 0$ . We find that (D.15) evaluates to

positive discrete series: 
$$G(\phi) = \frac{e^{i\lambda\phi} {}_2F_1(1, 1, 2\lambda, e^{i\phi})}{4\pi^2\Gamma(2\lambda)}$$
. (D.17)

To obtain the fusion coefficients, we need to consider tensor products of representations. As a warm-up, let us consider the tensor product

$$\mathcal{C}_{\frac{1}{2}+is,\mu} \otimes \mathcal{C}_{\frac{1}{2}+is,-\mu} \tag{D.18}$$

and identify the state corresponding to the identity representation. This state is

$$\sum_{m \in \mu + \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^m |m\rangle| - m\rangle, \qquad (D.19)$$

and it can be obtained as the unique state invariant under  $L_n^{(1)} + L_n^{(2)}$ , where the  $L_n^{(i)}$  (with n = -1, 0, 1 and i = 1, 2) are the  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  generator acting on the *i*th factor of the tensor product.

The state (D.19) can also be found in a more indirect way by first constructing the two-variable function  $Y(e^{i\phi_1}, e^{i\phi_2})$  representing it. This function obeys the conditions

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2} \partial_{\phi_i} Y(e^{i\phi_1}, e^{i\phi_2}) = 0, \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left( i e^{\pm i\phi_i} \partial_{\phi_i} \mp \lambda e^{\pm i\phi_i} \right) Y(e^{i\phi_1}, e^{i\phi_2}) = 0, \qquad (D.20)$$

(with  $\lambda = \frac{1}{2} + is$ ) representing the invariance under the  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  generators, as well as the periodicity conditions (D.1) in  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  individually. When  $0 < \phi_1 - \phi_2 < 2\pi$ , the solution of the equations (D.20) is

$$Y(e^{i\phi_1}, e^{i\phi_2}) = C \sin\left(\frac{\phi_1 - \phi_2}{2}\right)^{-2\lambda}$$
 (D.21)

for some constant C. Away from this interval, the expression (D.21) should be extended using the periodicity condition (D.1). The state corresponding to this function is generally of the form  $\sum_{m_1 \in \mu + \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{m_2 \in -\mu + \mathbb{Z}} C_{m_1, m_2} |m_1\rangle |m_2\rangle$ , with coefficients  $C_{m_1, m_2}$  obtained by taking the inner product with the basis elements:

$$C_{m_1,m_2} = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int d\phi_1 \int d\phi_2 \, c^*_{\lambda,m_1} c^*_{\lambda,m_2} e^{-im_1\phi_1} e^{-im_2\phi_2} Y(e^{i\phi_1}, e^{i\phi_2}) \tag{D.22}$$

Because Y depends only on  $\phi_1 - \phi_2$ , the only non-zero  $C_{m_1,m_2}$  are those with  $m_1 = -m_2$ . Using

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} d\phi \, e^{-im\phi} \left(\sin\frac{\phi}{2}\right)^{-2\lambda} = \frac{-2e^{-im\pi}\sin(m\pi)\Gamma(1-2\lambda)\Gamma(\lambda-m)}{\Gamma(1-\lambda-m)}\,,\tag{D.23}$$

and  $\lambda = \frac{1}{2} + is$ , the expression (D.22) with  $m_1 = -m_2 = m$  evaluates to

$$C_{m,-m} = e^{-i\pi m} C \frac{\sin(\pi\mu)}{2s\sin(\pi(\mu-\lambda))\sinh(2\pi s)\Gamma(2is)} \sqrt{\frac{\cos(2\pi\mu) + \cosh(2\pi s)}{2}} .$$
(D.24)

We see that up to an *m*-independent constant,  $C_{m,-m} \propto (-1)^m$ , so (D.24) agrees with (D.19).

# D.1 Clebsch-Gordan coefficients: $\mathcal{C}_{\lambda_1=\frac{1}{2}+is_1}^{\mu_1}\otimes \mathcal{D}_{\lambda_2}^{\pm} \to \mathcal{C}_{\lambda=\frac{1}{2}+is}^{\mu}$

In [62] a general recipe was outlined for obtaining the "Clebsch-Gordan" coefficients for  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ .<sup>59</sup> and, in particular, ref. [62] constructed the decomposition of the tensor products  $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda_1}^+ \otimes \mathcal{D}_{\lambda_2}^+$  and  $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda_1}^+ \otimes \mathcal{D}_{\lambda_2}^-$ . Here we follow the same recipe to determine the Clebsch-Gordan coefficients and fusion coefficients between two continuous series representations and a positive/negative discrete series representation:

$$\mathcal{C}^{\mu_1}_{\lambda_1 = \frac{1}{2} + is_1} \otimes \mathcal{D}^{\pm}_{\lambda_2} \to \mathcal{C}^{\mu}_{\lambda = \frac{1}{2} + is}, \qquad (D.25)$$

with  $\mu = \mu_1 \pm \lambda$ . The state  $|s, m\rangle$  that is part of  $C^{\mu}_{\lambda = \frac{1}{2} + is}$  in the tensor product (D.25) must take the form

$$|s,m\rangle = \sum_{m_2=\pm(\lambda+\mathbb{Z}^+)} C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s} |m-m_2\rangle |m_2\rangle$$
(D.26)

where  $C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s}$  is the Clebsch-Gordan coefficient and the range of  $m_2$  depends on whether it comes from the positive or negative discrete series.

As in the previous section, we determine  $C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s}$  in a rather indirect way by first constructing the functions  $Y_{s,m}(e^{i\phi_1},e^{i\phi_2})$  that represent the state (D.26). This function can be found using the conditions that

$$L_0 Y_{s,m} = -m Y_{s,m} ,$$

$$\left( -L_0^2 + \frac{L_1 L_{-1} + L_{-1} L_1}{2} \right) Y_{s,m} = \lambda (1 - \lambda) Y_{s,m} ,$$
(D.27)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup>Alternatively, see [86] and [87] for a more mathematical approach.

where  $L_n = L_n^{(1)} + L_n^{(2)}$  and  $\lambda = \frac{1}{2} + is$ . Let us first solve these equations for  $0 < \phi_1 < 2\pi$ and  $0 < \phi_1 - \phi_2 < 2\pi$ . (The expression for Y can then be continued away from this range using the appropriate periodicity condition (D.1) in both  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$ .)

The first equation in (D.27) implies that  $Y_{s,m}$  equals  $e^{im\phi_1}$  times a function of  $\phi_1 - \phi_2$ . The second condition gives a second order differential equation for this function of  $\phi_1 - \phi_2$  with two linearly independent solutions

$$Y_{s,m}^{-}(e^{i\phi_1}, e^{i\phi_2}) = B_{s,m}^{-}e^{im\phi_1}e^{i\lambda_2(\phi_1 - \phi_2)} \left(1 - e^{i(\phi_1 - \phi_2)}\right)^{\lambda - \lambda_1 - \lambda_2} \times {}_2F_1(\lambda - \lambda_1 + \lambda_2, \lambda + m, 1 + m - \lambda_1 + \lambda_2, e^{i(\phi_1 - \phi_2)}).$$
(D.28)

and

$$Y_{s,m}^{+}(e^{i\phi_{1}}, e^{i\phi_{2}}) = B_{s,m}^{+}e^{im\phi_{2}}e^{i(\lambda_{2}-m)(\phi_{2}-\phi_{1})}\left(1-e^{i(\phi_{2}-\phi_{1})}\right)^{\lambda-\lambda_{1}-\lambda_{2}} \times {}_{2}F_{1}(\lambda-\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2},\lambda-m,1-m-\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2},e^{i(\phi_{2}-\phi_{1})}).$$
(D.29)

for some constant  $B_{s,m}^{\pm}$ . Both of the solutions are linearly dependent under  $s \to -s$ , thus from now on, we will restrict to s > 0. As suggested by the notation, this specific basis of solutions correspond precisely to the generating functions for Clebsch-Gordon coefficients for the tensor product  $C_{\lambda_1=\frac{1}{2}+is_1}^{\mu_1} \otimes D_{\lambda_2}^{\pm}$ . This is fixed by requiring that  $Y_{s,m}^+(z,w)w^{-\lambda_2}$ and  $Y_{s,m}^-(z,1/w)w^{-\lambda_2}$  to be holomorphic inside the unit disk |w| < 1, as suggested by the one-side bounded sum in  $m_2$  in (D.26), with  $m_2 = \pm (\lambda_2 + \mathbb{Z}^+)$  [62].

The dependence of  $B_{s,m}^-$  on m is fixed by requiring  $Y_{s,m}^-$  to transform appropriately under the action of the raising and lowering operators. Explicit computation shows that

$$L_1 Y_{s,m}^- = -\frac{(\lambda+m)(1-\lambda+m)}{1+m-\lambda_1+\lambda_2} \frac{B_{s,m}^-}{B_{s,m+1}^-} Y_{s,m+1}^-.$$
 (D.30)

Comparing with the desired relation  $L_1Y_{s,m}^- = -\sqrt{(\lambda+m)(1-\lambda+m)}Y_{s,m+1}^-$ , we obtain the recursion formula

$$B_{s,m+1}^{-} = \frac{\sqrt{(\lambda+m)(1-\lambda+m)}}{1+m-\lambda_1+\lambda_2} B_{s,m}^{-}.$$
 (D.31)

Up to an overall constant which we denote by  $B_s^-$ , this recursion is solved by

$$B_{s,m}^{-} = \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma(\lambda+m)\Gamma(1-\lambda+m)}}{\Gamma(1-\lambda_1+\lambda_2+m)} B_s^{-}.$$
 (D.32)

Similarly we can determine  $B_{s,m}^+$  by recursion relations

$$L_1 Y_{s,m}^+ = -(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2 + m) \frac{B_{s,m}^+}{B_{s,m+1}^+} Y_{s,m+1}^+.$$
(D.33)

to be

$$B_{s,m}^{+} = \frac{\Gamma(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2 + m)}{\sqrt{\Gamma(\lambda + m)\Gamma(1 - \lambda + m)}} B_s^{+}.$$
 (D.34)

**Normalization.** We would like to compute the normalization constant  $\mathcal{N}(s)$  for the inner product of states (D.26),

$$\langle s, m | s', m' \rangle = \mathcal{N}(s)\delta(s - s')\delta_{mm'}$$
 (D.35)

For this purpose, it is sufficient to consider m = m', and take the inner product of the functions representing the l.h.s. of (D.35). Using (D.26), we can write this inner product as

$$\langle s, m | s', m \rangle = \sum_{m_2} (C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s})^* C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s'}$$
(D.36)

(The answer should be independent of m.) The expected delta functions in (D.35) arise from the large  $m_2$  terms in the sum. Thus, let us compute

$$C_{m-m_{2},m_{2},m}^{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s} = \langle m - m_{2} | \langle m_{2},^{\pm} | s, m \rangle$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{c_{\lambda_{2},m_{2}}^{\pm} e^{im_{2}\phi_{2}}} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int d\phi_{1} c_{\lambda_{1},m-m_{2}}^{*} e^{-i(m-m_{2})\phi_{1}} Y_{s,m}^{\pm}(e^{i\phi_{1}},e^{i\phi_{2}})$$
(D.37)

at large  $m_2$ .

We first start by considering  $\lambda_2$  in the negative discrete series. After plugging in the expression for Y and writing  $\phi_1 = \phi_2 + \phi$ , we obtain

$$C_{m-m_{2},m_{2},m}^{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{-},s} = B_{s} \frac{c_{\lambda_{1},m-m_{2}}^{*}}{2\pi c_{\lambda_{2},m_{2}}^{-}} \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma(\lambda+m)\Gamma(1-\lambda+m)}}{\Gamma(1-\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}+m)} \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\phi \, e^{im_{2}\phi} e^{i\lambda_{2}\phi} \left(1-e^{i\phi}\right)^{\lambda-\lambda_{1}-\lambda_{2}} \times {}_{2}F_{1}(\lambda-\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2},\lambda+m,1+m-\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2},e^{i\phi}).$$
(D.38)

The large  $m_2$  behavior of the  $\phi$  integral comes from the regions where the integrand is singular or non-analytic (because the  $\phi$  integral extracts a Fourier coefficient, and in general, Fourier coefficients with large momenta come from singularities in position space). In this case, the singularities of the integrand are at  $e^{i\phi} = 1$ , where the integrand is approximately

$$e^{i(m_2+\lambda_2)\phi} \left[ (1-e^{i\phi})^{\lambda-\lambda_1-\lambda_2} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\lambda)\Gamma(1+m-\lambda_1+\lambda_2)}{\Gamma(1+m-\lambda)\Gamma(1-\lambda-\lambda_1+\lambda_2)} + (\lambda \leftrightarrow 1-\lambda) \right].$$
(D.39)

The integral  $\int_0^{2\pi} d\phi \, e^{-ik\phi} (1 - e^{i\phi})^{\alpha}$  has the same large k asymptotics as the integral

$$\int_0^\infty d\phi \, e^{-ik\phi} (-i)^\alpha \, |\phi|^\alpha + \int_{-\infty}^0 d\phi \, e^{-ik\phi} i^\alpha \, |\phi|^\alpha \, . \tag{D.40}$$

Using the formula  $\int_0^\infty d\phi \, \phi^\alpha e^{-ik\phi-\epsilon\phi} = \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha)}{(\epsilon+ik)^{1+\alpha}}$ , the integral in (D.38) gives, approximately at large  $m_2$ ,

$$-2|m_2|^{\lambda_1+\lambda_2-\lambda-1}\sin\pi(\lambda-\lambda_1-\lambda_2)\Gamma(\lambda-\lambda_1-\lambda_2+1) \times \frac{\Gamma(1-2\lambda)\Gamma(1+m-\lambda_1+\lambda_2)}{\Gamma(1+m-\lambda)\Gamma(1-\lambda-\lambda_1+\lambda_2)} + (\lambda \leftrightarrow 1-\lambda).$$
(D.41)

The prefactor in (D.38) gives

$$\frac{B_s^- c_{\lambda_1,m-m_2}^* e^{-i\pi(m_2+\lambda_2)}}{2\pi} \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma(\lambda+m)\Gamma(1-\lambda+m)}}{\Gamma(1-\lambda_1+\lambda_2+m)} |m_2|^{-\lambda_2+\frac{1}{2}}$$
(D.42)

In total, we have

$$\lim_{m_2 \to -\infty} C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^-,s} = -\frac{c_{\lambda_1,m-m_2}^*}{\pi} B_s^- e^{-i\pi(m_2+\lambda_2)} \sin \pi (\lambda - \lambda_1 - \lambda_2) \left( \frac{\Gamma(\lambda - \lambda_1 - \lambda_2 + 1)}{\Gamma(1 - \lambda - \lambda_1 + \lambda_2)} \times \Gamma(1 - 2\lambda) \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma(\lambda + m)}}{\sqrt{\Gamma(1 - \lambda + m)}} |m_2|^{\lambda_1 - \lambda - \frac{1}{2}} + (\lambda \leftrightarrow 1 - \lambda) \right)$$
(D.43)

Thus, the large  $m_2$  asymptotics of the product  $(C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^-,s})^* C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^-,s'}$  are,

$$|B_s|^2 \left[ |m_2|^{i(s-s')-1} \left| \frac{\Gamma(-2is)}{\Gamma(is_1 - is + \lambda_2)\Gamma(-is - is_1 + \lambda_2)} \right|^2 + \begin{pmatrix} s \to -s \\ s' \to -s' \end{pmatrix} \right], \quad (D.44)$$

where we kept  $s \neq s'$  only in the power of  $m_2$ , anticipating that the sum over  $m_2$  gives a term proportional to  $\delta(s-s')$ . To see why the sum  $\sum_{m_2} (m_2)^{-1+i\alpha}$  gives a delta function, note that we can regularize the sum by taking  $\epsilon > 0$ , thus writing  $\sum m_2^{-1+i\alpha-\epsilon} = \zeta(1-i\alpha-\epsilon)$ . Close to  $\alpha = 0$ , this becomes  $\frac{i}{\alpha+i\epsilon} \to P\frac{i}{\alpha} + \pi\delta(\alpha)$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$ . The  $P\frac{i}{\alpha}$  cancels from the final answer. We finally find

$$\mathcal{N}_{s_1, \lambda_2^-, s} = 2 \left| B_s^- \right|^2 \left| \frac{\Gamma(-2is)}{\Gamma(-is \pm is_1 + \lambda_2)} \right|^2 \,. \tag{D.45}$$

Similarly, we compute  $\mathcal{N}^+$  by focusing on the large  $m_2$  limit of  $(C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^+,s})^* C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^+,s}$  with

$$C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^+,s} = B_s^+ \frac{c_{\lambda_1,m-m_2}^*}{2\pi c_{\lambda_2,m_2}^+} \frac{\Gamma(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2 + m)}{\sqrt{\Gamma(\lambda + m)\Gamma(1 - \lambda + m)}} \int_0^{2\pi} d\phi \, e^{i(\lambda_2 - m_2)\phi} \left(1 - e^{i\phi}\right)^{\lambda - \lambda_1 - \lambda_2} \\ \times \,_2F_1(\lambda - \lambda_1 + \lambda_2, \lambda - m, 1 - m - \lambda_1 + \lambda_2, e^{i\phi}) \,. \tag{D.46}$$

We find after similar manipulations that when fixing  $\lambda_2$  to be in the positive discrete series,

$$\mathcal{N}_{s_1,\,\lambda_2^+,\,s} = 2 \left| B_s^+ \right|^2 \left| \frac{\Gamma(-2is)}{\Gamma(-is\pm is_1+\lambda_2)} \frac{\sin(\pi(\mu_1+\lambda_2+\lambda))}{\sin(\pi(\mu_1+\lambda_1))} \right|^2 \,. \tag{D.47}$$

Clebsch-Gordan coefficients in the  $\mu_1 \to i\infty$  limit. In order to compute the expectation of Wilson lines value once fixing the value of  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}} = -i$  along the boundary we are interested in analytically continuing the product of Clebsch-Gordan coefficients for imaginary values of  $\mu_1$ . Specifically, we would like to compute

$$I_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s} \equiv (\mathcal{N}_{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s})^{-1} C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s} (C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s})^*$$
(D.48)

in the limit  $\mu_1 \to i\infty$ , with  $m - m_2 = \mu_1 + \mathbb{Z}$ . Note that in the above expression we will first take conjugate, and then take the limit  $\mu_1 \to i\infty$ .

We start with (D.38) and (D.46) and use

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} {}_{2}F_{1}(a, b + x, c + x, z) = (1 - z)^{-a}, \qquad (D.49)$$

which holds away from z = 1. In this limit the Clebsch-Gordan coefficients become

$$C_{m-m_{2},m_{2},m}^{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{-},s} \sim B_{s}^{-} \frac{c_{\lambda_{1},m-m_{2}}^{*}}{2\pi c_{\lambda_{2},m_{2}}^{-}} \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma(\lambda+m)\Gamma(1-\lambda+m)}}{\Gamma(1-\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}+m)} \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\phi \, e^{im_{2}\phi} e^{i\lambda_{2}\phi} \left(1-e^{i\phi}\right)^{-2\lambda_{2}},$$

$$(C_{m-m_{2},m_{2},m}^{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{-},s})^{*} \sim (B_{s}^{-})^{*} \frac{c_{\lambda_{1},m-m_{2}}}{2\pi (c_{\lambda_{2},m_{2}}^{-})^{*}} \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma(\lambda+m)\Gamma(1-\lambda+m)}}{\Gamma(\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}+m)} \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\phi \, e^{-im_{2}\phi} e^{-i\lambda_{2}\phi} \left(1-e^{-i\phi}\right)^{-2\lambda_{2}},$$

$$(D.50)$$

Now using

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} d\phi \, e^{ia\phi} \left(1 - e^{i\phi}\right)^{b} = \frac{i(1 - e^{2\pi ia})\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b+1)}{\Gamma(1+a+b)} = \frac{2\pi e^{\pi ia}\Gamma(b+1)}{\Gamma(1-a)\Gamma(1+a+b)}, \qquad (D.51)$$

valid by analytic continuation in b, and

$$\lim_{z \to \infty, z \notin \mathbb{R}_{-}} \Gamma(z) \sim e^{-z} z^{z} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{z}} (1 + \mathcal{O}(1/z)), \qquad (D.52)$$

we have that in the limit  $\mu_1 \to i\infty$ , and consequently in the limit  $m \to i\infty$ ,

$$C_{m-m_{2},m_{2},m}^{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{-},s} \sim \frac{B_{s}^{-}}{c_{\lambda_{2},m_{2}}^{-}} m^{-\lambda_{2}} e^{\pi i (m_{2}+\lambda_{2})} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\lambda_{2})}{\Gamma(1-\lambda_{2}\pm m_{2})},$$

$$C_{m-m_{2},m_{2},m_{2}}^{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{-},s} \rightarrow * \dots \qquad (B_{s}^{-})^{*} - m^{-\lambda_{2}} e^{\pi i (m_{2}+\lambda_{2})} \Gamma(1-2\lambda_{2})$$
(D.53)

$$(C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2,s})^* \sim \frac{(D_s)}{(c_{\lambda_2,m_2}^-)^*} m^{-\lambda_2} e^{\pi i (m_2+\lambda_2)} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\lambda_2)}{\Gamma(1-\lambda_2\pm m_2)}.$$

Putting this together, we obtain

$$I_{m-m_{2},m_{2},m}^{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{-},s} \sim = \mu_{1}^{-2\lambda_{2}} \frac{\Gamma(1-m_{2}-\lambda_{2})}{\Gamma(\lambda_{2}-m_{2})} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\lambda_{2})^{2}}{\Gamma(1-\lambda_{2}\pm m_{2})^{2}} \mathcal{I}$$
  
$$= \mu_{1}^{-2\lambda_{2}} (-1)^{m_{2}+\lambda_{2}} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\lambda_{2})}{\Gamma(2\lambda_{2})\Gamma(1-\lambda_{2}\pm m_{2})} \mathcal{I},$$
 (D.54)

with

$$\mathcal{I} = \frac{1}{2} \left| \frac{\Gamma(-is \pm is_1 + \lambda_2)}{\Gamma(-2is)} \right|^2 = \frac{s \sinh(2\pi s)}{\pi} \Gamma(\pm is \pm is_1 + \lambda_2).$$
(D.55)

Similarly we have in this limit

$$C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^+,s} \sim B_s^+ \frac{c_{\lambda_1,m-m_2}^*}{2\pi c_{\lambda_2,m_2}} \frac{\Gamma(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2 + m)}{\sqrt{\Gamma(\lambda + m)\Gamma(1 - \lambda + m)}} \int_0^{2\pi} d\phi \, e^{i(\lambda_2 - m_2)\phi} \left(1 - e^{i\phi}\right)^{-2\lambda_2},\tag{D.56}$$

which, together with the conjugate relation, yields in the limit  $\mu_1 \to i\infty$  and  $m - m_2 \to i\infty$ ,

$$C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^+,s} \sim \frac{B_s^+}{c_{\lambda_2,m_2}} m^{-\lambda_2} e^{\pi i (m_2 - \lambda_2)} \frac{\Gamma(1 - 2\lambda_2)}{\Gamma(1 - \lambda_2 \pm m_2)} (C_{m-m_2,m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^+,s})^* \sim \frac{(B_s^+)^*}{c_{\lambda_2,m_2}^*} m^{-\lambda_2} e^{\pi i (m_2 - \lambda_2)} \frac{\Gamma(1 - 2\lambda_2)}{\Gamma(1 - \lambda_2 \pm m_2)},$$
(D.57)

and

$$I_{m-m_{2},m_{2},m}^{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{+},s} \sim \mu_{1}^{-2\lambda_{2}} \frac{\Gamma(m_{2}+1-\lambda_{2})}{\Gamma(m_{2}+\lambda_{2})} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\lambda_{2})^{2}}{\Gamma(1-\lambda_{2}\pm m_{2})^{2}} \mathcal{I}$$
  
=  $\mu_{1}^{-2\lambda_{2}} (-1)^{m_{2}-\lambda_{2}} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\lambda_{2})}{\Gamma(2\lambda_{2})\Gamma(1-\lambda_{2}\pm m_{2})} \mathcal{I},$  (D.58)

which is identical to  $I_{m+m_2,-m_2,m}^{s_1,\lambda_2^-,s}$ .

#### D.2 Fusion coefficient as $\mu \to i\infty$

We are interested in generalizing the simple Clebsch-Gordan decomposition of the product of matrix element for some group element g (given by  $U_{R_1,n}^m(g)U_{R_1,n'}^{m'}(g)$ ) for compact groups, to the case of  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ . To do this we start by inserting two complete set of states to re-express the product of two  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  matrix elements

$$\begin{split} U_{(\lambda_{1}=\frac{1}{2}+is_{1},\mu_{1}),n_{1}}^{m_{1}}(g)U_{\lambda_{2}^{\pm},n_{2}}^{m_{2}}(g) &= \langle (\lambda_{1},\mu_{1}),m_{1};\lambda_{2}^{\pm},m_{2}|g|(\lambda_{1},\mu_{1}),n_{1};\lambda_{2}^{\pm},n_{2}\rangle \\ &= \int \frac{ds}{\mathcal{N}_{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s}} \frac{ds'}{\mathcal{N}_{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s'}} \langle (\lambda_{1},\mu_{1}),m_{1};\lambda_{2}^{\pm},m_{2}|(\lambda,\mu_{1}\pm\lambda_{2}),m_{1}+m_{2}\rangle \\ &\times \langle (\lambda_{1},\mu_{1}),n_{1};\lambda_{2}^{\pm},n_{2}|(\lambda',\mu_{1}\pm\lambda_{2}),n_{1}+n_{2}\rangle^{*} \langle \lambda,m_{1}+m_{2}|g|\lambda',n_{1}+n_{2}\rangle \\ &+ \text{ discrete series contributions.} \end{split}$$
(D.59)

Thus, the product of two matrix elements is given by

$$U_{(\lambda_{1}=\frac{1}{2}+is_{1},\mu_{1}),n_{1}}^{m_{1}}(g)U_{\lambda_{2},n_{2}}^{m_{2}}(g) = \int \frac{ds}{\mathcal{N}_{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{+},s}} C_{m_{1},m_{2},m_{1}+m_{2}}^{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s} (C_{n_{1},n_{2},n_{1}+n_{2}}^{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s})^{*} U_{(\lambda=\frac{1}{2}+is,\mu+\lambda_{2}),n_{1}+n_{2}}^{m_{1}+m_{2}}(g) + \text{discrete series contributions}.$$
(D.60)

In the limit  $\mu_1 \to i\infty$  we are interested in computing the fusion between the regular character  $\chi_{(s_1,\mu_1)}(g)$  and the truncated character  $\overline{\chi}_{\lambda_2^{\pm}}(g)$  defined in (4.9). Thus, the product of characters is given by

$$\chi_{(s_1,\mu_1)}(g)\overline{\chi}_{\lambda_2^{\pm}}(g) = \int ds \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\Xi} I^{s_1,\lambda_2,s}_{\mu_1+\tilde{k},\pm(\lambda_2+k),\mu_1+\tilde{k}\pm(\lambda_2+k)}\right) \chi_{(s,\mu_1+\lambda_2)}(g) + \text{discrete series contributions},$$
(D.61)

where we identify  $m_1 = \mu_1 + \tilde{k}$  and  $m_2 = \pm (\lambda_2 + k)$  with  $\tilde{k} \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ . We note that the sum over k yields a result that is independent of  $\tilde{k}$ , therefore leading to the separation of the sums in (D.60). Alternatively, the results above can be recasted as the group integral of three matrix elements given by

$$\int dg U_{(is_1,\mu_1),n_1}^{m_1}(g) U_{\lambda_2,n_2}^{m_2}(g) U_{(s,\mu_1+\lambda_2),m_1+m_2}^{n_1+n_2}(hg^{-1}) = \frac{C_{m_1,m_2,m_1+m_2}^{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s}(C_{n_1,n_2,n_1+n_2}^{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s})^* U_{(\lambda=\frac{1}{2}+is,\mu+\lambda_2),m+m'}^{n+n'}(h)}{\rho(s,\mu+\lambda_2)\mathcal{N}_{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s}}, \qquad (D.62)$$

where  $\rho(s, \mu + l_2)$  is the  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  Plancherel measure in (C.24), and where we note that the product  $\rho(s, \mu + \lambda_2)\mathcal{N}_{s_1,\lambda_2^+,s}$  is symmetric under the exchange of  $s_1$  and s. Consequently, the product of two regular continuous series characters and a regularized discrete series character is given by

$$\int dg \,\chi_{(s_1,\mu_1)}(g) \overline{\chi}_{\lambda_2^{\pm}}(g) \chi_{(s,\mu_1+\lambda_2)}(hg^{-1}) = \frac{\chi_{(s,\mu_1+\lambda_2)}(h)}{\rho(s,\mu_1+\lambda_2)} \sum_{m_1-m_2} I_{m_1,m_2,m_1+m_2}^{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm},s}.$$
 (D.63)

Using eq. (D.54) and (D.58) we thus find that by taking the  $\mu_1 \to i\infty$  limit and truncating the sum over  $m_1 - m_2$ ,

$$\lim_{\mu_1 \to i\infty} \int dg \,\chi_{(s_1,\mu_1)}(g)^{\bar{\iota}} \chi_{\lambda_2^{\pm}}(g) \chi_{(\lambda=\frac{1}{2}+is,\mu_1+\lambda_2)}(hg^{-1}) = \frac{N_{\lambda_2^{\pm}}N^s{}_{s_1,\lambda_2^{\pm}}}{\rho(s,\mu_1+\lambda_2)} \chi_{(s,\mu_1+\lambda_2)}(h) \,, \ (D.64)$$

where we define the fusion coefficient  $N^{s_1,\lambda_1}{}_s$  in the  $\mu_1 \to i\infty$  limit,

$$N^{s}_{s_{1},\lambda_{2}^{\pm}} \equiv \frac{|\Gamma(\lambda_{2} + is_{1} - is)\Gamma(\lambda_{2} + is_{1} + is)|^{2}}{\Gamma(2\lambda_{2})}, \qquad (D.65)$$

up to a  $\lambda_2^{\pm}$  dependent normalization constant,

$$N_{\lambda_{2}^{\pm}} = \sum_{k=0}^{\Xi} \mu_{1}^{-2\lambda_{2}} (-1)^{k} \frac{\Gamma(1-2\lambda_{2})}{\Gamma(1+k)\Gamma(1-k-2\lambda_{2})} = \frac{(-1)^{\Xi} \mu_{1}^{-2\lambda_{2}} \Gamma(-2\lambda_{2})}{\Xi! \Gamma(-\Xi-2\lambda_{2})} .$$
(D.66)

As we take the cut-off,  $\Xi \to \infty$ , the normalization constant becomes

$$N_{\lambda_{2}^{\pm}} = \frac{\mu_{1}^{-2\lambda_{2}}\Xi^{2\lambda_{2}}}{\Gamma(1+2\lambda_{2})} \tag{D.67}$$

Using the fusion coefficient, together with the normalization factor, we compute the expectation value of the Wilson lines in section 4.

#### D.3 6-j symbols

To obtain the OTO-correlator in section 4.4 we need to consider the integral of six characters in (4.18),

where, for the case of interest in section 4.4,  $s_1$ ,  $s_2$ ,  $s_3$ , and  $s_4$  label continuous series representations, and  $\lambda_1^{\pm}$  and  $\lambda_2^{\pm}$  label representations in the positive/negative discrete series. As in the case of computing the time-ordered correlators of the Wilson lines we first consider the result when  $\mu_1 \in \mathbb{R}$  and only afterwards analytically continue the final result to  $\mu_1 \to i\infty$ .

The sums over  $\tilde{m}_1$  and  $\tilde{n}_1$ , as well as that over  $\tilde{m}_2$  and  $\tilde{n}_2$  are truncated according to the regularization prescription for the characters associated to the Wilson lines. Evaluating the integrals we find

$$\sum_{m_{i},n_{i},\tilde{m}_{i},\tilde{n}_{i},q_{4}} U_{s_{4},q_{4}}^{m_{4}}(g) \frac{C_{m_{1},\tilde{m}_{1},m_{4}}^{s_{1},\lambda_{1}^{\pm},s_{4}}(C_{n_{1},\tilde{n}_{1},q_{4}}^{s_{1},\lambda_{1}^{\pm},s_{4}})^{*}}{\rho(s_{4},\mu_{4})\mathcal{N}_{s_{1},\lambda_{1}^{\pm},s_{4}}} \frac{C_{m_{1},\tilde{m}_{2},m_{1}}^{s_{2},\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s_{1}}(C_{n_{2},\tilde{n}_{1},n_{1}}^{s_{2},\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s_{1}})^{*}}{\rho(s_{1},\mu_{1})\mathcal{N}_{s_{2},\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s_{1}}} \times \frac{C_{m_{3},\tilde{m}_{1},m_{2}}^{s_{3},\lambda_{1}^{\pm},s_{2}}(C_{n_{3},\tilde{n}_{1},n_{2}}^{s_{3},\lambda_{1}^{\pm},s_{2}})^{*}}{\rho(s_{2},\mu_{2})\mathcal{N}_{s_{3},\lambda_{1}^{\pm},s_{2}}} \frac{C_{n_{4},\tilde{n}_{2},m_{3}}^{s_{4},\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s_{3}}(C_{q_{4},\tilde{m}_{2},n_{3}}^{s_{4},\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s_{3}})^{*}}{\rho(s_{3},\mu_{3})\mathcal{N}_{s_{4},\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s_{3}}}.$$
 (D.69)

Performing the sums over the  $n_1$ ,  $n_2$ ,  $n_3$ ,  $\tilde{n}_1$  and  $\tilde{n}_2$  states we obtain the 6-j symbol associated to the six representations  $s_1$ ,  $s_2$ ,  $s_3$ ,  $s_4$ ,  $\lambda_1^{\pm}$ , and  $\lambda_2^{\pm}$ . Furthermore, the sum also imposes the constraint  $m_4 = q_4$ . The remaining sum over four Clebsch-Gordan coefficient yields the square root for the factor present in (D.64). Specifically, we obtain that (D.69) equals

$$N_{\lambda_{1}^{\pm}}N_{\lambda_{2}^{\pm}}\chi_{s_{4}}(g)\sqrt{N^{s_{4}}}_{\lambda_{1}^{\pm},s_{1}}N^{s_{3}}_{\lambda_{1}^{\pm},s_{2}}N^{s_{3}}_{\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s_{1}}N^{s_{4}}_{\lambda_{2}^{\pm},s_{2}}R_{s_{3}s_{4}}\left[s_{1}^{s_{2}}\lambda_{1}\right].$$
 (D.70)

The 6-j symbol for  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  is given by [76]

$$R_{s_3s_4} \begin{bmatrix} s_2 \lambda_2 \\ s_1 \lambda_1 \end{bmatrix} = \mathbb{W}(s_3, s_4; \lambda_1 + is_2, \lambda_1 - is_2, \lambda_2 - is_1, \lambda_2 + is_1)$$

$$\times \sqrt{\Gamma(\lambda_2 \pm is_1 \pm is_3)\Gamma(\lambda_1 \pm is_2 \pm is_3)\Gamma(\lambda_1 \pm is_1 \pm is_4)\Gamma(\lambda_2 \pm is_2 \pm is_4)},$$
(D.71)

where the Wilson function  $\mathbb{W}(s_a, s_b; \lambda_1 + is_2, \lambda_1 - is_2, \lambda_2 - is_1, \lambda_2 + is_1)$  is given by [75]

$$\mathbb{W}(\alpha,\beta,a,b,c,d) \equiv \frac{\Gamma(d-a)_4 F_3 \left[ \begin{array}{c} a+i\beta & a-i\beta & a-i\beta & \tilde{a}+i\alpha \\ a+b & a+c & a+c & 1+a-d \end{array} \right]}{\Gamma(a+b)\Gamma(a+c)\Gamma(d\pm i\beta)\Gamma(\tilde{d}\pm i\alpha)} + (a\leftrightarrow d)\,, \qquad (\mathrm{D.72})$$

with  $\tilde{a} = (a + b + c - d)/2$  and  $\tilde{d} = (b + c + d - a)/2$ . The normalization for the 6-j symbol in (D.71) is obtained by imposing the orthogonality relation (4.26) using the orthogonality properties of the Wilson function [75, 76]. Such an orthogonality condition on the 6-j symbol follows from its definition in terms of a sum of Clebsch-Gordan coefficients as that shown in (D.69).

Firstly we note that the result is the same when considering  $\lambda_1$  or  $\lambda_2$  in the positive or negative discrete series. Furthermore, since the result is explicitly independent of  $\mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3$  and  $\mu_4$  one can easily perform the analytic continuation to  $\mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3, \mu_4 \rightarrow i\infty$  as required by our boundary conditions on the field  $\phi^{\mathbb{R}}$ . Putting this together with the analytic continuation of the fusion coefficients presented in the previous sub-section we find the final results from section 4.

## E Wilson lines as probe particles in JT gravity

As mentioned in section 4, the insertion of a Wilson loop in 3D Chern-Simons theory with gauge algebra  $\mathfrak{so}(2,2)$  (or an isomorphic algebra) can be interpreted as the effective action of a massive probe in AdS<sub>3</sub> (or other spaces with an isomorphic symmetry algebra) [68– 73]. In this appendix we extend this interpretation to 2D. Specifically, we outline the proof of the equivalence, as stated in section 4.1, between the boundary-anchored Wilson line observables  $W_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2})$  in the  $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}_B$  BF theory formulation, and the boundary-toboundary propagator of a massive particle in the metric formulation of JT gravity. The latter is given by the functional integral over all paths x(s) diffeomorphic to the curve  $\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}$ weighted with the standard point particle action (here  $\dot{x}^{\mu} = \frac{dx^{\mu}}{ds}$ )

$$S[x, g_{\mu\nu}] = m \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1 \tau_2}} ds \sqrt{g_{\mu\nu} \dot{x}^{\mu} \dot{x}^{\nu}} \,. \tag{E.1}$$

Concretely, we would like to demonstrate that

$$\widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda,k=0}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}) = \operatorname{tr}_{\lambda,k=0}\left(\mathcal{P}\exp\int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}} A\right) \cong \int_{\operatorname{paths}} \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}} [dx] \, e^{-S[x,g_{\mu\nu}]},\tag{E.2}$$

where the mass of the particle is determined by the  $\mathcal{G}_B$  representation  $(\lambda, k = -2\pi\lambda/B)$  as  $m^2 = \lambda(\lambda - 1) = -C_2(\lambda)$ .<sup>60</sup> From now on we assume  $|\lambda| > 1$  in order for  $m^2 > 0$ . In the equation above, we have taken the limit  $B \to \infty$  thus set k = 0. Consequently the Wilson line  $\widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda,k=0}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2})$  only couples to the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ -components of the  $\mathcal{G}_B$  gauge field. In the rest of this appendix, we will implicitly assume that A take values in  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ . For notation convenience, we will refer to these Wilson lines as  $\widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2})$  from now on.<sup>61</sup>

The congruence symbol  $\cong$  in (E.2) indicates that we want to prove an operator equivalence inside the functional integral of JT gravity. Indeed, the right-hand side of (E.2) depends only on the diffeomorphism class of the path  $C_{\tau_1\tau_2}$ , whereas the Wilson line operator  $\widehat{W}_{\lambda}(C_{\tau_1\tau_2})$  on the left-hand side follows some given path. So in writing (E.2), we implicitly assume that  $\widehat{W}_{\lambda}(C_{\tau_1\tau_2})$  is evaluated inside the functional integral of a diffeomorphism invariant BF gauge theory.

To start proving (E.2), following [88, 89], we rewrite the Wilson line  $\widehat{W}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2})$  around a given space-time contour  $\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}$ , parametrized by an auxiliary variable s, as a functional integral over paths  $g(s) \in PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$  via<sup>62</sup>

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\lambda}\left(\mathcal{P}\exp\oint_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1}\tau_{2}}}A\right) = \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1}\tau_{2}}}[dg]_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} e^{-S_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}[g,A]}$$
(E.3)

where  $S_{\alpha}[g, A]$  denotes the (first order) coadjoint orbit action of the representation  $\lambda$ , coupled to a background  $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R})$  gauge field  $A_s(s) \equiv A_{\mu}(x(s))\dot{x}^{\mu}(s)$ 

$$S_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}[g,A] = \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}} ds \operatorname{tr}\left(\boldsymbol{\alpha} \, g^{-1} D_A g\right) = \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}} ds \, \left(\operatorname{tr}\left(\boldsymbol{\alpha} \, g^{-1} \partial_s g\right) - \operatorname{tr}\left(A_s g \boldsymbol{\alpha} g^{-1}\right)\right).$$
(E.4)

Here  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \alpha_i P^i \in \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  denotes some *fixed* Lie algebra element with specified length squared equal to the second Casimir

$$tr(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^2) = -C_2(\lambda) = -\lambda(\lambda - 1)$$
(E.5)

The classical phase space in (E.4) is over the (co)adjoint orbit of the Lie algebra element  $\alpha$ 

$$\mathcal{O}_{\alpha} \equiv \{ g \alpha g^{-1} | g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{R}) \}$$
(E.6)

Consequently the path integral is over maps from  $\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2} \to \mathcal{O}_{\alpha}$  which can be equivalently described by their lift  $g: \mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2} \to \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  up to an identification due to local right group

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup>For notational simplicity, we take all Wilson lines to be in the positive discrete series representations in this section. We also emphasize that the Wilson line in the representation  $(\lambda, k)$  is a defect operator (external probe), thus k is not constrained to be  $k_0$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup>Equivalently, one can think of the boundary-anchored Wilson lines  $\widehat{W}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2})$  as  $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  Wilson lines in the discrete series representation  $\lambda$  (projective for  $\lambda \notin \mathbb{Z}$ ) of  $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup>Note that coadjoint orbits of a connected semisimple Lie group are identical with those of the universal cover groups, as evident from the definition (E.6) for the  $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$  case and its coverings.

action by the stabilizer of  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$  on g. This is the meaning of path integral measure  $[dg]_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}$  in (E.3).

Let us briefly recall why equation (E.3) holds. Expanding g around a base-point, with  $g = e^{x^a(s)P_a}g(s_0)$ , we find from (E.4) that the canonical momenta associated to  $x^a(s)$  are give by

$$\pi_{x^i} = \operatorname{tr}(P^i g \boldsymbol{\alpha} g^{-1}), \tag{E.7}$$

which are in fact the generators of the  $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  symmetry which acts by left multiplication on g, as  $g \to Ug$ . The Casimir associated to  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  component of  $\mathcal{G}_B$  is given by  $\widehat{C}_2^{\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})} =$  $-\eta^{ij}\pi_{x^i}\pi_{x^j} = -\operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^2)$ . The Hilbert space of the theory is spanned by functions on the group  $\mathcal{G}_B$  which are invariant under right group actions that stabilize  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ . The Hilbert space of the quantum mechanics model on  $\mathcal{O}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}$  thus forms an irreducible (projective)  $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ representation  $\lambda$ . Since the functional integral around a closed path  $g(s) \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ amounts to taking the trace over the Hilbert space, we arrive at the identity (E.3).<sup>63</sup>

Since the identity (E.3) holds for any choice of Lie algebra element  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$  with length squared given by (E.5), we are free to include in the definition of  $\mathcal{W}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2})$  a functional integral over all Lie algebra elements of the form

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}(s) = \alpha_a(s)P^a = \alpha_1(s)P^1 + \alpha_2(s)P^2 \tag{E.8}$$

subject to the constraint (E.5). This leads to the identity (up to an overall factor that does not depend on A)

$$\widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_{1}\tau_{2}}) \sim \int [d\alpha_{1,2}dgd\Theta] e^{-S_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}[g,\Theta,A]}$$
(E.9)

with

$$S_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}[g,\Theta,A] = \oint_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}} ds \left( \operatorname{tr} \left( \boldsymbol{\alpha} \, g^{-1} D_A g \right) + i\Theta(\eta^{ab} \alpha_a \alpha_b - m^2) \right) \,. \tag{E.10}$$

Here  $m^2 = \lambda(\lambda - 1)$  and  $\Theta$  denotes a Lagrange multiplier that enforces the constraint (E.5). This already looks closely analogous to the world line action of a point particle of mass m.

So far we have considered a general background gauge field A in the bulk. In the context in which we make A dynamical and perform the path integral in the BF-theory in the presence of a defect (2.15), the path integral (after integrating out the adjoint scalar  $\phi$ ) localizes to configurations of flat A, away from the defect. Similarly, on the JT gravity side (in the metric formulation), integrating out the dilaton  $\Phi$  forces the ambient metric on the disk to be that of AdS<sub>2</sub>. Thus for the purpose of proving (E.2), we can take A to be flat on the BF theory side, and the metric to be AdS<sub>2</sub> on the JT gravity side.

The action (E.10) is invariant under gauge transformations U(s) for which  $g \to U(s)g$ , together with the corresponding gauge transformation of A which leaves the connection flat. Note however the gauge transformation mixes the components of A associated to the frames and spin connection. We can always (partially) gauge fix by setting  $g = \mathbf{1}$  by choosing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup>This is because we are considering a boundary condition with  $A_{\tau} = 0$ . Consequently, the boundaryanchored Wilson line has the same expectation value as a Wilson loop that touches the boundary.

 $U(s) = g^{-1}(s)$  along the curve  $C_{\tau_1\tau_2}$  and smoothly extending this gauge transformation onto the entire disk.<sup>64</sup> After such a gauge fixing, the action (E.10) simply becomes,

$$S_1[x,k,\lambda,g^{\mu\nu}] \equiv \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}} ds (k_\mu \dot{x}^\mu + i\Theta(g^{\mu\nu}k_\mu k_\nu - m^2))$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}} ds \left(\eta_{ab}\alpha^a \tilde{e}^b_\mu \dot{x}^\mu + i\Theta(\eta^{ab}\alpha_a\alpha_b - m^2)\right),$$
(E.11)

where  $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{ab} e^a_{\mu} e^b_{\nu}$  is the AdS<sub>2</sub> metric associated to the background flat connection Aand  $k_{\mu} \equiv \alpha_a e^a_{\mu}$ . The action (E.11) agrees with the first order action for a particle moving on the world-line  $C_{\tau_1\tau_2}$ . To finish the proof, we need to show that the path integral over flat A in the BF theory reproduces the integral over paths diffeomorphic to  $C_{\tau_1\tau_2}$  for the particle in the JT gravity.

As mentioned in section 2.1, space-time diffeomorphisms can be identified with field dependent gauge transformations in the BF theory when the gauge field is flat

$$\delta_{\xi}^{\text{diff}} = \delta_{\epsilon}^{\text{gauge}} \,, \tag{E.12}$$

where the vector field  $\xi^{\mu}(x)$  generating the diffeomorphism transformation and the infinitesimal gauge transformation parameter  $\epsilon^{a}(x)$  (vanish on the boundary) are related by

$$\epsilon^{a}(x) = e^{a}_{\mu}(x)\xi^{\mu}(x), \qquad \epsilon^{0}(x) = \omega_{\mu}(x)\xi^{\mu}(x).$$
 (E.13)

Since flat connections A are generated by gauge transformations, the equivalence (E.12) acting on  $\tilde{e}^b_{\mu}$  implies that,

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}} ds \left( \eta_{ab} \alpha^a (\tilde{e}^b_\mu)_\epsilon \dot{x}^\mu + i\Theta(\eta^{ab} \alpha_a \alpha_b - m^2) \right) = \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}^{\xi}} ds \left( \eta_{ab} \alpha^a \tilde{e}^b_\mu \dot{x}^\mu + i\Theta(\eta^{ab} \alpha_a \alpha_b - m^2) \right)$$

where  $(\tilde{e}^b_{\mu})_{\epsilon}$  denotes the finite gauge transformation of  $\tilde{e}^b_{\mu}$  generated by  $\epsilon$ , and  $C^{\xi}_{\tau_1\tau_2}$  denotes a path diffeomorphic to  $C_{\tau_1\tau_2}$  generated by displacement vector field  $\xi$ . Consequently integrating over flat connections A of the BF theory in the presence of the Wilson line insertion is equivalent to integrating over all paths diffeomorphic to the curve  $C_{\tau_1\tau_2}$ , which precisely gives the first order form of (E.1) that describes a particle propagating between boundary points in AdS<sub>2</sub>.<sup>65</sup>

Alternatively, to get the second order formulation for the world-line action we can directly perform the Gaussian integration over  $\alpha_a$  in (E.10) and then integrate out the Lagrange multipler  $\Theta$ . The world-line path integral (E.9) becomes (up to an A independent factor),

$$\widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1\tau_2}) \sim \int [dg] \, e^{-S_2[g,A]} \,, \tag{E.14}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup>There's no obstruction for such extensions since  $\mathcal{G}_B$  is simply connected.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup>Note that in the world-line action (E.11), the fields  $(x^{\nu}, k_{\mu}(x))$  take values in the co-tangent bundle  $T^*\Sigma$ . The path integration measure is the natural one induced by the symplectic structure of  $T^*\Sigma$ .

where the action  $S_2[g, A]$  is specified by

$$S_2[g,A] = m \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1 \tau_2}} ds \sqrt{\eta_{ab} (g^{-1} D_A g)^a (g^{-1} D_A g)^b} \,. \tag{E.15}$$

Due to the integration over g(s), this is a gauge invariant observable as expected. Note that while (E.15) is exact on-shell in order for the path-integral (E.14) to agree with (E.3) one has to appropriately modify the measure [dg] in (E.14).

Once again performing the gauge transformation with  $U(s) = g^{-1}(s)$  along the curve  $C_{\tau_1\tau_2}$  to gauge fix g(s) = 1 and smoothly extending the gauge transformation onto the entire disk, the action (E.15) simply becomes,

$$S_2[g,A] = m \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1 \tau_2}} ds \sqrt{\eta_{ab} e^a_\alpha e^b_\beta \dot{x}^\alpha \dot{x}^\beta} = m \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\tau_1 \tau_2}} ds \sqrt{g_{\alpha\beta} \dot{x}^\alpha \dot{x}^\beta}, \qquad (E.16)$$

which agrees with the 2nd order action (E.1) for a particle moving on the world-line  $C_{\tau_1\tau_2}$ . Following the same reasoning as before, the gauge transformation can be mapped to a diffeomorphism, and integrating over flat connections in the BF theory path integral with the Wilson line insertion, is once again equivalent to integrating over all paths diffeomorphic to the curve  $C_{\tau_1\tau_2}$ . Using this, we finally arrive at the desired equality between the Wilson line observable and the worldline representation of the boundary-to-boundary propagator given by (E.2).<sup>66</sup>

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

## References

- J.M. Maldacena, The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [2] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [3] S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [INSPIRE].
- [4] J. Maldacena and D. Stanford, Remarks on the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 106002 [arXiv:1604.07818] [INSPIRE].
- [5] J. Polchinski and V. Rosenhaus, The Spectrum in the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev Model, JHEP 04 (2016) 001 [arXiv:1601.06768] [INSPIRE].
- [6] M. Mezei, S.S. Pufu and Y. Wang, A 2d/ 1d Holographic Duality, arXiv:1703.08749 [INSPIRE].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup>As usual in AdS/CFT, the worldline observable (boundary-to-boundary propagator) requires appropriate regularization and renormalization due to the infinite proper length near the boundary of AdS<sub>2</sub>. Here in the gauge theory description, we also require a proper renormalization of the boundary-anchored Wilson line to remove the divergence due to the infinite dimensional representation carried by the Wilson line (see (4.9)). It would be interesting to understand the precise relation between the two renormalization schemes.

- [7] D.J. Gross and V. Rosenhaus, A line of CFTs: from generalized free fields to SYK, JHEP 07 (2017) 086 [arXiv:1706.07015] [INSPIRE].
- [8] D.J. Gross and V. Rosenhaus, All point correlation functions in SYK, JHEP 12 (2017) 148 [arXiv:1710.08113] [INSPIRE].
- [9] D. Stanford and E. Witten, Fermionic Localization of the Schwarzian Theory, JHEP 10 (2017) 008 [arXiv:1703.04612] [INSPIRE].
- [10] E. Witten, An SYK-Like Model Without Disorder, J. Phys. A 52 (2019) 474002
   [arXiv:1610.09758] [INSPIRE].
- [11] I.R. Klebanov and G. Tarnopolsky, Uncolored random tensors, melon diagrams and the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev models, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 046004 [arXiv:1611.08915] [INSPIRE].
- [12] A. Kitaev, Hidden Correlations in Hawking Radiation and Thermal Noise, talk given at the Fundamental Physics Prize Symposium, November 10, 2014.
- [13] A. Kitaev, A simple model of quantum holography (part 1), talk at KITP, April 7, 2015, http://online.kitp.ucsb.edu/online/entangled15/kitaev/.
- [14] A. Kitaev, A simple model of quantum holography (part 2), talk at KITP, May 27, 2015, http://online.kitp.ucsb.edu/online/entangled15/kitaev2/.
- [15] J. Maldacena, D. Stanford and Z. Yang, Conformal symmetry and its breaking in two dimensional Nearly Anti-de-Sitter space, PTEP 2016 (2016) 12C104 [arXiv:1606.01857]
   [INSPIRE].
- [16] K. Jensen, Chaos in AdS<sub>2</sub> Holography, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 111601
   [arXiv:1605.06098] [INSPIRE].
- [17] J. Engelsöy, T.G. Mertens and H. Verlinde, An investigation of AdS<sub>2</sub> backreaction and holography, JHEP 07 (2016) 139 [arXiv:1606.03438] [INSPIRE].
- [18] J. Maldacena, D. Stanford and Z. Yang, Diving into traversable wormholes, Fortsch. Phys. 65 (2017) 1700034 [arXiv:1704.05333] [INSPIRE].
- [19] J. Maldacena and X.-L. Qi, Eternal traversable wormhole, arXiv:1804.00491 [INSPIRE].
- [20] D. Harlow and D. Jafferis, *The Factorization Problem in Jackiw-Teitelboim Gravity*, arXiv:1804.01081 [INSPIRE].
- [21] A. Kitaev and S.J. Suh, Statistical mechanics of a two-dimensional black hole, JHEP 05 (2019) 198 [arXiv:1808.07032] [INSPIRE].
- [22] Z. Yang, The Quantum Gravity Dynamics of Near Extremal Black Holes, JHEP 05 (2019)
   205 [arXiv:1809.08647] [INSPIRE].
- [23] P. Saad, S.H. Shenker and D. Stanford, JT gravity as a matrix integral, arXiv:1903.11115 [INSPIRE].
- [24] C. Teitelboim, Gravitation and Hamiltonian Structure in Two Space-Time Dimensions, Phys. Lett. 126B (1983) 41 [INSPIRE].
- [25] R. Jackiw, Lower Dimensional Gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 252 (1985) 343 [INSPIRE].
- [26] A. Blommaert, T.G. Mertens and H. Verschelde, The Schwarzian Theory A Wilson Line Perspective, JHEP 12 (2018) 022 [arXiv:1806.07765] [INSPIRE].
- [27] K. Isler and C.A. Trugenberger, A Gauge Theory of Two-dimensional Quantum Gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 63 (1989) 834 [INSPIRE].

- [28] A.H. Chamseddine and D. Wyler, *Gauge Theory of Topological Gravity in* (1+1)-Dimensions, Phys. Lett. **B 228** (1989) 75 [INSPIRE].
- [29] D. Cangemi and R. Jackiw, Gauge invariant formulations of lineal gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett.
   69 (1992) 233 [hep-th/9203056] [INSPIRE].
- [30] T.G. Mertens, *The Schwarzian theory origins*, *JHEP* **05** (2018) 036 [arXiv:1801.09605] [INSPIRE].
- [31] D. Grumiller, R. McNees, J. Salzer, C. Valcárcel and D. Vassilevich, Menagerie of AdS<sub>2</sub> boundary conditions, JHEP 10 (2017) 203 [arXiv:1708.08471] [INSPIRE].
- [32] H.A. González, D. Grumiller and J. Salzer, Towards a bulk description of higher spin SYK, JHEP 05 (2018) 083 [arXiv:1802.01562] [INSPIRE].
- [33] E. Witten, (2+1)-Dimensional Gravity as an Exactly Soluble System, Nucl. Phys. B 311 (1988) 46 [INSPIRE].
- [34] E. Witten, Quantization of Chern-Simons Gauge Theory With Complex Gauge Group, Commun. Math. Phys. 137 (1991) 29 [INSPIRE].
- [35] J. Cotler and K. Jensen, A theory of reparameterizations for AdS<sub>3</sub> gravity, JHEP **02** (2019) 079 [arXiv:1808.03263] [INSPIRE].
- [36] J. Lin, Entanglement entropy in Jackiw-Teitelboim Gravity, arXiv: 1807.06575 [INSPIRE].
- [37] A. Blommaert, T.G. Mertens and H. Verschelde, *Fine Structure of Jackiw-Teitelboim Quantum Gravity*, *JHEP* 09 (2019) 066 [arXiv:1812.00918] [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Blommaert, T.G. Mertens and H. Verschelde, Clocks and Rods in Jackiw-Teitelboim Quantum Gravity, JHEP 09 (2019) 060 [arXiv:1902.11194] [INSPIRE].
- [39] T.G. Mertens, Towards Black Hole Evaporation in Jackiw-Teitelboim Gravity, JHEP 07 (2019) 097 [arXiv:1903.10485] [INSPIRE].
- [40] E. Witten, Three-Dimensional Gravity Revisited, arXiv:0706.3359 [INSPIRE].
- [41] P. Schaller and T. Strobl, Diffeomorphisms versus nonAbelian gauge transformations: An example of (1+1)-dimensional gravity, Phys. Lett. B 337 (1994) 266 [hep-th/9401110]
   [INSPIRE].
- [42] D. Bagrets, A. Altland and A. Kamenev, Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model as Liouville quantum mechanics, Nucl. Phys. B 911 (2016) 191 [arXiv:1607.00694] [INSPIRE].
- [43] V.V. Belokurov and E.T. Shavgulidze, Correlation functions in the Schwarzian theory, JHEP 11 (2018) 036 [arXiv:1804.00424] [INSPIRE].
- [44] T.G. Mertens and G.J. Turiaci, Defects in Jackiw-Teitelboim Quantum Gravity, JHEP 08 (2019) 127 [arXiv:1904.05228] [INSPIRE].
- [45] T.G. Mertens, G.J. Turiaci and H.L. Verlinde, Solving the Schwarzian via the Conformal Bootstrap, JHEP 08 (2017) 136 [arXiv:1705.08408] [INSPIRE].
- [46] C.G. Callan Jr., S.B. Giddings, J.A. Harvey and A. Strominger, Evanescent black holes, Phys. Rev. D 45 (1992) R1005 [hep-th/9111056] [INSPIRE].
- [47] R.M. Wald, *General Relativity*, University of Chicago Press, (1984).
- [48] M. Blau and G. Thompson, Quantum Yang-Mills theory on arbitrary surfaces, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 7 (1992) 3781 [INSPIRE].

- [49] E. Witten, On quantum gauge theories in two-dimensions, Commun. Math. Phys. 141 (1991) 153 [INSPIRE].
- [50] S. Cordes, G.W. Moore and S. Ramgoolam, Lectures on 2-D Yang-Mills theory, equivariant cohomology and topological field theories, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 41 (1995) 184
   [hep-th/9411210] [INSPIRE].
- [51] G.W. Moore and N. Seiberg, Taming the Conformal Zoo, Phys. Lett. B 220 (1989) 422 [INSPIRE].
- [52] C.P. Constantinidis, O. Piguet and A. Perez, Quantization of the Jackiw-Teitelboim model, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 084007 [arXiv:0812.0577] [INSPIRE].
- [53] A.A. Tseytlin, On gauge theories for nonsemisimple groups, Nucl. Phys. B 450 (1995) 231 [hep-th/9505129] [INSPIRE].
- [54] A.A. Migdal, Gauge Transitions in Gauge and Spin Lattice Systems, Sov. Phys. JETP 42 (1975) 743 [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz 69 (1975) 1457] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A.A. Migdal, Loop Equations and 1/N Expansion, Phys. Rept. 102 (1983) 199 [INSPIRE].
- [56] D.S. Fine, Quantum Yang-Mills on a Riemann surface, Commun. Math. Phys. 140 (1991) 321 [INSPIRE].
- [57] E. Witten, Two-dimensional gauge theories revisited, J. Geom. Phys. 9 (1992) 303
   [hep-th/9204083] [INSPIRE].
- [58] O. Ganor, J. Sonnenschein and S. Yankielowicz, The string theory approach to generalized 2-D Yang-Mills theory, Nucl. Phys. B 434 (1995) 139 [hep-th/9407114] [INSPIRE].
- [59] L.V. Iliesiu, On 2D gauge theories in Jackiw-Teitelboim gravity, arXiv:1909.05253
   [INSPIRE].
- [60] R. Dijkgraaf and E. Witten, Developments in Topological Gravity, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 33 (2018) 1830029 [arXiv:1804.03275] [INSPIRE].
- [61] D. Stanford and E. Witten, JT Gravity and the Ensembles of Random Matrix Theory, arXiv:1907.03363 [INSPIRE].
- [62] A. Kitaev, Notes on  $\widetilde{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  representations, arXiv:1711.08169 [INSPIRE].
- [63] D. Gaiotto, A. Kapustin, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, Generalized Global Symmetries, JHEP 02 (2015) 172 [arXiv:1412.5148] [INSPIRE].
- [64] D. Gaiotto, A. Kapustin, Z. Komargodski and N. Seiberg, Theta, Time Reversal and Temperature, JHEP 05 (2017) 091 [arXiv:1703.00501] [INSPIRE].
- [65] G.M. Tuynman and W.A. J.J. Wiegerinck, Central Extensions and Physics, J. Geom. Phys. 4 (1987) 207 [INSPIRE].
- [66] E. Witten, Analytic Continuation Of Chern-Simons Theory, AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math. 50 (2011) 347 [arXiv:1001.2933] [INSPIRE].
- [67] A. Blommaert, T.G. Mertens and H. Verschelde, Edge dynamics from the path integral Maxwell and Yang-Mills, JHEP 11 (2018) 080 [arXiv:1804.07585] [INSPIRE].
- [68] E. Witten, Topology Changing Amplitudes in (2+1)-Dimensional Gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 323 (1989) 113 [INSPIRE].
- [69] S. Carlip, Exact Quantum Scattering in (2+1)-Dimensional Gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 324 (1989) 106 [INSPIRE].

- [70] C. Vaz and L. Witten, Wilson loops and black holes in (2+1)-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 327 (1994) 29 [gr-qc/9401017] [INSPIRE].
- [71] P. de Sousa Gerbert, On spin and (quantum) gravity in (2+1)-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 346 (1990) 440 [INSPIRE].
- [72] B.S. Skagerstam and A. Stern, Topological Quantum Mechanics in (2+1)-dimensions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 5 (1990) 1575 [INSPIRE].
- [73] M. Ammon, A. Castro and N. Iqbal, Wilson Lines and Entanglement Entropy in Higher Spin Gravity, JHEP 10 (2013) 110 [arXiv:1306.4338] [INSPIRE].
- [74] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, D. Li and J. Wang, Exact Virasoro Blocks from Wilson Lines and Background-Independent Operators, JHEP 07 (2017) 092 [arXiv:1612.06385] [INSPIRE].
- [75] W. Groenevelt, The Wilson function transform, Int. Math. Res. Not. 2003 (2003) 2779 math/0306424.
- [76] W. Groenevelt, Wilson function transforms related to Racah coefficients, Acta Appl. Math. 91 (2006) 133.
- [77] M. Aganagic, H. Ooguri, N. Saulina and C. Vafa, Black holes, q-deformed 2d Yang-Mills and non-perturbative topological strings, Nucl. Phys. B 715 (2005) 304 [hep-th/0411280]
   [INSPIRE].
- [78] M. Berkooz, M. Isachenkov, V. Narovlansky and G. Torrents, *Towards a full solution of the large N double-scaled SYK model*, *JHEP* 03 (2019) 079 [arXiv:1811.02584] [INSPIRE].
- [79] L. Iliesiu, S. Pufu and Y. Wang, work in progress.
- [80] J. Maldacena, G.J. Turiaci and Z. Yang, *Two dimensional Nearly de Sitter gravity*, arXiv:1904.01911 [INSPIRE].
- [81] H.W. Lin, J. Maldacena and Y. Zhao, Symmetries Near the Horizon, JHEP 08 (2019) 049 [arXiv:1904.12820] [INSPIRE].
- [82] A. Comtet and P.J. Houston, Effective Action on the Hyperbolic Plane in a Constant External Field, J. Math. Phys. 26 (1985) 185 [INSPIRE].
- [83] A. Comtet, On the Landau Levels on the Hyperbolic Plane, Annals Phys. **173** (1987) 185 [INSPIRE].
- [84] L. Iliesiu, S. Pufu, H. Verlinde and Y. Wang, work in progress.
- [85] O. Matsushita, The Plancherel Formula for the Universal Covering Group of SL(2, ℝ), Sci. Papers Coll. Gen. Ed. Univ. Tokyo 29 (1979) 105.
- [86] J. Repka, Tensor Products of Unitary Representations of SL(2, ℝ), Am. J. Math. 100 (1976)
   930.
- [87] J. Repka, Tensor Products of Unitary Representations of SL(2, ℝ), Am. J. MAth. 100 (1978) 747.
- [88] E. Witten, Quantum Field Theory and the Jones Polynomial, Commun. Math. Phys. 121 (1989) 351 [INSPIRE].
- [89] C. Beasley, Localization for Wilson Loops in Chern-Simons Theory, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 17 (2013) 1 [arXiv:0911.2687] [INSPIRE].